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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Amendment No. 1 to
FORM S-1
REGISTRATION STATEMENT

UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Delaware 2834 77-0683487
(State or other jurisdiction of (Primary Standard Industrial (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Classification Code Number) Identification No.)
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Los Angeles, California 90024
(424) 248-6500
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Alan H. Auerbach
President and Chief Executive Officer
Puma Biotechnology, Inc.
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Los Angeles, California 90024
(424) 248-6500

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephoneimber, including area code, of agent for service)

Copies to:
B. Shayne Kennedy, Esq.
Latham & Watkins LLP
650 Town Center Drive, 20" Floor
Costa Mesa, CA 92626
(714) 540-1235

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale the public: Promptly after the effective date of this RegistmatStatement.

If any of the securities being registered on thisnfrare to be offered on a delayed or continuossstursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities
Act of 1933, check the following box.

If this form is filed to register additional sedigs for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) unither Securities Act, check the following box and
list the Securities Act registration statement nandf the earlier effective registration statenfenthe same offering. O

If this form is a post-effective amendment filedsuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Actckhibe following box and list the Securities
Act registration statement number of the earliéative registration statement for the same offgrin O

If this form is a post-effective amendment filedsuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Actckhibe following box and list the Securities
Act registration statement number of the earliéeative registration statement for the same offgrin

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, aaccelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See definitions of “large accelerated filaccelerated filer,” and “smaller reporting cpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act:

Large accelerated file [ Accelerated filel O

Non-accelerated file O (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar

The registrant hereby amends this registration stament on such date or dates as may be necessarygléday its effective date until the
registrant shall file a further amendment which speifically states that this registration statement kall thereafter become effective in



accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Aof 1933 or until this registration statement shalbecome effective on such date as tl
Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), ay determine.
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The information in this prospectus is not complet@and may be changed. We may not sell these securitientil the registration statement filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission is efféve. This prospectus is not an offer to sell thessecurities and is not soliciting an offer to
buy these securities in any state where the offer sale is not permitted.

PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS
SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED FEBRUARY 1, 2012

Puma Biotechnology, Inc.

16,000,000 Shares
Common Stock

This prospectus relates to the offering and respline selling stockholders identified herein oftad 6,000,000 shares of common stock, par
value $0.0001 per share. These shares were pyivaseled to the selling stockholders in connectiith a merger transaction and a private placement.
We will not receive any proceeds from the saléhese shares by the selling stockholders. The gedtimckholders may sell the shares as set forth
herein under “Plan of Distribution.”

There is not currently, and there has never begnpaarket for any of our securities. Our securities not eligible for trading on any national
securities exchange, NASDAQ or any over-the-coumt@rkets, including the OTC Bulletin Board. Theiagl stockholders may sell all or a portion of
their shares through public or private transact@tngrevailing market prices or at privately negted prices.

The securities offered by this prospectus involve high degree of risk.
See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 6.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission na@ny state securities commission has approved or digproved these securities or
determined if this prospectus is truthful or complée. Any representation to the contrary is a crimind offense.

The date of this prospectus is ,2012.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

The following summary highlights selected informattontained elsewhere in this prospectus. Thisxsanmpis not complete and does not
contain all the information that should be consitébefore investing in our common stock. Beforeimgadn investment decision, investors
should carefully read the entire prospectus, payadicular attention to the risks referred to umdke headings “Risk Factors” and
“Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Lookingt8taents” and our financial statements and the ntdebose financial statements. As usef
in this prospectus, unless the context requiresrmtlse, the terms “Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” lefer to Puma Biotechnology, Inc., a
Delaware corporation formed on April 27, 2007 andiierly known as Innovative Acquisitions Corp., #&melterm“Puma” refers to Puma
Biotechnology, Inc., a private Delaware corporatimmmed on September 15, 2010, prior to the mettgatrresulted in it becoming our whc-
owned subsidiary.

Overview

We are a development stage biopharmaceutical coyrthahacquires and develops innovative producatshie treatment of various forms
cancer. We focus on in-licensing drug candidatasdhe undergoing or have already completed irgtinical testing for the treatment of cancer
and then seek to further develop those drug catetidar commercial use.

We currently license the rights to three drug cdatdis:

» PB272 (neratinib (oral)), which we are developingthe treatment of advanced breast cancer patigastric cancer patients a
melanoma patient:

* PB272 (neratinib (intravenous)), which we are depilg for the treatment of advanced cancer patiemis
e PB357, which we believe can serve as a backup contptw PB272, and which we plan to evaluate fathferrdevelopment in 201

We are initially focused on developing neratinib tioe treatment of patients with HER2 positive m&tic breast cancer. Studies show that
approximately 20% to 25% of breast cancer tumove Iz over-expression of the human epidermal gréadtor receptor type 2, or HER2,
protein. Women with breast cancer that osepresses HER2, referred to as HER2 positive bosaster, are at greater risk for disease progne
and death than women whose tumors do not over-sxpiER2. Therapeutic strategies, such as the ube aiti-cancer drug trastuzumab, given
in combination with chemotherapy, have been deeldp improve the treatment of this cancer by blngkER?2. Based on pre-clinical and
clinical studies to date, we believe that neratméy offer an advantage over existing treatmentsibse potently inhibiting HER2 at a different
site and using a different mechanism than trastatum

We have licensed the exclusive worldwide rightedo current drug candidates from Pfizer Inc., whield previously been responsible for
the clinical trials regarding neratinib. We exptcmodify Pfizer’s clinical development strategydaduring the next 12 to 18 months plan to:

« commence Phase Il clinical trials evaluating the afsneratinib in combination with chemotherapy atfier an-cancer drugs, as
second or third line treatment for HER2 positivetaiséatic breast cance

« continue the ongoing studies with neratinib for tle@adjuvant treatment of HER2 positive breastea!

< initiate Phase Il clinical trials to evaluate theewof neratinib for the treatment of HER2 positijesstric cancer and HER4 mutated
melanoma; an

« continue to evaluate the application of neratinithie treatment of other forms of HER positive @aavhere there may be unmet
medical need:
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Strategy
Our strategy is to become a leading oncology-fogdisepharmaceutical company. The key elements péwategy are as follows:

Advance PB272 (neratinib), our lead drug candidédeyard regulatory approval and commercializatiWe are primarily focused ¢
developing neratinib for the treatment of patiemith HER2 positive metastatic breast cancer. Wa pdamodify the previous clinical
development strategy employed by Pfizer, by foaysiar planned Phase Il and Phase I clinicaldr@i the use of neratinib as a
second or third line metastatic treatment optiomictv we believe may be underserved by currentrireat alternatives and where
clinical trials have shown substantial levels diaty.

Expand our product pipeline by pursuing additioapplications of neratinitWe believe there are additional applications famtieib
in HER2 positive gastric cancer, which we alsoéadimay be underserved by current treatment atteesaand HER4 mutated
melanoma, and we intend to further evaluate thetgaind efficacy of neratinib for treating thesaaars.

Focus on developing innovative cancer theragWe focus on oncology drug candidates in order piwa efficiencies and
economies of scale. We believe that drug developfioercancer markets is particularly attractive doese relatively small clinical
trials can provide meaningful information regardpagient response and safety. Furthermore, weugelleat our capabilities are well
suited to the oncology market and represent distiompetitive advantage

Build a sustainable pipeline by employing multigierapeutic approaches and disciplined decisiotecia based on clearly define
proof of principal goalsWe seek to build a sustainable product pipelineroploying multiple therapeutic approaches and by
acquiring drug candidates belonging to known diagses. In addition, we employ disciplined decigidteria to assess drug
candidates, favoring drug candidates that havergode at least some clinical study. Our decisiolicense a drug candidate will al
depend on the scientific merits of the technoldbg;costs of the transaction and other econonmiegef the proposed license; the
amount of capital required to develop the technglegd the economic potential of the drug candidstteuld it be commercialized.
We believe this strategy minimizes our clinical diepment risk and allows us to accelerate the dgveént and potential
commercialization of current and future drug caatid. We intend to pursue regulatory approval fmagority of our drug candidates
in multiple indications

Evaluate the commercialization strategies on a pai-by-product basis in order to maximize the valueadh productAs we move
our drug candidates through development towardliasgy approval, we will evaluate several optioosdach drug candidate’s
commercialization strategy. These options includiédbng our own internal sales force; entering iatint marketing partnership
with another pharmaceutical company or biotechnptmgmpany, whereby we jointly sell and market thedpict; and out-licensing
our product, whereby another pharmaceutical compatyjotechnology company sells and markets oudgeband pays us a royalty
on sales. Our decision will be made separatelg&mh product and will be based on a number of fadgteluding capital necessary to
execute on each option, size of the market thadsye®ebe addressed and terms of potential offera fither pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies. It is too early for ugmow which of these options we will pursue for doug candidates, assuming their
successful developmet

Product Development Pipeline
PB272 (neratinib (oral—Breast Cancer

Neratinib is a potent irreversible tyrosine kinagebitor, or TKI, that blocks signal transductitough the epidermal growth factor
receptors, or EGFRs, HER1, HER2 and HER4. We belimratinib has clinical application in the treattnef several cancers, including breast
cancer, gastric cancer and melanoma. Our init@i$as on the development of neratinib as an ceatinent for patients with HER2 positive
metastatic breast cancer.
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Based on pi-clinical and clinical studies to date, we beliekattneratinib may offer an advantage over exidtiegtments that are used
the treatment of patients with HER2 positive mettistreast cancer that have failed first-line aipgy including treatment with the anti-cancer
drug trastuzumab. Currently, the treatment of ntatesbreast cancer that has failed first line élpgrwith trastuzumab involves continuing
treatment with trastuzumab and chemotherapy. Weveethat by more potently inhibiting HER2 at afeliént site and using a different
mechanism than trastuzumab, neratinib may havenpak@dvantages over these existing treatmentst maiably due to its increased selectivity
and stronger inhibition of the HER2 target enzyme.

PB272 (neratinib (intravenous

We also plan to develop neratinib as an intravelyadministered agent. In painical studies, the intravenous version of neihtresultec
in higher exposure levels of neratinib in pre-dalimodels. We believe that this may result in Bighlood levels of neratinib in patients, which
may translate into better efficacy. We plan to file investigational new drug application, or INB, the intravenous formulation of neratinib in
2012.

PB357

PB357 is an orally administered agent that is eevarsible TKI that blocks signal transduction thgh the epidermal growth factor
receptors, HER1, HER2 and HER4. PB357 is strudjusathilar to PB272. Pfizer had completed singlsel®hase | trials of PB357. We are
evaluating PB357 and considering options relativigstdevelopment in 2012.

Risks Affecting Us

Our business is subject to numerous risks, as fatyedescribed in the section of this prospectnstied “Risk Factors,” including the
following:

* We currently have no product revenues and no ptsdproved for marketing, and will need to raidditonal capital to operate o
business

« We have a limited operating history and are nofifadgle and may never become profitat

* We are heavily dependent on the success of ndygtinal), our lead drug candidate, which is stiller clinical development, and \
cannot be certain that neratinib (oral) will reeeregulatory approval or be successfully commereéleven if we receive regulatory
approval.

e Clinical trials are very expensive, ti-consuming and difficult to design and impleme
e The results of our clinical trials may not suppaut drug candidate claim

* We depend significantly on intellectual propergelised from Pfizer and the termination of thisisewould significantly harm our
business and future prospet

e Our ability to commercialize our potential produeidl depend on our ability to sell such productishwut infringing the patent or
proprietary rights of third parties. If we are sdedinfringing intellectual property rights of il parties, it will be costly and time
consuming, and an unfavorable outcome in thasdlitign would have a material adverse effect on osiness

e There is currently no market for our common stoc#t there can be no assurance that any marketweitlgevelop. You may therefc
be unable to I-sell shares of our common stock at times and ptitasyou believe are appropria

3
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Corporate History

We were incorporated on April 27, 2007 in Delawaneer the name “Innovative Acquisitions Corp.” Uictober 4, 2011, we were a
“shell” company with nhominal assets and no openreio

On September 29, 2011, we entered into an AgreeamehPlan of Merger, or the Merger Agreement, Wit Merger Corporation, a
Delaware corporation and our wholly-owned subsidiar Merger Sub, and Puma.

On October 4, 2011, Merger Sub merged with andfuima, and Puma, as the surviving entity, becamebally-owned subsidiary. In
this prospectus, we refer to the merger betweergdte8ub and Puma as the “Merger.”

Immediately prior to the consummation of the Merd&arma completed a private placement pursuanSecarities Purchase Agreement
dated October 4, 2011, or the Securities Purchgseeinent, with certain institutional and accreditegstors. In this prospectus, we refer to thi
private placement as the “Initial Financin@.Ursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, Baldd 4,666,733 shares of its common stock
price per share of $3.75 for aggregate gross pdsceeapproximately $55 million. Puma also issuetbarant to each investor that provided suc
investor with antidilution protection in regard to certain issuaneésecurities. Following the Initial Financing, Parhad 18,666,733 shares of
common stock issued and outstanding.

At the effective time of the Merger, each shar@woima’s common stock outstanding prior to the effedime was cancelled and
automatically converted into the right to receiveeshare of our common stock as consideratiorhioMerger. Simultaneously, we issued to
Puma’s former stockholders an aggregate of 18,836Fares of our common stock. In connection wighMerger, we also assumed all of
Puma’s outstanding warrants as well as an unsecamcertible promissory note for $150,000 held by Muerbach, which he subsequently
converted, in accordance with its terms, to 40 Sltfres of our common stock.

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse acquisitith Puma as the accounting acquirer and usealegal acquirer. Upon completior
the Merger, all of our directors and officers priotthe Merger resigned and the directors and @fiof Puma became our directors and officers
The business plan of Puma also became our bugifeess

Following the closing of the Merger, pursuant te tarms of a Redemption Agreement dated Octok2®H4l, or the Redemption
Agreement, between us and our stockholders imnedgliptior to the Merger, we completed the repurehafsall of our common stock issued and
outstanding immediately prior to the Merger. Upompletion of the Merger and the redemption, thenfar stockholders of Puma held 100% of
the outstanding shares of our common stock.

As a final step in the reverse merger processboard of directors approved a short-form mergesgamt to which Puma merged with and
into us, leaving us as the surviving corporationcénnection with the short-form merger, we chang@dcorporate name from “Innovative
Acquisitions Corp.” to “Puma Biotechnology, Inc.h& short-form merger became effective on Octob204].

On November 18, 2011, we entered into subscrigneements with 139 accredited investors, includingmas R. Malley, one of our
directors, pursuant to which we sold in a privdeeement an aggregate of 1,333,267 shares of eumom stock at a price per share of $3.75. I
this prospectus, we refer to this private placenasrthe “Subsequent Financing.” We received agtgegass proceeds of approximately $5.0
million from the Subsequent Financing. The issuafdbde shares in the Subsequent Financing was gbdeam registration under Section 4(2]
the Securities Act, and Rule 506 of Regulation Brmulgated thereunder, inasmuch as the shares sgred to accredited investors without any
form of general solicitation or general advertising

=)
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Corporate Information
Our principal executive offices are located at 1M8&ilshire Boulevard, Suite 2150, Los Angeles, foatiia 90024. Our telephone number
is (424) 248-6500. Our website is www.pumabiotedbgy.com. Information contained on our websiteds incorporated by reference into, and
should not be considered a part of, this prospectus
THE OFFERING

The following is a summary of the shares beingrefieby the selling stockholders:

Common stock offered by selling stockhold 16,000,000 share
Common stock outstanding prior to the Offeri 20,040,000 shares (
Use of Proceeds We will not receive any proceeds from the saléhefghares of common stock

offered by the selling stockholde

Offering Price The selling stockholders may sell all or a portidnheir shares through public or
private transactions at prevailing market priceatqrivately negotiated price

Market for our shares There is not now and never has been any marketfosecurities and an active
market may never develo

(1) Based upon the total number of issued andandgtg shares as of December 31, 2011 and excBj829,412 shares of common stock
available for issuance pursuant to our 2011 Ingendiward Plan
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RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degferisk. In addition to the other information $etth in this prospectus, you should carefi
consider the factors discussed below when consigen investment in our common stock. If any ogtrents contemplated by the following discus
of risks should occur, our business, results ofatiens and financial condition could suffer sigoéntly. As a result, you could lose some or all of
your investment in our common stock. Additionadgiand uncertainties not presently known to usat we currently deem immaterial may a
impair our business.

Risks Related to our Business
We currently have no product revenues and no protduapproved for marketing, and will need to raiséditional capital to operate our business.

To date, we have generated no product revenues, &rd unless, we receive approval from the U@&d-and Drug Administration, or FDA,
and other regulatory authorities overseas for armaare of our drug candidates, we cannot marksetrour products and will not have product
revenues. Currently, our only drug candidates aratmib (oral), neratinib (intravenous) and PB3&7¢ none of these products is approved by the
FDA for sale in the United States or by other raguiy authorities for sale outside the United Stalkéoreover, each of these drug candidates isein th
early stages of development and will require sigaiit time and capital before we can even applafiproval from the FDA. Therefore, for the
foreseeable future we do not expect to achievepanguct revenues and will have to fund all of opei@tions and capital expenditures from cash on
hand, licensing fees and grants, and potentiallyré offerings of our securities. Currently, wdidaee that our cash on hand is sufficient to fund o
operations for the next 12 months. However, changggoccur that would consume our available capiébre that time, including changes in and
progress of our development activities, acquisgiohadditional drug candidates and changes inladgn. We will need to seek additional sources of
financing, which may not be available on favoraklens, if at all. If we do not succeed in timelysiag additional funds on acceptable terms, we may
be unable to complete planned piical and clinical trials or obtain approval afly drug candidates from the FDA and other regofedathorities. It
addition, we could be forced to discontinue prodietelopment and forego attractive business oppivita. Any additional sources of financing will
likely involve the issuance of additional equitesaties, which will have a dilutive effect on ostockholders.

We have a limited operating history and are not fitable and may never become profitable.

We were formed in April 2007 and were a “shell” quany with no specific business plan or purposd waiacquired Puma on October 4, 2011.
Puma was a development stage company formed iei@bpt 2010 and, prior to entering into the licesigeeement with Pfizer in August 2011,
Puma’s operations were limited to identifying compds for in-licensing. As a result, we have a histif operating losses and no meaningful
operations upon which to evaluate our businesseXpect to incur substantial losses and negativeatipg cash flow for the foreseeable future as we
commence development of our drug candidates, whiedo not expect will be commercially available gonumber of years, if at all. Even if we
succeed in developing and commercializing one arerdoug candidates, we expect to incur substaosaks for the foreseeable future and may never
become profitable. The successful development antheercialization of any drug candidates will requiis to perform a variety of functions,
including:

» undertaking pr-clinical development and clinical trial

» hiring additional personne

* participating in the regulatory approval proces:

« formulating and manufacturing produc

* initiating and conducting sales and marketing éitis; and
» implementing additional internal systems and irtfiagture.

We will likely need to raise additional capitalonder to fund our business and generate signifi@rgnue in order to achieve and maintain
profitability. We may not be able to generate tieigenue, raise additional capital

6
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or achieve profitability in the future. Our failute achieve or maintain profitability could negatiy impact the value of our common stock.

We are heavily dependent on the success of nerat{oral), our lead drug candidate, which is stillhder clinical development, and we cannot be
certain that neratinib (oral) will receive regulaty approval or be successfully commercialized efeme receive regulatory approval.

We currently have no products that are approveddarmercial sale and may never be able to devebmietable drug products. We expect that
a substantial portion of our efforts and expendsuvver the next few years will be devoted to eadldrug candidate, neratinib (oral). Accordingiy
business currently depends heavily on the sucdadsfelopment, regulatory approval and commeraditin of neratinib (oral). We cannot be certain
that neratinib (oral) will receive regulatory appabor be successfully commercialized even if weeiee regulatory approval. The research, testing,
manufacturing, labeling, approval, sale, marke#ind distribution of drug products are, and will e8m subject to extensive regulation by the FDA
other regulatory authorities in the United Stated ather countries, which regulations differ froountry to country. We are not permitted to market
neratinib (oral) in the United States until it rees approval of a New Drug Application, or NDA#fn the FDA, or in any foreign countries until it
receives the requisite approval from such countidés have not submitted an NDA to the FDA or corapée applications to other regulatory
authorities and do not expect to be in a positidd so for the foreseeable future. Obtaining aygdrof an NDA is an extensive, lengthy, expensive
and inherently uncertain process, and the FDA nadayd limit or deny approval of neratinib (oraly fmany reasons, including:

* we may not be able to demonstrate that neratindd)(s safe and effective as a treatment for atgdted indications to the satisfaction of
the FDA,;

» the results of its clinical studies may not meetlttvel of statistical or clinical significance teged by the FDA for marketing approv.
» the FDA may disagree with the number, design, siaeduct or implementation of our clinical studi

» the clinical research organization, or CRO, thatetain to conduct clinical studies may take adtiontside of our control that materially
adversely impact our clinical studie

» the FDA may not find the data from pre-clinicaldis and clinical studies sufficient to demonsttht the clinical and other benefits of
neratinib (oral) outweigh its safety ris}

» the FDA may disagree with our interpretation ofedfom our pre-clinical studies and clinical stuedgg may require that we conduct
additional studies

» the FDA may not accept data generated at our elisiudy sites

» if our NDA is reviewed by an advisory committeeg fBDA may have difficulties scheduling an advisooynmittee meeting in a timely
manner or the advisory committee may recommenchagapproval of our application or may recommerad the FDA require, as a
condition of approval, additional f-clinical studies or clinical studies, limitations approved labeling or distribution and use restnis;

+ the FDA may require development of a Risk Evaluatiad Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, as a conditdmpproval;
» the FDA may identify deficiencies in the manufaatgrprocesses or facilities of our th-party manufacturers;
» the FDA may change its approval policies or ad@pt negulations

7
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If we are unable to hire additional qualified persael, our ability to grow our business may be hard

As of January 23, 2012, we have 27 employees, dimeduour President and Chief Executive Officer, 8anior Vice President, Finance and
Administration and Treasurer, and our Senior Vioesklent, Regulatory Affairs and Quality Assurar@ar future success depends on our ability to
identify, attract, hire, train, retain and motivat&er highly skilled scientific, technical, market, managerial and financial personnel. Although w
will seek to hire and retain qualified personnethnéxperience and abilities commensurate with eads, there is no assurance that we will succeed
despite their collective efforts. We currently imtieto hire up to 21 additional fulime employees devoted to research and developamein8 additione
full-time employees devoted to general and adnratise activities. Competition for personnel iseinse, and any failure to attract and retain the
necessary technical, marketing, managerial andi¢iahpersonnel would have a material adverse effeour business, prospects, financial condition
and results of operations.

We may not successfully manage our growth.

Our success will depend upon the expansion of parations and our ability to successfully managegoowth. Our future growth, if any, may
place a significant strain on our management anduoradministrative, operational and financial teses. Our ability to manage our growth
effectively will require us to implement and impeogur operational, financial and management systmgo expand, train, manage and motivate our
employees. These demands may require the hiriagdifional management personnel and the developafieaditional expertise by management.
Any increase in resources devoted to research mmathpt development without a corresponding incré@aseir operational, financial and management
systems could have a material adverse effect obwginess, financial condition and results of ofiens.

Clinical trials are very expensive, time-consumiagd difficult to design and implement.

Each of our drug candidates are still in developraew will require extensive clinical testing befave are prepared to submit an NDA for
regulatory approval. We cannot predict with anytaiety if or when we might submit an NDA for regidey approval for any of our drug candidate:
whether any such NDA will be approved by the FDAinkan clinical trials are very expensive and diffi¢a design and implement, in part because
they are subject to rigorous regulatory requiremmehe clinical trial process is also time-consugniWe estimate that clinical trials of our drug
candidates will take at least several years to ¢et@pFurthermore, failure can occur at any stdgheotrials, and we could encounter problems that
cause us to abandon or repeat clinical trials.ddmemencement and completion of clinical trials rhaydelayed by several factors, including:

» failure to obtain regulatory and approval by arejppeindent institutional review board, or IRB, to coemce a trial

» unforeseen safety issut

» determination of dosing issue

» lack of effectiveness during clinical tria

» inability to reach agreement on acceptable terntis prospective CROs and clinical trial sit

» slower than expected rates of patient recruitnr

» failure to manufacture sufficient quantities ofragl candidate for use in clinical tria

» inability to monitor patients adequately duringafter treatment; an

» inability or unwillingness of medical investigatdosfollow our clinical protocols

Further, we, the FDA or an IRB may suspend ouicdirtrials at any time if it appears that we or oallaborators are failing to conduct a trial in

accordance with regulatory requirements, that veeeaposing participants to unacceptable healtls riskif the FDA finds deficiencies in our IND
submissions or the conduct of these trials. Theegfwe cannot predict with any certainty the scheeflor commencement and completion of future
clinical trials. If we experience delays in the saencement or completion of our clinical trialsjfove terminate a clinical trial prior to completipthe

commercial prospects of our drug candidates coeltddymed, and our ability to generate revenues thendrug candidates may be delayed. In
addition, any delays in our clinical
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trials could increase our costs, slow down the aygrprocess and jeopardize our ability to commemoeduct sales and generate revenues. Any of
these occurrences may harm our business, finacmiaition and results of operations.

Enroliment and retention of patients in clinical tals is an expensive and tir-consuming process and could be made more diffi@rtrendered
impossible by multiple factors outside our control.

We may encounter delays in enrolling, or be unabkenroll, a sufficient number of patients to coatplany of our clinical trials, and even once
enrolled we may be unable to retain a sufficiemhbar of patients to complete any of our trialsidtdatenroliment and retention in clinical trials
depend on many factors, including the size of tigept population, the nature of the trial protothbé existing body of safety and efficacy datahwit
respect to the study drug, the number and natucerapeting treatments and ongoing clinical tridlsmmpeting drugs for the same indication, the
proximity of patients to clinical sites and thegddility criteria for the study. Furthermore, anggative results we may report in clinical trialsaofy of
our drug candidates may make it difficult or imgbksto recruit and retain patients in other clalistudies of that same drug candidate. Delays or
failures in planned patient enrollment and/or rétenmay result in increased costs, program detaysoth, which could have a harmful effect on our
ability to develop our drug candidates, or couldder further development impossible. In additior,expect to rely on CROs and clinical trial sites t
ensure proper and timely conduct of our futureictihtrials and, while we intend to enter into agreents governing their services, we will be limiie
our ability to compel their actual performance.

The results of our clinical trials may not suppoodur drug candidate claims.

Even if our clinical trials are completed as plathnge cannot be certain that their results willgupthe safety and effectiveness of our drug
candidates for our targeted indications. Succesgsdrtlinical testing and early clinical trials dogot ensure that later clinical trials will be sessful,
and we cannot be sure that the results of lateiceli trials will replicate the results of prioiirtical trials and pre-clinical testing. A failuré a clinical
trial to meet its predetermined endpoints woulélikcause us to abandon a drug candidate and nteay dievelopment of other drug candidates. Any
delay in, or termination of, our clinical trials lilelay the filing of our NDAs with the FDA anditimately, our ability to commercialize our drug
candidates and generate product revenues.

Physicians and patients may not accept and use dwys.

Even if the FDA approves one or more of our drugdidates, physicians and patients may not acceptis@ them. Acceptance and use of our
product will depend upon a number of factors inzigd
* perceptions by members of the health care commuinitiuding physicians, about the safety and eiffeciess of our drug
» cos-effectiveness of our products relative to compegingducts;
e availability of reimbursement for our products frgmvernment or other healthcare payors;
« effectiveness of marketing and distribution effdiysus and our licensees and distributors, if

Because we expect sales of our current drug catedidid approved, to generate substantially abwfproduct revenues for the foreseeable
future, the failure of these drugs to find marketeptance would harm our business and could regaite seek additional financing.

We rely on third parties to conduct our pre-clinitand clinical trials. If these third parties do rtesuccessfully carry out their contractual duties o
meet expected deadlines, we may not be able tarobégulatory approval for our drug candidates.

We depend upon independent investigators and colédrs, such as CROs, universities and medicalutiens, to conduct our pre-clinical and
clinical trials under agreements with us. Theséabaolrators are not our employees and we cannotaldhe amount or timing of resources that they
devote to our programs. Nevertheless, we are raggerfor ensuring that each of our clinical trisdconducted in accordance with regulatory
requirements and the applicable protocol. Thesestigators may not assign as great a priority tqooagrams or pursue them as diligently as we
would if we were undertaking such programs oursel\feoutside collaborators fail
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to devote sufficient time and resources to our dtegelopment programs, or if their performanceutsssandard or otherwise fails to satisfy applicable
regulatory requirements, the approval of our FDAl@ations, if any, and our introduction of new gsuif any, will be delayed. These collaborators
may also have relationships with other commergitities, some of whom may compete with us. If coitaborators assist our competitors to our
detriment, our competitive position would be harmédny of our relationships with these third-gacbllaborators terminate, we may not be able to
enter into arrangements with alternative thirdiparon commercially reasonable terms, or at alit&ng or adding additional third parties to our
clinical trial programs can involve substantial tsocsnd require extensive management time and focus.

We will rely exclusively on third parties to formate and manufacture our drug candidates. The comwialization of any of our drug candidates
could be stopped, delayed or made less profitatiledse third parties fail to provide us with suffient quantities of product or fail to do so at
acceptable quality levels or prices

We have no experience in drug formulation or mactuféng and do not intend to establish our own nfacturing facilities. We lack the
resources and expertise to formulate or manufactur@wn drug candidates. We currently have noegents for the clinical or commercial scale
manufacture of our drug candidates. We intend terento agreements with one or more manufactucensanufacture, supply, store and distribute
drug supplies for our clinical trials. While ourudr candidates were being developed by Pfizer, hatlirug substances and drug products were being
manufactured by third-party contractors. We intemdontinue those relationships to maintain oupsppf the drug candidates; however, we cannot
assure you that we will be able to continue thetationships on commercially reasonable termg, dlalf we are unable to continue those
relationships, we could experience delays in owelbgment efforts as we locate and qualify new rfacturers. If any of our current drug candidates
or any drug candidates we may develop or acquiteeruture receive FDA approval, we will rely oneoor more third-party contractors to
manufacture the commercial supply of our drugs. @ticipated future reliance on a limited numbethafd-party manufacturers exposes us to the
following risks:

* We may be unable to identify manufacturers on aedd@ terms or at all because the number of palemi@nufacturers is limited and t
FDA must approve any replacement contractor. This@al would require new testing and complianagpattions. In addition, a new
manufacturer would have to be educated in, or dgvelibstantially equivalent processes for, prodaatif our products after receipt of
FDA approval, if any

*  Our thirdparty manufacturers might be unable to formulat® manufacture our drugs in the volume and of thaityurequired to meet o
clinical needs and commercial needs, if ¢

e Our future contract manufacturers may not perfosragreed or may not remain in the contract manuifimet business for the time
required to supply our clinical trials or to sucsfedly produce, store and distribute our produ

» Drug manufacturers are subject to ongoing periad&nnounced inspection by the FDA, the Drug Enfor& Administration, and
corresponding state agencies to ensure strict ¢Ganga with regulations on current good manufactugractices, or cGMPs and other
government regulations and corresponding foreigndsirds. We do not have control over third-partyuf@cturerscompliance with thes
regulations and standart

» If any third-party manufacturer makes improvememthe manufacturing process for our products, veg mot own, or may have to share,
the intellectual property rights to the innovati

Each of these risks could delay our clinical trigth® approval, if any, of our drug candidateshm® EDA or the commercialization of our drug
candidates or result in higher costs or deprivefymtential product revenues.

We are subject to uncertainty relating to reimbursent policies which, if not favorable to our drugandidates, could hinder or prevent our
product’ commercial success.

Our ability to commercialize our drug candidatescassfully will depend in part on the extent to ethgovernmental authorities, private health
insurers and other third-party payors establishr@mate coverage and
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reimbursement levels for our drug candidates alada® treatments. As a threshold for coverage aimlhursement, third-party payors generally
require that drug products be approved for margdtynthe FDA. Third-party payors also are increglsirthallenging the effectiveness of and prices
charged for medical products and services. We noap@ able to obtain third-party coverage or reiresbment for our products in whole or in part.

We have no experience selling, marketing or distriing products and no internal capability to do so.

We currently have no sales, marketing or distritruttapabilities. We do not anticipate having trsoueces in the foreseeable future to alloca
the sales and marketing of our proposed produatsfi@ure success will depend, in part, on ourightb enter into and maintain collaborative
relationships for such capabilities, the collaboratstrategic interest in the products under dgwelent and such collaborator’s ability to succdbsfu
market and sell any such products. We intend teymicollaborative arrangements regarding the salererketing of our products if and when they
are approved; however, we cannot assure you thatilviee able to establish or maintain such colla@bive arrangements, or if able to do so, that they
will have effective sales forces. To the extent tha decide not to, or are unable to, enter intaborative arrangements with respect to the sabels
marketing of our proposed products, significantitsdyexpenditures, management resources and tithéeviequired to establish and develop an in-
house marketing and sales force with technical eigee We also cannot assure you that we will He ahestablish or maintain relationships with
third-party collaborators or develop in-house saled distribution capabilities. To the extent thatdepend on third parties for marketing and
distribution, any revenues we receive will depepdruthe efforts of such third parties, and therelmano assurance that such efforts will be
successful. In addition, there can also be no asserthat we will be able to market and sell oodpcts in the United States or overseas.

Health care reform measures may hinder or prevenir @rug candidate’ commercial success.

The United States and some foreign jurisdictiomscansidering or have enacted a number of legislaind regulatory proposals to change the
healthcare system in ways that could affect ouitgld sell our products profitably. Among policgakers and payors in the United States and
elsewhere, there is significant interest in promgpithanges in healthcare systems with the statald gbcontaining healthcare costs, improving du
and/or expanding access. In the United Stategthhemaceutical industry has been a particular foftisese efforts and has been significantly aéfe
by major legislative initiatives.

In March 2010, the Patient Protection and AfforéaBhre Act, as amended by the Health Care and Edadsffordability Reconciliation Act, ¢
collectively, PPACA, became law in the United SsafePACA substantially changes the way healthaafieanced by both governmental and private
insurers and significantly affects the pharmacaliiedustry. Among the provisions of PPACA of gesdtimportance to the pharmaceutical industry
are the following:

« an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity thatufeantures or imports certain branded prescriptiwgs and biologic agents, apportior
among these entities according to their marketestmacertain government healthcare programs, begirin 2011;

* anincrease in the rebates a manufacturer musiqdsr the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, retroat¢tivianuary 1, 2010, to 23.1% &
13% of the average manufacturer price for branaedgeneric drugs, respective

* anew Medicare Part D coverage gap discount programhich manufacturers must agree to offer 50%tpof-sale discounts off
negotiated prices of applicable brand drugs tdldégbeneficiaries during their coverage gap perasda condition for the manufacturer's
outpatient drugs to be covered under Medicare Pdreginning in 2011

» extension of manufacturers’ Medicaid rebate ligpild covered drugs dispensed to individuals wheoearolled in Medicaid managed care
organizations, effective March 23, 20:

« expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicaid progms by, among other things, allowing states terdffedicaid coverage to additional
individuals beginning in April 2010 and by addingmmandaton
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eligibility categories for certain individuals withcome at or below 133% of the Federal Povertyel&eginning in 2014, thereby
potentially increasing manufactur’ Medicaid rebate liability

« expansion of the entities eligible for discountslemthe Public Health Service pharmaceutical pgigrogram, effective in January 20:

* new requirements to report certain financial aresmgnts with physicians, including reporting anwatisfer of valuetnade or distributed -
prescribers and other healthcare providers, effedtiarch 30, 2013, and reporting any investmerradts held by physicians and their
immediate family members during the preceding cdderyear

e anew requirement to annually report drug sampilasrhanufacturers and distributors provide to pigas, effective April 1, 201:
» alicensure framework for follc-on biologic products; an

* anew Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Indiituteersee, identify priorities in, and conduct gamative clinical effectiveness
research, along with funding for such resea

A number of states have challenged the constitalitynof certain provisions of the PPACA, and mariythese challenges are still pending final
adjudication in several jurisdictions, includingth.S. Supreme Court. Congress has also propasechier of legislative initiatives, including
possible repeal of the PPACA. At this time, it rémsaunclear whether there will be any changes niadee PPACA, whether to certain provisions or
its entirety.

We cannot assure you that the PPACA, as currenigted or as amended in the future, will not adgraffect our business and financial
results, and we cannot predict all of the ways liciv future federal or state legislative or adntiaiive changes relating to healthcare reform will
affect our business. Nevertheless, we anticipatettie PPACA, as well as other healthcare reforrasmes that may be adopted in the future, may
result in more rigorous coverage criteria and iditmhal downward pressure on the price that weikecfor any approved product, and could serio
harm our business. Any reduction in reimbursememhfMedicare or other government programs may trésal similar reduction in payments from
private payors. Thus, we expect to experiencemygipressures in connection with the sale of ndakaforal), neratinib (intravenous), PB357 and any
other products that we may develop, due to thedtteward managed healthcare, the increasing infei@f health maintenance organizations and
additional legislative proposals. There may be tioithl pressure by payors and healthcare provigeuse generic drugs that contain the active
ingredients found in neratinib (oral), neratinibt(avenous), PB357 or any other drug candidatasasteanay develop. If we fail to successfully secure
and maintain adequate coverage and reimbursemeotif@roducts or are significantly delayed in dpgo, we will have difficulty achieving market
acceptance of our products and expected revenuprafithbility which would have a material adveeféect on our business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects.

We may be subiject, directly or indirectly, to fedkeand state healthcare fraud and abuse and fal$égimms laws and regulations. Prosecutions under
such laws have increased in recent years and we tmegome subject to such litigation. If we are unalib comply, or have not fully complied, wi
such laws, we could face substantial penalti

If we obtain FDA approval for any of our drug castaties and begin commercializing those productsernited States, our operations may be,
directly or indirectly, through our customers, ®dijto various state and federal fraud and abweg iacluding, without limitation, the federal Anti
Kickback Statute and federal False Claims Act. €Ha®/s may impact, among other things, our propeséss, marketing and education programs.

The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits pers@asn knowingly and willingly soliciting, offeringreceiving or providing remuneration,
directly or indirectly, in exchange for or to indueither the referral of an individual, or the fistring or arranging for a good or service, for whic
payment may be made under a federal healthcaregmmoguch as the Medicare and Medicaid programs AhtieKickback Statute is broad and,
despite a series of narrow safe harbors, prohihétsy arrangements and practices that are lawtuiginesses outside of the healthcare industry.
Penalties for violations of the federal Anti-KicldkaStatute include criminal penalties and civil&#ons such as fines, imprisonment and possible
exclusion from Medicare, Medicaid and other fedéedlthcare programs. Many states have also adtgedsimilar to the federal Anti-Kickback
Statute, some of which apply to
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the referral of patients for healthcare items ovises reimbursed by any source, not only the Ma@i@and Medicaid programs.

The federal False Claims Act prohibits persons fkarowingly filing, or causing to be filed, a falskim, or the knowing use of false statements,
to obtain payment from the federal government.sSiile#d under the False Claims Act, known as “gun't actions, can be brought by any individua
behalf of the government, and such individuals, mamly known as “whistleblowers,” may share in anyoaints paid by the entity to the government
in fines or settlement. The frequency of filing d¢ain actions has increased significantly in regears, causing greater numbers of pharmaceutical,
medical device and other healthcare companiesue teadefend False Claims Act actions When anyeistitietermined to have violated the False
Claims Act, it may be required to pay up to thiieees the actual damages sustained by the governpiestcivil penalties for each separate false
claim. Various states have also enacted laws mddaster the federal False Claims Act.

The recently enacted PPACA, among other thingsnasthe intent requirement of the federal Anti-Kiakk Statute and criminal healthcare
fraud statutes. A person or entity no longer néedeve actual knowledge of this statute or spedaifient to violate it. In addition, the PPACA
provides that the government may assert that endlatluding items or services resulting from a ata@n of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute
constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purpostthe False Claims Act.

We are unable to predict whether we could be stibjeactions under any of these or other fraudamdse laws, or the impact of such actions. If
we are found to be in violation of any of the lasdescribed above and other applicable state anddiei@ud and abuse laws, we may be subject to
penalties, including civil and criminal penaltidgmages, fines, exclusion from government healéheambursement programs and the curtailment or
restructuring of our operations, all of which coblave a material adverse effect on our businessesudts of operations.

If we cannot compete successfully for market shagainst other drug companies, we may not achiev#isient product revenue and our busine:
will suffer.

The market for our drug candidates is charactetigethitense competition and rapid technologicaleenbes. If any of our drug candidates
receives FDA approval, it will compete with a numbéexisting and future drugs and therapies dguedo manufactured and marketed by others.
Existing or future competing products may provideager therapeutic convenience or clinical or otf@refits for a specific indication than our
products, or may offer comparable performancelawar cost. In addition, a large number of compsaiee pursuing the development of
pharmaceuticals that target the same diseasesoaddiions that we are targeting. If our produciktfacapture and maintain market share, we may not
achieve sufficient product revenue and our businéésuffer.

We will compete against fully integrated pharmaaltcompanies and smaller companies that arelmmidding with larger pharmaceutical
companies, academic institutions, government agsranid other public and private research organizatiMany of these competitors have oncology
compounds already approved or in development. diitiad, many of these competitors, either alon&gether with their collaborative partners,
operate larger research and development programsversubstantially greater financial resources tha do, as well as significantly greater
experience in:

* developing drugs

» undertaking pr-clinical testing and clinical trials

» obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals ofgg;
» formulating and manufacturing drugs; €

» launching, marketing and selling dru
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Our ability to generate product revenues will berdhished if our drugs sell for inadequate prices patients are unable to obtain adequate levels of
reimbursement.

Our ability to commercialize our drugs, alone othwgollaborators, will depend in part on the extentvhich reimbursement will be available
from:

» government and health administration authori
» private health maintenance organizations and héeatlirers; an
» other healthcare payol

Significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursetstatus of newly approved healthcare produasltHcare payors, including Medicare, are
challenging the prices charged for medical prodaot$ services. Government and other healthcarerpayreasingly attempt to contain healthcare
costs by limiting both coverage and the level ahlairsement for drugs. Even if one of our drug édaes is approved by the FDA, insurance
coverage may not be available, and reimbursemeelsienay be inadequate, to cover such drug. If gowent and other healthcare payors do not
provide adequate coverage and reimbursement [&retsie of our products, once approved, market@teoee of such product could be reduced.

We may be exposed to liability claims associatetthwie use of hazardous materials and chemicals.

Our research and development activities may invtiieecontrolled use of hazardous materials and asn Although we believe that our saf
procedures for using, storing, handling and disppsif these materials comply with federal, stat@ lacal laws and regulations, we cannot completely
eliminate the risk of accidental injury or contaation from these materials. In the event of sucharident, we could be held liable for any resgltin
damages and any liability could materially adversdfect our business, financial condition and fessof operations. In addition, the federal, state
local laws and regulations governing the use, magtufe, storage, handling and disposal of hazardotedioactive materials and waste products may
require us to incur substantial compliance cosis ¢buld materially adversely affect our businéssincial condition and results of operations.

The loss of one or more key members of our manageinteam could adversely affect our business.

Our success and future growth depends to a signifidegree on the skills and continued servicegiofmanagement team, in particular Alan H.
Auerbach, our President and Chief Executive Offitfevir. Auerbach resigns or becomes unable toinostin his present role and is not adequately
replaced, our business operations could be mdieadlersely affected. We do not maintain “key méf@’ insurance for Mr. Auerbach.

We may be adversely affected by the current ecomognivironment.

Our ability to attract and retain collaboratorscastomers, invest in and grow our business and madtnancial obligations depends on our
operating and financial performance, which, in tusrsubject to numerous factors, including thevaileng economic conditions and financial, business
and other factors beyond our control, such asdteaf unemployment, the number of uninsured pergothe United States and inflationary presst
We cannot anticipate all the ways in which the entrreconomic climate and financial market cond&icould adversely impact our business.

We are exposed to risks associated with reducdiahitity and the potential financial instabilif our collaborators or customers, many of
which may be adversely affected by volatile cowdisi in the financial markets. For example, unempleyt and underemployment, and the resultant
loss of insurance, may decrease the demand fathibeed services and pharmaceuticals. If fewer pegtiare seeking medical care because they do not
have insurance coverage, our collaboration partrecsistomers may experience reductions in revenuestability and/or cash flow that could lead
them to modify, delay or cancel orders for our pridd once commercialized. If collaboration partr@rsustomers are not successful in generating
sufficient revenue or are precluded from securingrfcing, they may not be able to pay, or may dplyment of, accounts receivable that are owed to
us. This, in turn, could adversely affect our fio@hcondition and liquidity. In addition, if ecomic challenges in the
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United States result in widespread and prolongediyoioyment, either regionally or on a national agiior to the effectiveness of certain provisions
of the PPACA, a substantial number of people maypiye uninsured or underinsured. To the extent enanohallenges result in fewer individuals
pursuing or being able to afford our products cca@mercialized, our business, results of operatifimancial condition and cash flows could be
adversely affected.

We may incur substantial liabilities and may be régced to limit commercialization of our products iresponse to product liability lawsuits.

The testing and marketing of medical products éatainherent risk of product liability. If we capinsuccessfully defend ourselves against
product liability claims, we may incur substantiabilities or be required to limit commercializati of our products. Our inability to obtain suféot
product liability insurance at an acceptable cogirbtect against potential product liability claimould prevent or inhibit the commercialization of
pharmaceutical products we develop, alone or witlaborators.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

We depend significantly on intellectual propertgéinsed from Pfizer and the termination of this liege would significantly harm our business and
future prospects

We depend significantly on our license agreemetit ®fizer. Our license agreement with Pfizer maydiminated by Pfizer if we materially
breach the agreement and fail to cure our breaghglan applicable cure period. Our failure to asmmercially reasonable efforts to develop and
commercialize neratinib (oral), neratinib (intraves) and PB357 in the United States and certaier gipecified countries or to perform our other
diligence obligations under the license agreementldvconstitute a material breach of the license@ment. Pfizer may also terminate the license
agreement if we become involved in bankruptcy, ikegship, insolvency or similar proceedings. In &vent our license agreement with Pfizer is
terminated, we will lose all of our rights to demeland commercialize the drug candidates coverelibly license, which would significantly harm our
business and future prospects.

Our proprietary rights may not adequately proteairdntellectual property and potential products, drif we cannot obtain adequate protection of
our intellectual property and potential productsewnay not be able to successfully market our pogrroducts.

Our commercial success will depend in part on oltgiand maintaining intellectual property protentfor our products, formulations,
processes, methods and other technologies. Wenljlibe able to protect these technologies andymtsdrom unauthorized use by third parties to the
extent that valid and enforceable intellectual proyrights, including patents, cover them, or otimarket exclusionary rights apply.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical companilesdurs, can be highly uncertain and involve cawrpégal and factual questions for which
important legal principles remain unresolved. Nosistent policy regarding the breadth of claimewaéld in such companies’ patents has emerged to
date in the United States. The general environrfwerntharmaceutical patents outside the United Stalso involves significant uncertainty.
Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claitihat may be allowed or enforced, or that the sadghese patent rights could provide a sufficient
degree of future protection that could permit ugam or keep our competitive advantage with resfethese products and technology. For example,
we cannot predict:

» the degree and range of protection any patentsaffiltd us against competitors, including whetlnéndt parties will find ways to make,
use, sell, offer to sell or import competitive puats without infringing our patent

« if and when patents will issu
» whether or not others will obtain patents claimimgentions similar to those covered by our patanis patent applications;

« whether we will need to initiate litigation or admstrative proceedings in connection with pateghts, which may be costly whether we
win or lose.
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The patents we have licensed may be subject téedga and possibly invalidated or rendered uneefiste by third parties. Changes in either
the patent laws or in the interpretations of palaws in the United States or other countries niayirdsh the value of our intellectual property.

In addition, others may independently develop similr alternative products and technologies that beaoutside the scope of our intellectual
property. Furthermore, others may have inventednelogy claimed by our patents before we or owerigors did so, and they may have filed patents
claiming such technology before we did so, weakgoiar ability to obtain and maintain patent pratatfor such technology. Should third parties
obtain patent rights to similar products or tecbggl this may have an adverse effect on our busines

We may also rely on trade secrets to protect amelogy, especially where we do not believe papeotection is appropriate or obtainable.
Trade secrets, however, are difficult to protechild/we believe that we will use reasonable efftotprotect our trade secrets, our own or our eyiat
partners’ employees, consultants, contractors wisacs may unintentionally or willfully disclose pinformation to competitors. We seek to protect
this information, in part, through the use of nasetbsure and confidentiality agreements with emeés, consultants, advisors and others. These
agreements may be breached, and we may not hagaeadaemedies for a breach. In addition, we caenstire that those agreements will provide
adequate protection for our trade secrets, know-tnoether proprietary information or prevent thaeirauthorized use or disclosure.

To the extent that consultants or key employee$/apphnological information independently develdgs them or by others to our potential
products, disputes may arise as to the proprieighys in such information, which may not be resol\in our favor. Consultants and key employees
that work with our confidential and proprietaryheologies are required to assign all intellectuapprty rights in their discoveries to us. However,
these consultants or key employees may terminaterétlationship with us, and we cannot precludsrtfindefinitely from dealing with our
competitors. If our trade secrets become knowrotopetitors with greater experience and financisbueces, the competitors may copy or use our
trade secrets and other proprietary informatiothéhadvancement of their products, methods or molgies. If we were to prosecute a claim that a
third party had illegally obtained and was using twade secrets, it could be expensive and timswaing and the outcome could be unpredictable. In
addition, courts outside the United States are siames less willing to protect trade secrets thamrisoin the United States. Moreover, if our
competitors independently develop equivalent kndgte we would lack any legal or contractual clainptevent them from using such information,
and our business could be harmed.

Our ability to commercialize our potential productgill depend on our ability to sell such productstiwout infringing the patent or proprietary
rights of third parties. If we are sued for infrinigg intellectual property rights of third partiest will be costly and time consuming, and an
unfavorable outcome in that litigation would haveraaterial adverse effect on our business.

Our ability to commercialize our potential produaiii depend on our ability to sell such productsheout infringing the patents or other
proprietary rights of third parties. Third-partytétiectual property rights in our field are complied, and third-party intellectual property rigimour
field are continuously evolving. The coverage aiepés is subject to interpretation by the countsl #is interpretation is not always consistent.

Other companies may have or may acquire intellépiagerty rights that could be enforced againstfubey do so, we may be required to alter
our products, formulations, processes, methodshar dechnologies, obtain a license, assuming anebe obtained, or cease our product-related
activities. If our products or technologies infranthe intellectual property rights of others, tieeyld bring legal action against us or our licessmr
collaborators claiming damages and seeking to egoy activities that they believe infringe theitellectual property rights. If we are sued forgueat
infringement, we would need to demonstrate thatppaducts or methods of use either do not infrithgepatent claims of the relevant patent or tha
patent claims are invalid or unenforceable, andnag not be able to do this. Proving invalidity e United States, in particular, is difficult séni¢
requires a showing of clear and convincing evidg¢naavercome the presumption of validity enjoyeddsued patents. If we are found to infringe a
third-party patent, we may need to cease the cocialesale of our products.

Because patent applications can take many yeassuse, there may be currently pending applicatiorisiown to us or reissue applications that
may later result in issued patents upon which oodpcts or technologies

16



Table of Contents

may infringe. There could also be existing patefitshich we are unaware that our products or teldgies may infringe. In addition, if third parties

file patent applications or obtain patents claimimgducts or technologies also claimed by us irdpenapplications or issued patents, we may have to
participate in interference proceedings in the BP&ent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, to detegrpitiority of invention. If third parties file
oppositions in foreign countries, we may also hiavearticipate in opposition proceedings in foreigbunals to defend the patentability of our filed
foreign patent applications. Some of our compeditony be able to sustain the costs of complex phtigation more effectively than we can because
they have substantially greater resources. Additlpnany uncertainties resulting from the inittatiand continuation of any litigation may have a
material adverse effect on our ability to raiseftiieds necessary to continue our operations.

If a third party claims that we infringe its intetttual property rights, it could cause our businesaiffer in a number of ways, including:

* we may become involved in time-consuming and exwergigation, even if the claim is without merihe third party’s patent is
ultimately invalid or unenforceable, or we arerakitely found to have not infringe

* we may become liable for substantial damages fstripfingement if a court decides that our tecbg@s infringe upon a third party’s
patent;

* we may be ordered by a court to stop making, gebinlicensing our products or technologies withalitense from a patent holder, and
such license may not be available on commerciaitgptable terms, if at all, or may require us tp g@bstantial royalties or grant cross-
licenses to our patents; a

* we may have to redesign our products so that tbayod infringe upon others’ patent rights, whichynmat be possible or could require
substantial investment and/or tin

If any of these events occur, our business coufeisand the market price of our common stock meglide.

As is common in the biotechnology and pharmaceliticiustries, we employ individuals who were praigty employed at other companies in
these industries, including our competitors or pt& competitors. We may become subject to claimas these employees or we have inadvertently or
otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or ptiogrietary information of their former employeasthough no such claims are pending. Litigation
may be necessary to defend against these claines. iEwe successfully defend any such claims, wg meur substantial costs in such defense, and
our management may be distracted by these claims.

Risks Related to Owning our Common Stock

There is currently no market for our common stockéthere can be no assurance that any market wileedevelop. You may therefore be unable
to re-sell shares of our common stock at times gites that you believe are appropriate.

Our common stock is not listed on a national séiesrexchange, an over-tiseunter market or any other exchange. Therefoegetis no tradin
market, active or otherwise, for our common staott aur common stock may never be included for bgdin any stock exchange, automated
guotation system or any over-the-counter marketofaingly, our common stock is highly illiquid agdu will likely experience difficulty in reselling
such shares at times and prices that you may desire

Our common stock may not be eligible for listing quotation on any securities exchange.

We do not currently meet the initial quantitatiisihg standards of any national securities exchakée cannot assure you that we will be ab
meet the initial listing standards of any natioseturities exchange, or, if we do meet such iniséhg standards, that we will be able to maintany
such listing. Further, the national securities exajes are adopting so-called “seasoning” ruleswiitequire that we meet certain requirements,
including prescribed periods of time trading ovee-tounter and minimum filings of periodic repostith the Securities and Exchange Commission, or
SEC, before we are eligible to apply for listingsarch national securities exchanges. We intendngact an authorized market maker for an over-the-
counter quotation system for sponsorship of ourroom stock, but we cannot guarantee that such spsiripawill be approved and our common
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stock listed and quoted for sale. Even if our comrsimck is quoted for sale on an over-the-courdetation system, buyers may be insufficient in
numbers to allow for a robust market and it maywprimmpossible to sell your shares. In additioniraestor may find it difficult to obtain accurate
quotations as to the market value of our commockstim addition, if we fail to meet the criteriat $erth in SEC regulations, various requirements
would be imposed by law on broker-dealers who@ellsecurities to persons other than establishstbmers and accredited investors. Consequently,
such regulations may deter broker-dealers frommecending or selling our common stock, which maytfer affect its liquidity. This would also

make it more difficult for us to raise additionalpital.

The price of our common stock could be subject tdatility related or unrelated to our operations.

If a market for our common stock develops, its reikice could fluctuate substantially due to detgrof factors, including market perception
of our ability to meet our growth projections angbectations, quarterly operating results of ottempanies in the same industry, trading volume ir
common stock, changes in general conditions iretmmomy and the financial markets or other devetapmaffecting our business and the busine
others in our industry. In addition, the stock nedritself is subject to extreme price and volunuetilations. This volatility has had a significafieet
on the market price of securities issued by mamggamies for reasons related and unrelated to élpeirating performance and could have the same
effect on our common stock.

The designation of our common stock as a “pennycitowould limit the liquidity of our common stock.

Our common stock may be deemed a “penny stockih@serm is defined under Rule 3a51-1 of the ErgkaAct) in any market that may
develop in the future. Generally, a “penny stockdicommon stock that is not listed on a securtiehange and trades for less than $5.00 a share.
Prices often are not available to buyers and se#lad the market may be very limited. Penny statksart-up companies are among the riskiest equity
investments. Broker-dealers who sell penny stodkstmrovide purchasers of these stocks with a atalimed riskdisclosure document prepared by
SEC. The document provides information about pestogks and the nature and level of risks involvethvesting in the penny stock market. A bro
must also provide purchasers with bid and offertafimns and information regarding broker and saesgn compensation and make a written
determination that the penny stock is a suitablestment for the purchaser and obtain the purctaseitten agreement to the purchase. Many brc
choose not to participate in penny stock transastiBecause of the penny stock rules, there mégsiserading activity in penny stocks in any market
that develops for our common stock in the future stockholders are likely to have difficulty segjitheir shares.

We have no independent audit committee. Our fulldod of directors functions as our audit committeaé only one of our directors is considered
independent. This may hinder our board of directbeffectiveness in fulfilling the functions of th@udit committee.

We are not required to have an audit committeehave not established one. Our full board of dinectonctions as our audit committee and is
comprised of two directors, only one whom is coasédl to be “independent” in accordance with theireqnents of Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange
Act. An independent audit committee plays a crum# in the corporate governance process, asgeasiompany’s processes relating to its risks and
control environment, overseeing financial reportmgl evaluating internal and independent auditgsses. The lack of an independent audit
committee may prevent our board of directors framg independent from management in its judgmemisdecisions and its ability to pursue the
committee’s responsibilities without undue influen@Ve may have difficulty attracting and retaindigectors with the requisite qualifications. If we
are unable to attract and retain qualified, indeljeai directors, the management of our businessldmitompromised.

Issuance of stock to fund our operations may dilyteur investment and reduce your equity intere

We may need to raise capital in the future to ftireldevelopment of our drug candidates or for opeposes. Any equity financing may have
significant dilutive effect to stockholders and aterial decrease in our stockholders’ equity irgeire us. Equity financing, if obtained, could ris$a
substantial dilution to our existing stockholdeksits sole discretion, our board of directors niegue additional securities without seeking stotdido
approval, and we do not know when we will need taldial capital or, if we do, whether it will be alable to us.
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Upon the exercise of any of our outstanding warrantolders of our common stock may experience imiaggdilution and the market price of our
common stock may be adversely affected.

In connection with the Merger, we assumed the wisrssued by Puma in a private placement to ceitaestors that provides such investors
with anti-dilution protection in regard to certagsuances. The warrants are exercisable only gellesecurities at a price below $3.75 per shareron
prior to the date on which shares of our commookstoe first quoted in an over-the-counter markdisted for quotation on any national securities
exchange or trading system. The warrants autontigtieaminate ten days after our common stock istgd on an over-the-counter market or listed for
quotation on a national securities exchange oirgaslystem if we have not previously sold secuwsif@ less than $3.75 per share. Otherwise, the
warrants have a ten-year term and an exercise @ii$@.01 per share. If triggered, each warranblrezs exercisable for the number of shares of our
common stock as would equal the difference betw@e¢he number of shares purchased by the warraidehin Puma’s private placement and (i) the
number of shares that could have been purchassddbyholder in the private placement at a purcpase equal to the lowest price associated with
any subsequent issuance of our common stock.

We also assumed a warrant issued to Mr. Auerbathéformer Puma entity. This warrant is exercisabily in the event that we conduct an
additional offering of our securities resultinggross cash proceeds to us of at least $15 milincluding certain types of financings that occuthini
a specified time period after the closing of there. This warrant has a ten-year term, an exeprise equal to the price paid per share in such
additional offering, and is exercisable for the fnemof shares of our common stock as would be sacg$or Mr. Auerbach to maintain, as calculated
under the terms of the warrant, ownership of 20%uwfoutstanding shares of common stock after additional offering.

If any of our outstanding warrants are exercisedfares of our common stock, holders of our comstock may experience immediate dilut
and the market price of our common stock may besely affected.

We will incur increased costs and demands upon mgaaent as a result of complying with the laws aredjulations affecting public companies,
which could harm our operating results.

As a public company, we will incur significant lédgaccounting and other expenses, including caste@ated with public company reporting
requirements. We also have incurred substantiadresgs in connection with the preparation and fiihthis registration statement as required by the
registration rights agreement, as amended, andmégm to SEC comments in connection with its revig this registration statement. We will also
incur costs associated with current corporate gamge requirements, including requirements undetic®e404 and other provisions of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, or the SarbanesyOxte as well as rules implemented by the SECnyrstock exchange or inter-dealer quotations
system on which our common stock may be listethénftiture. The expenses incurred by public comgdioiereporting and corporate governance
purposes have increased dramatically in recensy®ée expect these rules and regulations to suirtarincrease our legal and financial compliance
costs and to make some activities more tonrsuming and costly. We are unable to currentiynese these costs with any degree of certainty ai¥e
expect that these new rules and regulations magenalfficult and expensive for us to obtain diecand officer liability insurance, and if we able
to obtain such insurance, we may be required teaeduced policy limits and coverage or incurssaiitially higher costs to obtain the same or
similar coverage available to privately-held conipanAs a result, it may be more difficult for wsdttract and retain qualified individuals to seove
our board of directors or as our executive officers

If we fail to maintain proper and effective interdaontrols, our ability to produce accurate and taty financial statements could be impaired, wh
could harm our operating results, our ability to epate our business and investors’ views of us.

We are required to comply with Section 404 of thet@nes-Oxley Act. Section 404 of the SarbanesyOkt requires public companies to
conduct an annual review and evaluation of theéerimal controls and attestations of the effectigsraf internal controls by independent auditors.
Ensuring that we have adequate internal financidlaccounting controls and procedures in plac@aowe can produce accurate financial statements
on a timely basis is a costly and time-consumirigrethat will need to be evaluated frequently. @aitlure to maintain the effectiveness of our intdr
controls in accordance with the requirements ofSaganes-Oxley Act could have a material advefseteon our business. We could lose investor
confidence in the accuracy and completeness dfimamcial reports, which could have an adversecefa the price of our common stock. In addition,
if our efforts to
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comply with new or changed laws, regulations, aaddards differ from the activities intended byulegory or governing bodies due to ambiguities
related to practice, regulatory authorities magiaté legal proceedings against us and our busimagsbe harmed.

Because the Merger was a reverse merger, we mayadable to attract the attention of major brokemagirms.

Additional risks may exist as a result of our begaa public reporting company through a “reversger.” Securities analysts of major
brokerage firms may not provide coverage of ouitahptock or business. Because we became a pegarting operating company through a reverse
merger, there is no incentive to brokerage firmgetmmmend the purchase of our common stock. Wieata@ssure you that brokerage firms will want
to provide analyst coverage of our capital stochusiness in the future.

The resale of shares covered by this registratiteiesment could adversely affect the market priceoof common stock in the public market, should
one develop, which could in turn negatively affemir ability to raise additional equity capital.

The sale, or availability for sale, of our commawoc& in the public market may adversely affectphevailing market price of our common stock
and may impair our ability to raise additional ¢apby selling equity or equity-linked securiti€®ursuant to the terms of a registration rights
agreement, as amended, between us and the sedisidnelders, we have prepared and filed, at oueese, this registration statement with the SEC
registering the resale of 16,000,000 shares otonmmon stock. The resale of a substantial numbshafes of our common stock in the public market
could adversely affect the market price for our ooon stock and make it more difficult for you tols#lares of our common stock at times and prices
that you feel are appropriate. Furthermore, we etxjat, because there will be a large number afeshregistered pursuant to this registration
statement, selling stockholders will continue tteoshares covered by this registration statenara Significant period of time, the precise dwatof
which cannot be predicted. Accordingly, the advenseket and price pressures resulting from an ioffigoursuant to this registration statement may
continue for an extended period of time and comtihnegative pressure on the market price of ounommstock could have a material adverse effect
on our ability to raise additional equity capital.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publisbr cease publishing, research or reports about asy business or our market, or if they chany
their recommendations regarding our stock adverseayr stock price and trading volume could decline.

If a trading market for our common stock develdps,trading market for our common stock will bduehced by whether industry or securities
analysts publish research and reports about udumimess, our market or our competitors and,\yifamalysts do publish such reports, what they
publish in those reports. We may not obtain analgserage in the future. Any analysts that do cassemay make adverse recommendations regarding
our stock, adversely change their recommendatiams fime to time, and/or provide more favorablatige recommendations about our competitors.

If any analyst who may cover us in the future wiereease coverage of our company or fail to regufaublish reports on us, or if analysts fail torec
us or publish reports about us at all, we coulé,las never gain, visibility in the financial matkewhich in turn could cause our stock price ading
volume to decline.

We do not foresee paying cash dividends in the éexable future.

We currently intend to retain any future earningsféinding growth. We do not anticipate paying anidends in the foreseeable future. As a
result, you should not rely on an investment in egurities if you require dividend income. Capétppreciation, if any, of our shares may be yolg so
source of gain for the foreseeable future. Morepyen may not be able to re-sell your shares indbmpany at or above the price you paid for them.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STAT EMENTS

This prospectus includes forward-looking statem#émas relate to future events or our future finahpeerformance and involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors mhay cause our actual results, levels of actiyigrformance or achievements to differ materialyrf
any future results, levels of activity, performameeachievements expressed or implied by theseai@ooking statements. Words such as, but not
limited to, “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “eshate,” “intend,” “plan,” “targets,” “likely,” “will,” “would,” “could,” and similar expressions or
phrases, or the negative of those expressionsrasgs identify forward-looking statements. Althowgh believe that we have a reasonable basis for
each forward-looking statement contained in th@spectus, we caution you that these statementsagesl on our projections of the future that are
subject to known and unknown risks and uncertardigd other factors that may cause our actualtse$eNel of activity, performance or achieveme
expressed or implied by these forward-looking steets, to differ. The sections in this prospecnigtled “Description of Our Business,” “Risk
Factors,” and “Management’s Discussion and Analg&isinancial Condition and Results of Operatioas'well as other sections in this prospectus,
discuss some of the factors that could contributhése differences.

Other unknown or unpredictable factors also coaldrhour results. Consequently, actual results veldpments anticipated by us may not be
realized or, even if substantially realized, may meve the expected consequences to, or effectssoGiven these uncertainties, prospective investo
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on suetafd-looking statements. Except as required fy Vee undertake no obligation to update or revise
publicly any of the forward-looking statements aftee date of this prospectus.
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DESCRIPTION OF OUR BUSINESS

Overview

We are a development stage biopharmaceutical coythahacquires and develops innovative productshi® treatment of various forms of
cancer. We focus on in-licensing drug candidatesadhe undergoing or have already completed irgtinical testing for the treatment of cancer and
then seek to further develop those drug candidatesommercial use. We currently license the rightthree drug candidates:

+ PB272 (neratinib (oral)), which we are developiogthe treatment of advanced breast cancer patigassric cancer patients and
melanoma patient:

* PB272 (neratinib (intravenous)), which we are depiglg for the treatment of advanced cancer patiemid
* PB357, which we believe can serve as a backup contptm PB272, and which we plan to evaluate faherdevelopment in 201

We are initially focused on developing neratinib tioe treatment of patients with HER2 positive rstttic breast cancer. Studies show that
approximately 20% to 25% of breast cancer tumove lza over-expression of the human epidermal gréadtor receptor type 2, or HER2, protein.
Women with breast cancer that over-expresses HEeR&red to as HER2 positive breast cancer, ageeatter risk for disease progression and death
than women whose tumors do not over-express HER&:apeutic strategies, such as the use of theantier drug trastuzumab, or Herceptin
produced by Genentech, given in combination witbnebtherapy, have been developed to improve tharesd of this cancer by blocking HER2.
Based on pre-clinical and clinical studies to date believe that neratinib may offer an advantage existing treatments by more potently inhibiting
HER?2 at a different site and using a different naeism than trastuzumab.

Data from a recently completed Phase Il clinidal of neratinib administered as a single agemqatients with HER2 positive metastatic breast
cancer demonstrated an objective response ra#96fathid median progression free survival of 22.3kader patients that had previously been treated
with trastuzumab and an objective response ras®% and median progression free survival of 39.6kagdor patients that had not previously been
treated with trastuzumab. Additionally, data fromen3,000 patients treated with neratinib, eitteeaaingle agent or in combination with other anti-
cancer drugs, also suggests a manageable saféitg.dDiarrhea has been the most common side effettappears to be manageable with
antidiarrheal agents and dose modification.

We have licensed the exclusive worldwide rightsuo current drug candidates from Pfizer Inc., whield previously been responsible for the
clinical trials regarding neratinib. We expect todify Pfizer’s clinical development strategy andidg the next 12 to 18 months plan to:

« commence Phase Il clinical trials evaluating the afsneratinib in combination with chemotherapy attter anti-cancer drugs, as a second
or third line treatment for HER2 positive metastdtieast cance

* continue the ongoing studies with neratinib for tle@adjuvant treatment of HER2 positive breastea!

» initiate Phase Il clinical trials to evaluate theewf neratinib for the treatment of HER2 positiastric cancer and HER4 mutated
melanoma; an

* continue to evaluate the application of neratinilthie treatment of other forms of HER positive @asavhere there may be unmet medical
needs

Our President and Chief Executive Officer, Alan Aageh, has extensive experience in identifying @evkeloping drug candidates for use in the
treatment of cancer. Prior to founding Puma, he thagounder and chief executive officer of CouBaitechnology, Inc. While at Cougar,
Mr. Auerbach was responsible for identifying, in-
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licensing and developing abiraterone acetate ®triatment of advanced prostate cancer, whichdgrgssed into two Phase Il clinical trials before
Cougar was purchased by Johnson & Johnson in 2009.

Breast Cancer Overview

Breast cancer is the leading cause of cancer @@adimg women worldwide, with approximately 1 millinaw cases reported each year and r
than 400,000 deaths per year. Approximately 20268 of breast cancer tumors show overexpressitimedflER2 protein. Women with breast car
that overexpresses HER2 are at greater risk feladis progression and death than women whose tulmarst overexpress HER2. Therapeutic
strategies have been developed to block HER2 ierdadimprove the treatment of this cancer.

Trastuzumab is a monoclonal antibody that binde@dHER2 protein and thereby causes the cellsaseceeproducing. Trastuzumab given in
combination with chemotherapy is the current filore standard of care for HER2 positive metastateast cancer. Unfortunately, most patients with
HER?2 positive breast cancer eventually develogstasce to this treatment, resulting in diseaserpssipn. For these reasons, there is a need for
alternatives to block HER2 signaling in patientsoviil trastuzumab. PB272 is an oradigtive small molecule that inhibits HER2 at a difet site an
using a different mechanism than trastuzumab. Aesalt, we believe that PB272 may have utility atipnts with HER2 positive metastatic breast
cancer who have failed treatment with trastuzumab.

Our Strategy
Our strategy is to become a leading oncology-fodusepharmaceutical company. The key elements pEtategy are as follows:

» Advance PB272 (neratinib), our lead drug candidéb&yard regulatory approval and commercializatiWe are primarily focused on
developing neratinib for the treatment of patiemith HER2 positive metastatic breast cancer. We pdamodify the previous clinical
development strategy employed by Pfizer, by foaysiar planned Phase Il and Phase Il clinicaldrai the use of neratinib as a second
or third line metastatic treatment option, which lvedieve may be underserved by current treatméertratives and where clinical trials
have shown substantial levels of activ

» Expand our product pipeline by pursuing additioapplications of neratinit. We believe there are additional applicationsii@ratinib in
HER2 positive gastric cancer, which we also belieag be underserved by current treatment alteresitand HER4 mutated melanoma,
and we intend to further evaluate the safety afidaefy of neratinib for treating these canct

* Focus on developing innovative cancer thera. We focus on oncology drug candidates in ordeafture efficiencies and economies of
scale. We believe that drug development for canwkets is particularly attractive because reldigenall clinical trials can provide
meaningful information regarding patient response safety. Furthermore, we believe that our capisilare well suited to the oncology
market and represent distinct competitive advarste

» Build a sustainable pipeline by employing multitierapeutic approaches and disciplined decisiotecia based on clearly defined prc
of principal goals. We seek to build a sustainable product pipelyneraploying multiple therapeutic approaches anddxuiring drug
candidates belonging to known drug classes. Intiaddiwe employ disciplined decision criteria t@@ss drug candidates, favoring drug
candidates that have undergone at least someatlstiedy. Our decision to license a drug candidafiealso depend on the scientific me
of the technology; the costs of the transaction@hdr economic terms of the proposed licenseatheunt of capital required to develop
the technology; and the economic potential of thegatandidate, should it be commercialized. Wedbelithis strategy minimizes our
clinical development risk and allows us to accetethe development and potential commercializadibcurrent and future drug
candidates. We intend to pursue regulatory appriova majority of our drug candidates in multipheications.

» Evaluate the commercialization strategies on a pal-by-product basis in order to maximize the valueaxth. As we move our drug
candidates through development toward regulatopyayal, we will evaluate several options for eadhgdcandidate’s commercialization
strategy. These optiot
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include building our own internal sales force; einig into a joint marketing partnership with anatpéarmaceutical company or
biotechnology company, whereby we jointly sell anarket the product; and out-licensing our prodwttereby another pharmaceutical
company or biotechnology company sells and maretproduct and pays us a royalty on sales. Ousidacwill be made separately for
each product and will be based on a number of fadheluding capital necessary to execute on eptibrg size of the market that need:
be addressed and terms of potential offers frorargtharmaceutical and biotechnology companies.ttio early for us to know which of
these options we will pursue for our drug candisiadéssuming their successful developm

Product Development Pipeline
PB272 (neratinib (oral—Breast Cancer

Neratinib is a potent irreversible tyrosine kinagabitor, or TKI, that blocks signal transductitmmough the epidermal growth factor receptors,
or EGFRs, HER1, HER2 and HER4. We believe neratiai clinical application in the treatment of saveancers, including breast cancer, gastric
cancer and melanoma. Our initial focus is on theetigment of neratinib as an oral treatment ofgrati with HER2 positive metastatic breast cancer.

Advantages of Neratinib

Based on pre-clinical and clinical studies to daie believe that neratinib may offer an advantager existing treatments that are used in the
treatment of patients with HER2 positive metasthtiast cancer that have failed filisie therapy, including treatment with trastuzum@hbrrently, the
treatment of metastatic breast cancer that hasdféiist line therapy with trastuzumab involves ttoming treatment with trastuzumab and
chemotherapy. We believe that by more potentlyhiinig HER2 at a different site and using a diffarmechanism than trastuzumab, neratinib may
have potential advantages over these existinghiesats, most notably due to its increased selegtant stronger inhibition of the HER2 target
enzyme.

Clinical Results for Neratinib in Patients with Metatic Breast Cancer

Trials of Neratinib as a Single Age. 2009, Pfizer presented data at the San Antonéa® Cancer Symposium from a Phase |l trial of
neratinib administered as a single agent to patieith HER2 positive metastatic breast cancer.firta results from this trial were published in the
Journal of Clinical Oncologin March 2010.

The trial involved a total of 136 patients, 66 dfam had received prior treatment with trastuzunaabl, 70 of whom had not received prior
treatment with trastuzumab. The results of theystlwbwed that neratinib was reasonably well toégt@mong both the pretreated patients and the
patients who had not received prior treatment waktuzumab. Diarrhea was the most common sideteffat was manageable with antidiarrheal
agents and dose modification. The efficacy redtoi® the trial showed that the objective resporde was 24% for patients who had received prior
trastuzumab treatment and was 56% for patientsndgthrior trastuzumab treatment. Furthermore, tedian progression free survival was shown to
be 22.3 weeks for the patients who had receiveat pastuzumab and 39.6 weeks for the patientshaabnot received prior trastuzumab.

Trials of Neratinib in Combination with other Ar@iancer Drugsin 2010, at the San Antonio Breast Cancer SympasRfirer presented data
from Phase Il trials of neratinib when given in domation with other anti-cancer drugs that are ently used for the treatment of HER2 positive
metastatic breast cancer. One Phase Il trial eteduthe safety and efficacy of neratinib givenambination with the anti-cancer drug paclitaxel in
patients with HER2 positive metastatic breast candee results presented showed that for the Gématin the trial who had previously been treated
with at least one prior line of therapy, the conalbion of neratinib with paclitaxel was shown to @afavorable safety profile that was similar tatth
of each drug when given alone. The efficacy reduti® the trial demonstrated an objective respoaseof 74% and progression free survival of 63.1
weeks.

Pfizer also presented data from a second Phasal l&t the San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposiumchvavaluated the safety and efficacy of
neratinib when given in combination with the ardgicer drug vinorelbine in patients with HER2 pesitinetastatic cancer. In the 56 patients who had
not been previously treated with the anti-
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HERZ2 therapy lapatinib, treatment with the comhkorabf vinorelbine plus neratinib resulted in arewall response rate of 57%. For those patients that
had received prior treatment with lapatinib, thema response rate was 50%. The combination afreibine and neratinib was generally well
tolerated.

Data from a third Phase Il study, in which patiemih confirmed ErbB2+ (HER2+) metastatic breastasa who had failed treatment with
trastuzumab and taxane chemotherapy were givenPia2ZXombination with capecitabine, was presentédea2011 CTRC-AACR San Antonio
Breast Cancer Symposium.

The results of the study showed that the combinaifd®B272 and capecitabine had acceptable toldéyafihe efficacy results from the trial
showed that for the 61 patients in the trial whd hat been previously treated with the HER2 tamjeiticancer drug lapatinib, there was an overall
response rate of 64% and a clinical benefit raté28b. In addition, for the seven patients in tle iwho had previously been treated with lapatinib,
there was an overall response rate of 57% andhzalibenefit rate of 71%. The median progressier urvival (PFS) for patients who had not
received prior treatment with lapatinib was 40.3®lsand the median PFS for the patients who hagivest prior lapatinib treatment was 35.9 weeks.

In 2010, Pfizer also initiated a Phase /Il trikheratinib in combination with the artancer drug temsirolimus, or Torisel, in patienihwER?2
positive metastatic breast cancer who have failelfipte prior treatments. The study enrolled pasenith either HER2+ metastatic breast cancer and
disease progression on trastuzumab or with triptgative breast cancer.

In 2011, the preliminary Phase Il results of thialtwere presented at the CTRC-AACR San AntonieaBt Cancer Symposium. The results of
the study showed that the combination of PB272tantsirolimus had acceptable tolerability. The effig results from the trial showed that for the 15
patients with HER2+ disease, 9 patients, or 60%eg&nced a partial response and one patient, oeXperienced stable disease for greater than 6
months, which translates to a clinical benefit @fté7%. Patients who experienced a partial regptmshe combination of neratinib plus temsirolimus
demonstrated a maximum change in the size of thejet lesions of between 33% and 83%. None ob thatients with triple negative breast cancer
demonstrated a partial response or stable diseaggdater than 6 months. We expect additional flata this trial to be presented in 2012.

In 2010, Pfizer, in collaboration with the Natior&lrgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project (NSAB#}linical trials cooperative group
supported by the National Cancer Institute (NGijtjated a study that is investigating the useexftinib as a neoadjuvant (preoperative) therapy fo
newly diagnosed HER2 positive breast cancer. kttil, patients are randomized to receive eittegatinib plus the chemotherapy drug paclitaxel or
trastuzumab plus paclitaxel prior to having surgersemove their tumors. The purpose of this sigdg test whether adding neratinib to paclitaxel
chemotherapy is better than trastuzumab plus paelithemotherapy before having surgery. We artieighat this trial will be modified in 2012 to
include a third treatment arm where patients weitlaive the combination of neratinib plus trastuzoiplas paclitaxel prior to having surgery to rem
their tumors. We anticipate that enrollment intatee arms of this trial will continue in 2012.

Also in 2010, the Foundation for the National Ing#s of Health initiated the | SPY 2 TRIAL (Inviggttion of Serial Studies to Predict Your
Therapeutic Response with Imaging and Molecularlysig 2). For the patients with newly diagnosed 2ERsitive breast cancer, patients are
randomized to receive either neratinib plus thexaitberapy drug paclitaxel or trastuzumab plus paai prior to having surgery to remove their
tumors (neoadjuvant therapy). The purpose of tiidysis to test whether adding neratinib to pagétachemotherapy is better than trastuzumab plus
paclitaxel chemotherapy before having surgery. Weipate that this trial will be modified in 201@ include a third treatment arm where patient$ wil
receive the combination of neratinib plus trastuabrplus paclitaxel prior to having surgery to remdiveir tumors. We anticipate that enroliment Ir
three arms of this trial will continue in 2012.

Discontinued Studie®fizer had previously been sponsoring two additicfiaical trials of neratinib. The first trial, ferred to as the NEfERTT
trial, is a Phase Il randomized trial of neratimtcombination with the antancer drug paclitaxel versus trastuzumab in coatlanin with paclitaxel fo
the treatment of patients who have not receivedipus treatment for HER2 positive metastatic breasicer. The second trial, referred to as the
ExteNET trial, is a Phase Il study investigatihg effects of neratinib after adjuvant trastuzurimgbatients with early stage breast cancer. On
October 5, 2011, we announced that enrollmenterExteNET trial is being terminated and that botNEfERTT and the ExteNET trials were going
to be wound down. We are responsible for any dmvassociated with winding down these trialsiy2012 and beyond.

PB272 (neratinib (intravenous

We also plan to develop neratinib as an intravelyadministered agent. In pre-clinical studies, ititeavenous version of neratinib resulted in
higher exposure levels of neratinib in pre-cliniceddels. We believe that this may result in highlend levels of neratinib in patients, which may
translate into better efficacy. We plan to file thid for the intravenous formulation of neratinib2012.

PB357

PB357 is an orally administered agent that is evarsible TKI that blocks signal transduction tigh the epidermal growth factor receptors,
HER1, HER2 and HER4. PB357 is structurally simitaPB272. Pfizer had completed single dose Phagdd of PB357. We are evaluating PB357
and considering options relative to its developnier012.
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Plan of Development

We plan to conduct additional clinical trials ofratnib in patients with HER2 positive metastatiedst cancer over the next 12 to 18 months. In
one trial, we plan to further investigate the eftig of neratinib when given in combination with otatherapy in patients with HER2 positive
metastatic breast cancer who have previously breated with at least one prior line of treatmemtahother, we plan to investigate the efficacy of
neratinib in patients with HER2 positive metastatieast cancer with brain metastases. We will edgdinue the ongoing trial of neratinib when given
in combination with the anti-cancer drug temsiralgrin patients with HER2 positive metastatic breasicer. We will also continue the two ongoing
studies investigating the use of neratinib as adgwant (preoperative) therapy for HER2 positivedst cancer.

We also plan to conduct a Phase Il clinical triaheratinib in HER2 positive metastatic gastricaanpatients and in patients with HER4 mut
melanoma during 2012.

Clinical Testing of Our Products in Development

Each of our products in development, and likelyfatlire drug candidates we in-license, will requrgensive pre-clinical and clinical testing to
determine the safety and efficacy of the produgliegtions prior to seeking and obtaining regulatapproval. This process is expensive and time
consuming. In completing these trials, we are ddpehupon third-party consultants, consisting nyadflinvestigators and collaborators, who will
conduct such trials.

We and our third-party consultants conduct preicdihtesting in accordance with Good LaboratorycReas, or GLP, and clinical testing in
accordance with Good Clinical Practice standard§®P, which are international ethical and sci@ntjiality standards utilized for pre-clinical and
clinical testing, respectively. GCP is the standardhe design, conduct, performance, monitoragliting, recording, analysis and reporting of
clinical trials, and is required by the FDA to lm#ldwed in conducting clinical trials. Additionallpur pre-clinical and clinical testing completadhe
European Union, or the EU, is conducted in accareavith applicable EU standards, such as the Ehidali Trials Directive (Directive 2001/20/EC
April 4, 2001), or the EU Clinical Trials Directivand the national laws of the Member States oEliémplementing its provisions.

Intellectual Property

We hold a worldwide exclusive license under ougrige agreement with Pfizer to 4 granted U.S. patamd 9 pending U.S. patent applications,
as well as foreign counterparts thereof and oth&sm applications and patents claiming priorigréirom.

In the United States, we have a license to an dspatent for the composition of matter of neratjmibr lead compound, which currently will
expire in 2025. We have a license to an issued patnt covering a family of compounds includingatiaib, as well as equivalent patents in the
European Union and Japan, that currently expi0it9. We also have a license to an issued U.Saifatethe use of neratinib in the treatment of
breast cancer, which currently expires in 2025, amésued U.S. polymorph patent for neratinib,clvhdurrently expires in 2030. In jurisdictions
which permit such, we will seek patent term extensiwhere possible for certain of our patents. Ve  pursue additional patents in and outside of
the United States covering additional therapewisiand polymorphs of neratinib from these existinglications. In addition, we will pursue patent
protection for any new discoveries or inventionsiman the course of our development of neratinib.

If we obtain marketing approval for neratinib ohet drug candidates in the United States or iragejtirisdictions outside of the United States,
we may be eligible for regulatory protection, sashfive years of new chemical entity exclusivitglaas mentioned below, up to five years of patent
term extension potentially available in the Unifdtes under the Hatch-Waxman Act, 8 to 11 yeadatzf and marketing exclusivity potentially
available for new drugs in the European Union,aifite years of patent extension in Europe (Suppleiad Protection Certificate), and eight years of
data exclusivity potentially available in Japanefi@écan be no assurance that we will qualify fgr surch regulatory exclusivity, or that any such
exclusivity will prevent competitors from seekingpaoval solely on the basis of their own studie=e Ssovernment Regulation” below.
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Our goal is to obtain, maintain and enforce papeatection for our products, formulations, procasseethods and other proprietary
technologies, preserve our trade secrets, andtepegithout infringing on the proprietary rightsather parties, both in the United States and iemoth
countries. Our policy is to actively seek to obtaitnere appropriate, the broadest intellectual @riypprotection possible for our current product
candidates and any future product candidates, ietapy information and proprietary technology thgbia combination of contractual arrangements
and patents, both in the United States and abkbaadever, even patent protection may not alwaysrdfts with complete protection against
competitors who seek to circumvent our patents."Besk Factors—Risks Related to Our Intellectuadprty—Our proprietary rights may not
adequately protect our intellectual property angeptial products, and if we cannot obtain adeqpedéection of our intellectual property and potahti
products, we may not be able to successfully markepotential products.”

We will depend upon the skills, knowledge and eigrere of our scientific and technical personnelwel as that of our advisors, consultants
and other contractors, none of which is patentalehelp protect our proprietary know-how, whici patentable, and inventions for which patents
may be difficult to obtain or enforce, we will ihd future rely on trade secret protection and clemfiiality agreements to protect our intereststhi®
end, we plan to require all of our employees, ctiasts, advisors and other contractors to enterdonfidentiality agreements that prohibit the
disclosure of confidential information and, whepplicable, require disclosure and assignment tof tise ideas, developments, discoveries and
inventions important to our business.

Pfizer Licenst

In August 2011, Puma entered into an agreementignt$o which Pfizer agreed to grant it a worldwlidense for the development, manufac
and commercialization of neratinib (oral), nerdiiintravenous) and PB357, and certain related camgs. Pursuant to the terms of the license, it did
not become effective until Puma closed a capitalrg transaction in which it raised at least $2Biom in aggregate net proceeds and had a nethwort
of at least $22.5 million. Upon the closing of th#ial Financing on October 4, 2011, this conditwas satisfied. We assumed the license agreement,
in accordance with its terms, in the Merger. Therise is exclusive with respect to certain paights owned or licensed to Pfizer. Under the lieens
agreement, Pfizer is obligated to transfer to wsgeinformation, records, regulatory filings, reaals and inventory controlled by Pfizer and rielgt
to or useful for developing these compounds, ar@btainue to conduct certain ongoing clinical sasdintil a certain time. After that time, we are
obligated to continue such studies pursuant togageal development plan, at our expense, includiieg the license agreement terminates for reasons
unrelated to Pfizer's breach of the license agre#nseibject to certain specified exceptions. Weadse obligated to commence a new clinical trial fo
a product containing one of these compounds walspecified period of time and use commerciallgoeable efforts to complete such trial and to
achieve certain milestones as provided in a dewedop plan. If certain of our out-of-pocket costeampleting such studies exceed a mutually agreed
amount, Pfizer will pay for certain further outqbcket costs of completing such studies. We mustosmercially reasonable efforts to develop and
commercialize products containing these compoumdgécified major market countries and other céesin which we believe it is commercially
reasonable to develop and commercialize such pteduc

As consideration for the license, we are requicethke substantial payments upon the achievememrtsin milestones totaling $187.5 milli
if all such milestones are achieved. Should we cergialize any of the compounds licensed from Pfiresiny products containing any of these
compounds, we will be obligated to pay to Pfizeré@mental annual royalties between approximatety 26d 20% of net sales of all such products,
subject to certain reductions and offsets in someimstances. Our royalty obligation continuesaqeroduct by product and country by country basis,
until the later of (i) the last to expire licengeatent covering the applicable licensed produstich country, or (ii) the earlier of generic conitjpe
for such licensed product reaching a certain levelich country or expiration of a certain timeipérafter first commercial sale of such licensed
product in such country. In the event that we si@nise the rights granted to us under the licenseagent with Pfizer to a third party, the same
milestone and royalty payments are required. Wete@aminate the license agreement at will at ang tafter April 4, 2013 or for safety concerns, in
each case upon specified advance notice. Eachpastyterminate the license agreement if the othetygails to cure any breach by such other party
of a material obligation within a specified timeripd. Pfizer may terminate the license agreemettiénevent of our bankruptcy, receivership,
insolvency or similar proceeding. The license agrest contains other customary clauses and terraseaommon in similar agreements in the
industry.

Manufacturing

We do not currently have our own manufacturinglitees. We intend to continue to use our financédources to accelerate development of our
drug candidates rather than diverting resourcestablish our own manufacturing facilities. We imte¢o meet our pre-clinical and clinical trial
manufacturing requirements by
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establishing relationships with third-party mandgers and other service providers to perform tiseseices for us. We do not have any long-term
agreements or commitments for these services. lifeewe do not have any long-term agreements omdbments with vendors to supply the
underlying component materials of our drug candislasome of which are available from only a sisgigplier. While our drug candidates were being
developed by Pfizer, both the drug substance amgl piroduct were being manufactured by third-padtytiactors. We intend to continue those
relationships to maintain our supply of the drugdidates. We initiated this process following thesing of the Merger, though we cannot assure you
that we will be successful in maintaining all oy arf those relationships.

Should any of our drug candidates obtain markedimgroval, we anticipate establishing relationskifih third-party manufacturers and other
service providers in connection with the commerpralduction of our products. We have some flextipiln securing other manufacturers to produce
our drug candidates; however, our alternatives bealymited due to proprietary technologies or mdthosed in the manufacture of some of our drug
candidates.

Sales and Marketing

We currently have no marketing, sales or distriutapabilities. We do, however, have worldwide m@rcialization rights for our drug
candidates. In order to commercialize any of ougdrandidates if and when they are approved ferisahe United States or elsewhere, we will need
to develop the necessary marketing, sales andodisem capabilities.

Competition

The development and commercialization of new prtgltactreat cancer is highly competitive, and wpeet considerable competition from
major pharmaceutical, biotechnology and specialtycer companies. As a result, there are and walylicontinue to be extensive research and
substantial financial resources invested in theadisry and development of new cancer products.pbtential competitors include, but are not limited
to, Genentech, GlaxoSmithKline, Roche, Boehringgelheim, Takeda, Array Biopharma and Ambit Biosces. We are an early stage company with
no history of operations and we only recently aceglithe rights to the drug candidates we expedét@lop. Many of our competitors have
substantially more resources than we do, includiotl financial and technical. In addition, manyoaf competitors have more experience than us in
pre-clinical and clinical development, manufactgriregulatory and global commercialization. We a&s® competing with academic institutions,
governmental agencies and private organizatiortsatieaconducting research in the field of cancee. aftticipate that we will face intense competition.

We expect that our products under developmentuetirical trials will address major markets withihre cancer sector. Our competition will be
determined in part by the potential indicationsvidrich drugs are developed and ultimately apprdsedegulatory authorities. Additionally, the timil
of market introduction of some of our potential gmots or of competitors’ products may be an impartampetitive factor. Accordingly, the speed
with which we can develop products, complete pieigal testing, clinical trials and approval proses and supply commercial quantities to market are
expected to be important competitive factors. Wgeek that competition among products approveddta will be based on various factors, including
product efficacy, safety, reliability, availabilitprice, reimbursement and patent position.

Government Regulation
United States—FDA Process

The research, development, testing, manufactuvelifey, promotion, advertising, distribution andrireting, among other things, of drug
products are extensively regulated by governmenttiorities in the United States and other cousittie the United States, the FDA regulates drugs
under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Adh@FDCA, and its implementing regulations. Failtwre&omply with the applicable U.S.
requirements may subject us to administrative dicjal sanctions, such as FDA refusal to approvedpey NDAs, warning letters, fines, civil
penalties, product recalls, product seizures, tmtalartial suspension of production or distribatimjunctions and/or criminal prosecution.
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Drug Approval ProcessNone of our drug product candidates may be madkigt the United States until the drug has recei@4 approval.
The steps required before a drug may be marketdeibinited States generally include the following:

» completion of extensive g-clinical laboratory tests, animal studies, and falation studies in accordance with the F's GLP regulation:
e submission to the FDA of an IND for human clinieedting, which must become effective before hunieical trials may begin

« performance of adequate and well-controlled huntiaicel trials to establish the safety and efficadyihe drug for each proposed
indication;

» submission to the FDA of an NDA after completioradifpivotal clinical trials;

» satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approval mson of the manufacturing facility or faciliti@s which the active pharmaceutical
ingredient, or API, and finished drug product aredoiced and tested to assess compliance with cGafie

* FDA review and approval of the NDA prior to any aoercial marketing or sale of the drug in the Unigdtes

The development and approval process requiresatizttime, effort and financial resources, andoaenot be certain that any approvals for
our product candidates will be granted on a tinbelgis, if at all.

Pre-clinical tests include laboratory evaluatiorpafduct chemistry, toxicity and formulation, aslves animal studies. The conduct of the pre-
clinical tests and formulation of the compoundstésting must comply with federal regulations aeguirements. The results of the pre-clinical tests,
together with manufacturing information and analgtidata, are submitted to the FDA as part of &b, INhich must become effective before human
clinical trials may begin. An IND will automaticglbecome effective 30 days after receipt by the FO#less before that time the FDA raises concerns
or questions about the conduct of the trial, sictvlaether human research subjects will be expased tinreasonable health risk. In such a case, the
IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanBiDA concerns or questions before clinical trizds proceed. The Company cannot be sure that
submission of an IND will result in the FDA allovgrclinical trials to begin.

Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational drug to human subjects under thersigion of qualified investigators. Clinical
trials are conducted under protocols detailingdabjectives of the study, the parameters to be irsgtbnitoring safety and the effectiveness critéoia
be evaluated. Each protocol must be provided té-w as part of a separate submission to the INDtHer, an IRB for each medical center propo
to conduct the clinical trial must review and ap@he study protocol and informed consent inforamator study subjects for any clinical trial bedor
it commences at that center, and it must moniterstindy until it is completed. Study subjects nsigh an informed consent form before participating
in a clinical trial.

Clinical trials necessary for product approval tgliiy are conducted in three sequential phaseghbythases may overlap. Phase 1 usually
involves the initial introduction of the investigaital drug into a limited population, typically Hé® humans, to evaluate its short-term safetyades
tolerance, metabolism, pharmacokinetics and phastogic actions, and, if possible, to gain an earlication of its effectiveness. Phase 2 usually
involves trials in a limited patient population(fpevaluate dosage tolerance and appropriate @p$#gidentify possible adverse effects and safet
risks; and (iii) evaluate preliminarily the effigaof the drug for specific targeted indications. INple Phase 2 clinical trials may be conductedtisy
sponsor to obtain information prior to beginninggker and more expensive Phase 3 clinical trialasP8 trials, commonly referred to as pivotal
studies, are undertaken in an expanded patientgtogpuat multiple, geographically dispersed clalitrial centers to further evaluate clinical effioy
and test further for safety by using the drug érfiihal form. There can be no assurance that PhaBbase 2 or Phase 3 testing will be completed
successfully within any specified period of timfeati all. Furthermore, the Company, the FDA or BB Imay suspend clinical trials at any time on
various grounds, including a finding that the sotyeor patients are being exposed to an unaccephablth risk. Moreover, the FDA may approve an
NDA for a product candidate, but require that thersor conduct additional clinical trie
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to further assess the drug after NDA approval uadeost-approval commitment. Post-approval triedstgpically referred to as Phase 4 clinical trials

During the development of a new drug, sponsorgi&en an opportunity to meet with the FDA at certpoints. These points may be prior to
submission of an IND, at the end of Phase 2, afmt®an NDA is submitted. Meetings at other times/rbe requested. These meetings can provi
opportunity for the sponsor to share informationwtihe data gathered to date, for the FDA to pl®wadvice, and for the sponsor and the FDA to
reach an agreement on the next phase of developBoisors typically use the end of Phase 2 metdidgscuss their Phase 2 clinical results and
present their plans for the pivotal Phase 3 clirtical that they believe will support approvaltbe new drug. If a Phase 3 clinical trial is théjsat of
discussion at an end of Phase 2 meeting with th&, B3ponsor may be able to request a Special €rofssessment, the purpose of which is to reach
an agreement with the FDA on the design of the @Badinical trial protocol design and analysisttivdl form the primary basis of an efficacy claim.

If such an agreement is reached, it will be docusgeand made part of the administrative record,iewil be binding on the FDA unless public
health concerns unrecognized at the time of thiopob assessment are evident, and may not be cti@axgept under a few specific circumstances.

Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usuatmplete additional animal safety studies and ralsst develop additional information about
the chemistry and physical characteristics of thugdnd finalize a process for manufacturing thedpct in accordance with cGMP requirements. The
manufacturing process must be capable of consigtertducing quality batches of the drug candidatd the manufacturer must develop methods for
testing the quality, purity and potency of the fideugs. Additionally, appropriate packaging mustdelected and tested and stability studies must be
conducted to demonstrate that the drug candidase dot undergo unacceptable deterioration ovehit-life.

Assuming successful completion of the requiredicdintesting, the results of the pre-clinical sagland of the clinical studies, together with
other detailed information, including information the manufacture and composition of the drugsabenitted to the FDA in the form of an NDA
requesting approval to market the product for aneare indications. An NDA must be accompanied Isygaificant user fee, which is waived for the
first NDA submitted by a qualifying small business.

The testing and approval process requires subataintie, effort and financial resources. The agaesyews the application and may deem it to
be inadequate to support the registration, and eoiep cannot be sure that any approval will betgchon a timely basis, if at all. The FDA may also
refer the application to the appropriate advisammittee, typically a panel of clinicians, for rew, evaluation and a recommendation as to whether
the application should be approved. The FDA ishmatnd by the recommendations of the advisory cotemjibut it typically follows such
recommendations.

Before approving an NDA, the FDA usually will ingpehe facility or the facilities at which the driggmanufactured and will not approve the
product unless the manufacturing is in complianité eGMPs. If the FDA evaluates the NDA and the ofanturing facilities are deemed acceptable,
the FDA may issue an approval letter, or in songesaan approvable letter followed by an appraatstt. Both letters usually contain a number of
conditions that must be met in order to securd iparoval of the NDA. When and if those conditidvave been met to the FDA'’s satisfaction, the
FDA will issue an approval letter. The approvaldetiuthorizes commercial marketing of the drugsfeecific indications. As a condition of NDA
approval, the FDA may require post-marketing tgstind surveillance to monitor the drug’s safetgfficacy, or impose other conditions.

The FDA may deny approval of an NDA by issuing arfptete Response Letter if the applicable regulatoitgria are not satisfied. A Complete
Response Letter may require additional clinicahdatd/or an additional pivotal Phase 3 clinicall¢s), and/or other significant, expensive and time
consuming requirements related to clinical triptg-clinical studies or manufacturing. Data fronmichl trials are not always conclusive and the FDA
may interpret data differently than we or our cofleators interpret data. Alternatively, approvalymacur with Risk Evaluation and Mitigation
Strategies, or REMS, which limit the labeling, distition or promotion of a drug product. Once is§ube FDA may withdraw product approval if
ongoing regulatory requirements are not met oafiéty problems occur after the product reachesriduket. In addition, the FDA may require testing,
including Phase 4 clinical trials, and surveillapcegrams to monitor the safety effects of apprgwexiucts which have been commercialized, and the
FDA has the power to prevent or limit further maitkg of a product based on the results of thesepasketing programs or other information.
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Expedited Review and Approv@ihe FDA has various programs, including Fast Traciarity review and accelerated approval, which ar
intended to expedite or simplify the process foie®ing drugs, and/or provide for approval on tlasib of surrogate endpoints. Even if a drug qes
for one or more of these programs, the FDA may kd¢eide that the drug no longer meets the conditfor qualification or that the time period for
FDA review or approval will be shortened. Generadlsugs that may be eligible for these programgfaoee for serious or life-threatening conditions,
those with the potential to address unmet medieatis, and those that offer meaningful benefits existing treatments. For example, Fast Track is a
process designed to facilitate the developmentexpedite the review of drugs to treat seriousaties and fill an unmet medical need. Priority nevie
is designed to give drugs that offer major advaitésatment or provide a treatment where no aatgiherapy exists an initial review within 6
months as compared to a standard review time ofid@ths. Although Fast Track and priority reviewrdu affect the standards for approval, the FDA
will attempt to facilitate early and frequent megsg with a sponsor of a Fast Track designated andgexpedite review of the application for a drug
designated for priority review. Accelerated appitquavides an earlier approval of drugs to treaises diseases, and that fill an unmet medical need
based on a surrogate endpoint, which is a labgrat@asurement or physical sign used as an indiresibstitute measurement representing a
clinically meaningful outcome. As a condition ofpapval, the FDA may require that a sponsor of aydaceiving accelerated approval perform post-
marketing clinical trials.

Post-Approval Requirement®ften times, even after a drug has been apprbyede FDA for sale, the FDA may require that derfzost-
approval requirements be satisfied, including threduct of additional clinical studies. In additi@ertain changes to an approved product, such as
adding new indications, making certain manufactuchanges, or making certain additional labeliragnes, are subject to further FDA review and
approval. Before a company can market productadditional indications, it must obtain additionppaovals from the FDA, typically a new NDA.
Obtaining approval for a new indication generadiguires that additional clinical studies be conddcA company cannot be sure that any additional
approval for new indications for any product camdédwill be approved on a timely basis, or at all.

If post-approval conditions are not satisfied, Bi®A may withdraw its approval of the drug. In adulit, holders of an approved NDA are
required to: (i) report certain adverse reactianthe FDA and maintain pharmacovigilance prograomsrpactively look for these adverse events,
(ii) comply with certain requirements concerningeadising and promotional labeling for their protjand (iii) continue to have quality control and
manufacturing procedures conform to cGMPs afteramd. The FDA periodically inspects the sponsoesords related to safety reporting and/or
manufacturing facilities; this latter effort inclesl assessment of ongoing compliance with cGMPsomlangly, manufacturers must continue to exp
time, money and effort in the area of productiod gnality control to maintain cGMP compliance. \k&end to use third-party manufacturers to
produce our products in clinical and commercialmgiti@s, and future FDA inspections may identifyrgaiance issues at the facilities of our contract
manufacturers that may disrupt production or distiibn, or require substantial resources to cortecddition, discovery of problems with a product
after approval may result in restrictions on a pidmanufacturer or holder of an approved NDAIluding recall of the product from the market or
withdrawal of approval of the NDA for that drug.

Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Exclusivitgpending upon the timing, duration and specifitcB@A approval of the use of our drugs,
some of our U.S. patents may be eligible for lihipatent term extension under the Drug Price Coitigpetand Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984,
referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Amendments. Theh-Mtaxman Amendments permit a patent restoration & up to five years as compensation
for patent term lost during product development gnedFDA regulatory review process. However, patemh restoration cannot extend the remaining
term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years froengtoduct’s approval date. The patent term restorgteriod is generally one-half the time between
the effective date of an IND, and the submissiale ddan NDA, plus the time between the submisdiate of an NDA and the approval of that
application. Only one patent applicable to an apgdadrug is eligible for the extension and the esien must be applied for prior to expiration of th
patent. The USPTO, in consultation with the FDAjjea/s and approves the application for any patemt textension or restoration. In the future, we
intend to apply for restorations of patent termdome of our currently owned or licensed patentsdt patent life beyond their current expiratioteda
depending on the expected length of clinical tréaid other factors involved in the submission efrievant NDA.
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Data and market exclusivity provisions under theClRDalso can delay the submission or the approvakahin applications. The FDCA
provides a five-year period of non-patent datawsieity within the United States to the first agplnt to gain approval of an NDA for a new chemical
entity. A drug is a new chemical entity if the FIDAs not previously approved any other new drugatoimg the same active moiety, which is the
molecule or ion responsible for the action of thegdsubstance. During the exclusivity period, tBBAFmay not accept for review an abbreviated new
drug application, or ANDA, or a 505(b)(2) NDA sulitad by another company for another version of siraly where the applicant does not own or
have a legal right of reference to all the dataiiregl for approval. However, an application mayshbmitted after four years if it contains a
certification of patent invalidity or non-infringeant. The FDCA also provides three years of margegixclusivity for an NDA, 505(b)(2) NDA or
supplement to an existing NDA if new clinical intigations, other than bioavailability studies, thegre conducted or sponsored by the applicant are
deemed by the FDA to be essential to the apprdvthlecapplication, for example, for new indicatipdssages or strengths of an existing drug. This
three-year exclusivity covers only the conditiossariated with the new clinical investigations d@oés not prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs
or 505(b)(2) NDAs for drugs containing the origieative agent. Five-year and thrgear exclusivity will not delay the submission @peoval of a ful
NDA; however, an applicant submitting a full NDA wld be required to conduct or obtain a right oérefice to all of the p-clinical studies and
adequate and well-controlled clinical trials neeegto demonstrate safety and effectiveness.

Foreign Regulatior

In addition to regulations in the United States,wikbe subject to a variety of foreign regulatsiogoverning clinical trials and commercial sales
and distribution of our products. Whether or notatain FDA approval for a product, we must obigiproval by the comparable regulatory
authorities of foreign countries before we can camnae clinical trials and approval of foreign colggror economic areas, such as the EU, before we
may market products in those countries or areas.approval process and requirements governingaheuct of clinical trials, product licensing,
pricing and reimbursement vary greatly from plazelace, and the time may be longer or shorter thanrequired for FDA approval.

In the European Economic Area, or EEA (which is pased of the 27 member states of the EU, or Mersitetes, plus Norway, Iceland and
Liechtenstein), medicinal products can only be cammalized after obtaining a Marketing Authorizatior MA. There are two types of marketing
authorizations:

e The Community MA, which is issued by the Europeam@ission through th€entralized Procedurgbased on the opinion of the
Committee for Medicinal Products for Human UseCotMP, of the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, aridch is valid throughout
the entire territory of the EEA. The Centralized¢&dure is mandatory for certain types of produsish as biotechnology medicinal
products, orphan medicinal products, and medignadlucts indicated for the treatment of AIDS, canoeurodegenerative disorders,
diabetes, auto-immune and viral diseases. The &leetd Procedure is optional for products contagjramew active substance not yet
authorized in the EEA, or for products that congtita significant therapeutic, scientific or tedahiinnovation or which are in the interest
of public health in the EL

* National MAs, which are issued by the competentarities of the Member States of the EEA and owolyer their respective territory, a
available for products not falling within the maialy scope of the Centralized Procedure. Wheredymt has already been authorized for
marketing in a Member State of the EEA, this NagldWlA can be recognized in another Member Stateuidpin theMutual Recognition
Procedure. If the product has not received a National MAity Member State at the time of application, it barapproved
simultaneously in various Member States througlteeentralized Procedure. Under tecentralized Procedurean identical dossier is
submitted to the competent authorities of eacthefMember States in which the MA is sought, onelaith is selected by the applicant as
the Reference Member State. The competent auttafritye Reference Member State prepares a drasssent report, a draft summary
of the product characteristics, or SPC, and a dfafte labeling and package leaflet, which ard sethe other Member States (referred to
as the Member States Concerned) for their apprétitlle Member States Concerned raise no objectimsed on a potential serious ris
public health, to the assessment, SPC, labelifokaging proposed by the Reference Member Steggarbduct is subsequently grante
National MA in all the Member States (i.e., in RReference Member State and the Member States CGrate
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Under the above described procedures, before gratite MA, the EMA or the competent authoritiestef Member States of the EEA make an
assessment of the risk-benefit balance of the mtasluthe basis of scientific criteria concernitgyguality, safety and efficacy.

As in the United States, it may be possible inifpreountries to obtain a period of market andatadexclusivity that would have the effect of
postponing the entry into the marketplace of a aatitgr’s generic product. For example, if any of puoducts receive marketing approval in the EEA,
we expect they will benefit from 8 years of datalagivity and 10 years of marketing exclusivity. Additional non-cumulative one-year period of
marketing exclusivity is possible if during the aa&xclusivity period (the first 8 years of the Xay marketing exclusivity period), we obtain an
authorization for one or more new therapeutic iatlans that are deemed to bring a significant céihbenefit compared to existing therapies. Tha dat
exclusivity period begins on the date of the praduirst marketing authorization in the EU and yeats generics from relying on the marketing
authorization holder’s pharmacological, toxicoladiand clinical data for a period of 8 years. AReyears, a generic product application may be
submitted and generic companies may rely on thé&etiag authorization holder’'s data. However, a gieneannot launch until 2 years later (or a total
of 10 years after the first marketing authorizaiiothe EU of the innovator product), or 3 yeateddor a total of 11 years after the first manketi
authorization in the EU of the innovator produ€thie marketing authorization holder obtains marigtuthorization for a new indication with
significant clinical benefit within the 8 year daaclusivity period. In Japan our products may ligit#e for eight years of data exclusivity. Theran
be no assurance that we will qualify for such ratpry exclusivity, or that such exclusivity willgrent competitors from seeking approval solely on
the basis of their own studies.

When conducting clinical trials in the EU, we madhere to the provisions of the EU Clinical TriBisective and the laws and regulations of
EU Member States implementing them. These provisiequire, among other things, that the prior aighton of an Ethics Committee and the
competent Member State authority is obtained beforemencing the clinical trial.

Pricing and Reimburseme

In the United States and internationally, salegrofiucts that we market in the future, and ouritghiib generate revenues on such sales, are
dependent, in significant part, on the availabitifyadequate coverage and reimbursement from gartl payors such as state and federal
governments, managed care providers and privateanse plans. Private insurers, such as healthtemgince organizations and managed care
providers, have implemented cost-cutting and rensdament initiatives and likely will continue to do in the future. These include establishing
formularies that govern the drugs and biologics itk be offered and also the out-pbcket obligations of member patients for such potsl We ma
need to conduct pharmacoeconomic studies to denatasihe cost effectiveness of our products famfdary coverage and reimbursement. Even with
studies, our products may be considered lessleateeffective or less cost-effective than exispngducts, and third-party payors may not provide
coverage and reimbursement for our product canelid@t whole or in part.

In addition, particularly in the United States andreasingly in other countries, we are requiredrwvide discounts and pay rebates to state and
federal governments and agencies in connectionputbhases of our products that are reimbursedibly entities. It is possible that future legislatio
in the United States and other jurisdictions cdagdenacted which could potentially impact the reilmbment rates for the products we are developing
and may develop in the future and also could furifmpact the levels of discounts and rebates gafdderal and state government entities. Any
legislation that impacts these areas could impaet,significant way, our ability to generate reuves from sales of products that, if successfully
developed, we bring to market.

Political, economic and regulatory influences arejacting the healthcare industry in the Unitededtdo fundamental changes. There have been
and we expect there will continue to be, legisktwnd regulatory proposals to change the healtlsgatem in ways that could significantly affect our
future business. For example, the Patient Proteetiml Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Heé2dile and Education Affordability
Reconciliation Act, or collectively, the PPACA, etad in March 2010, substantially changes the welthcare is financed by both governmental and
private insurers. Among other cost containment iness PPACA establishes:

« an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity thatufeartures or imports certain branded prescriptiags and biologic agent
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* anew Medicare Part D coverage gap discount pragramhich pharmaceutical manufacturers who wishawe their drugs covered under
Part D must offer discounts to eligible benefi@arduring their coverage gap period, or the doolg;and

» anew formula that increases the rebates a manwéachust pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Prog

In the future, there may continue to be additiggrabosals relating to the reform of the U.S. heath system. Future legislation, including the
current versions being considered at the fedeval e the United States or regulatory actions enpénting recent or future legislation, may have a
significant effect on our business. Our abilitysteccessfully commercialize products depends ingrathe extent to which reimbursement for the costs
of our products and related treatments will be latég in the United States and worldwide from goweent health administration authorities, private
health insurers and other organizations. Becawsadbption of certain proposals could limit theeges we are able to charge for our products, or the
amounts of reimbursement available for our produanis could limit the acceptance and availabilitpar products, substantial uncertainty existsoas t
the reimbursement status of newly approved health products by third-party payors.

Sales and Marketing

The FDA regulates all advertising and promotionvé@s for products under its jurisdiction bothigarto and after approval, including standards
and regulations for direct-to-consumer advertist@igsemination of off-label information, industrgemsored scientific and educational activities and
promotional activities involving the Internet. Dsughay be marketed only for the approved indicatemd in accordance with the provisions of the
approved label. Further, if there are any modifarat to the drug, including changes in indicatidabeling, or manufacturing processes or faciljties
we may be required to submit and obtain FDA apgdrof/a new or supplemental NDA, which may requisetal collect additional data or conduct
additional pre-clinical studies and clinical trigfsilure to comply with applicable FDA requirem&ntay subject a company to adverse publicity,
enforcement action by the FDA, corrective advergsiconsent decrees and the full range of civil airdinal penalties available to the FDA.

Physicians may prescribe legally available drugsifes that are not described in the drug’s lagelimd that differ from those tested by us and
approved by the FDA. Such off-label uses are comawwass medical specialties, and often reflectysiplan’s belief that the off-label use is the best
treatment for the patients. The FDA does not reégutze behavior of physicians in their choice ehtments, but FDA regulations do impose stringent
restrictions on manufacturers’ communications rdigay off-label uses. Failure to comply with appb&aFDA requirements may subject a company to
adverse publicity, enforcement action by the FD&yective advertising, consent decrees and thednlje of civil and criminal penalties available to
the FDA.

Outside the United States, our ability to markpt@duct is contingent upon obtaining marketing atiation from the appropriate regulatory
authorities. The requirements governing marketimp@rization, pricing and reimbursement vary widiggm country to country.

We may also be subject to various federal and &wate pertaining to health care “fraud and abuseluding antikickback laws and false clair
laws. Anti-kickback laws make it illegal for a poeiption drug manufacturer to solicit, offer, reaei or pay any remuneration in exchange for, or to
induce, the referral of business, including thechase or prescription of a particular drug. Duthtobreadth of the statutory provisions and themad:
of guidance in the form of regulations and very fawrt decisions addressing industry practicds,possible that our practices might be challenged
under anti-kickback or similar laws. False claim$ prohibit anyone from knowingly and willinglygsenting, or causing to be presented for paymen
to third-party payors (including Medicare and Medit) claims for reimbursed drugs or services thatfalse or fraudulent, claims for items or sersice
not provided as claimed, or claims for medicallypecessary items or services. Our activities rejatinthe sale and marketing of our products may be
subject to scrutiny under these laws.

Violations of fraud and abuse laws may be punighallcriminal and/or civil sanctions, includingdmand civil monetary penalties, the
possibility of exclusion from federal health caregrams (including Medicare and Medicaid) and caapwintegrity agreements, which impose, ar
other things, rigorous operational and monitorieguirements on companies. Similar sanctions andlfies also can be imposed upon executive
officers
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and employees, including criminal sanctions agamstutive officers under the so-called “respormsddrporate officer” doctrine, even in situations
where the executive officer did not intend to vielthe law and was unaware of any wrongdoing. Gilierpenalties that can be imposed on compi
and individuals if convicted, allegations of sucéblations often result in settlements even if tbenpany or individual being investigated admits no
wrongdoing. Settlements often include significantl sanctions, including fines and civil monetggnalties, and corporate integrity agreement$el
government was to allege or convict us or our etreewfficers of violating these laws, our businessild be harmed. In addition, private individuals
have the ability to bring similar actions. Our sities could be subject to challenge for the reastiacussed above and due to the broad scopesaf the
laws and the increasing attention being given ¢ontiby law enforcement authorities. Further, theran increasing number of state laws that require
manufacturers to provide reports to states onrggieind marketing information. Many of these lawstam ambiguities as to what is required to
comply with the laws. Given the lack of claritylaws and their implementation, our reporting acticould be subject to the penalty provisions of the
pertinent state authorities.

Other Laws and Regulatory Processes

We are subject to a variety of financial disclosane securities trading regulations as a publicgamg in the United States, including laws
relating to the oversight activities of the Sedesitand Exchange Commission, or SEC, and, if opitadestock becomes listed on a national securities
exchange, we will be subject to the regulationsuwth exchange on which our shares are tradedditiad the Financial Accounting Standards Board,
or FASB, the SEC, and other bodies that have jigtisth over the form and content of our accounts,fonancial statements and other public
disclosure are constantly discussing and intempggiroposals and existing pronouncements designedsure that companies best display relevan
transparent information relating to their respestivsinesses.

Our present and future business has been andomtiintie to be subject to various other laws andlegpns. Various laws, regulations and
recommendations relating to safe working conditidgsoratory practices, the experimental use ahafs, and the purchase, storage, movement,
import and export and use and disposal of hazardopsetentially hazardous substances used in ctionesith our research work are or may be
applicable to our activities. Certain agreementered into by us involving exclusive license rightsacquisitions may be subject to national or
supranational antitrust regulatory control, theefffof which cannot be predicted. The extent ofegoment regulation, which might result from future
legislation or administrative action, cannot actelsabe predicted.

Employees

As of January 23, 2012, we employ 27 full-time eoypks. To successfully develop our drug candidatesnust be able to attract and retain
highly skilled personnel. We anticipate hiring op2tl additional full-time employees devoted to eesk and development activities and up to 3
additional full-time employees for general and audistrative activities over the next few years. diaigion, we intend to use clinical research
organizations and third parties to perform ouricihstudies and manufacturing.

Properties

We lease approximately 13,254 square feet of offface in the building located at 10880 WilshireiBward for use as our corporate
headquarters. Our lease commenced in Decembera2@llterminates in December 2018, with an optioextend for an additional five-year term. We
believe that our existing office space is adeqtmteeet current and anticipated future requiremantsthat additional or substitute space will be
available as needed to accommodate any expansiansur operations require.
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Legal Proceedings
We are not currently involved in any material legedceedings.

Corporate History

We were incorporated on April 27, 2007 in Delawander the name “Innovative Acquisitions Corp.” Uittie consummation of the Merger on
October 4, 2011, we were a “shell” company with mahassets and no operations.

On September 29, 2011, we entered into an AgreeamehPlan of Merger with IAC Merger CorporatiorDelaware corporation and our
wholly-owned subsidiary, or Merger Sub, and PunmaGtober 4, 2011, Merger Sub merged with andftma, and Puma, as the surviving entity,
became our wholly-owned subsidiary. In this prosggove refer to the merger between Merger SubPamda as the “Merger.” The Merger was
effective as of October 4, 2011, upon the filingaafertificate of merger with the Secretary of &wtthe State of Delaware.

Immediately prior to the consummation of the Merdgarma completed a private placement pursuanStecarities Purchase Agreement dated
October 4, 2011 with certain institutional and &dited investors. In this prospectus, we refehi® private placement as the “Initial Financing.”
Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, Baldd 4,666,733 shares of its common stock aice per share of $3.75 for aggregate gross
proceeds of approximately $55 million. Puma alsoiésl a warrant to each investor that provided suastor with anti-dilution protection in regard to
certain issuances of securities. Following thedhKinancing, Puma had 18,666,733 shares of itsngon stock issued and outstanding.

At the effective time of the Merger, each shar@wofa’s common stock outstanding prior to the effedime was cancelled and automatically
converted into the right to receive one share ofcounmon stock as consideration for the Merger,ad result, we simultaneously issued to Puma’s
former stockholders an aggregate of 18,666,733sta&rour common stock. In connection with the Mergve also assumed all of Pusautstandini
warrants as well as an unsecured convertible psanisote for $150,000 held by Mr. Auerbach, whiehsubsequently converted in accordance with
its terms to 40,000 shares of our common stock.

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse acaquisitith Puma as the accounting acquirer and useakegal acquirer. Upon completion of the
Merger, all of our directors and officers priorttk® Merger resigned and the directors and offioéRBuma became our directors and officers. In
addition, the business plan of Puma became ounéssiplan.

Following the closing of the Merger, pursuant te tarms of a Redemption Agreement dated Octoh2041,, or the Redemption Agreement,
between us and our stockholders immediately poidhé Merger, we completed the repurchase of areggte 3,000,000 shares of common stock
our former stockholders in consideration of an aggte of $40,000, plus professional costs relatele transaction of $40,000. The 3,000,000 shares
constituted all of the issued and outstanding shaf®ur common stock, on a fully-diluted basismediately prior to the Merger. Upon completion of
the Merger and the redemption, the former stocldrsldf Puma held 100% of the outstanding sharesiofommon stock.

As a final step in the reverse merger processboard of directors approved a short-form mergesyamt to which Puma merged with and into
us, leaving us as the surviving corporation. Inreation with the short-form merger, we relinquisloed corporate name and assumed in its place the
name “Puma Biotechnology, Inc.” The short-form negrgnd name change became effective on Octob&14, 2pon the filing of a Certificate of
Ownership and Merger with the Secretary of StatthefState of Delaware.

On November 18, 2011, we entered into subscrigneements with 139 accredited investors, includingmas R. Malley, one of our directc
pursuant to which we sold in a private placemeraggregate of 1,333,267 shares of our common std@kprice per share of $3.75. In this prospe
we refer to this private placement as the “SubseigEmancing.” We received aggregate gross procetdpproximately $5.0 million in the
Subsequent Financing. Our issuance of shares afayomon stock in the Subsequent Financing was eix&omp registration under Section 4(2) of the
Securities Act, and Rule 506 of Regulation D pragatgd thereunder, inasmuch as the shares werelissaecredited investors without any form of
general solicitation or general advertising. Lelei@wann LLC acted as lead placement agent and iNdtigecurities Corporation acted aspt@aeemen
agent in
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connection with the Subsequent Financing and reded@mpensation of approximately $84,000 and $080 @spectively.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion contains forward-lookingtements that involve risks and uncertainties. &etual results may differ materially from
those discussed in the forward looking statemesnts i@sult of various factors, including, withoimitation, those set forth in “Risk Factors,”
“Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Lookingt8taents” and other matters included elsewhere i phospectus. The following discussion of
our financial condition and results of operatiord®sld be read in conjunction with our financial 'ments and the notes thereto included elsewh:
this prospectus.

Overview

We are a development stage company and have nagirsales to date and we will not receive any pcbdales until we receive approval from
the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory bodiebégin selling our drug candidates. Developing qudducts, however, is a lengthy and very
expensive process. Assuming we do not encounteuaioyeseen safety issues during the course ofilggimg our drug candidates, we do not expe
complete the development of a drug candidate feerse years, if at all. Currently, we expect a &apprtion of our development expenses to relate to
our lead drug candidate, neratinib (oral). As wacped with the clinical development of neratinita(pand as we further develop neratinib
(intravenous) and PB357, our second and third daunglidates, respectively, our research and developexpenses will further increase. To the ex
we are successful in acquiring additional drug adates for our development pipeline, our needrarice further research and development will
continue increasing. Accordingly, our success ddpemt only on the safety and efficacy of our decagdidates, but also on our ability to finance the
development of the products.

We were originally incorporated in the State of &ehre in April 2007 under the name Innovative Asgigns Corp. We were a “shelfbmpan
registered under the Exchange Act with no spebifisiness plan or purpose until we acquired Pumge&imology, Inc., or Puma, through a merger
transaction. Puma was a development stage compamgd in September 2010 focused primarily on agggiand developing pharmaceutical
technologies and recruiting personnel. As a resfittie Merger, Puma become our wholly-owned subsydind subsequently merged with and into us.
Upon effectiveness of the Merger, our prior businglan was abandoned and we adopted the busirmssffPuma.

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse acquisithereby Puma is deemed to be the acquirer musting and financial reporting purpo
and we are deemed to be the acquired party. Coestiguthe assets and liabilities and the histbogerations that will be reflected in the finaricia
statements prior to the Merger will be those of Rwand will be recorded at the historical cost baSBuma, and the consolidated financial statements
after completion of the Merger will include the etssand liabilities of us and Puma, historical afiens of Puma and operations of us beginning e
closing date of the Merger. As a result, all th&drical financial information reported in this ppeectus is the financial information of Puma unless
otherwise indicated.

The merger of a private operating company intor&operating public shell corporation with nominat assets is considered to be a capital
transaction, in substance, rather than a busireabioation, for accounting purposes. Accordinglg, tneated this transaction as a capital transaction
without recording goodwill or adjusting any of aather assets or liabilities. The consideratiorhijmamount of $40,000 paid to our former stockha
will be recorded as an other expense item anddeclun our net loss for the period ending Decen3lie2011.

Results of Operations
The following discussion summarizes the key factansmanagement believes are necessary for ansiadding of Puma’financial statement
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2011 and .
Operating expenses

For the nine months ended September 30, 2011, topexpenses were $372,140 compared to $6,63héanine months ended September 30,
2010. The $372,140 is primarily attributable todeand travel expenditures associated with exegutiticense agreement with Pfizer and executing a
reverse merger.

Other Expense

For the nine months ended September 30, 2011, haunaed $13,500 of other expense representind legek performed by the legal firm
representing us in connection with the Merger Agreet, which Puma agreed to pay pursuant to the dekgreement.

Period Ended December 31, 2C
Operating Expenses

For the period from September 15, 2010 (date afption) to December 31, 2010, operating expenses $&931. Puma commenced operations
on September 15, 2010 and its expenses for thedpeniding December 31, 2010 represent legal feseeiased with its incorporation.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Management believes that we will continue to inosses for the foreseeable future. Therefore wieitiler need additional equity or debt
financing, or we will need to generate revenue fthmlicensing of our products or by entering istiategic alliances to sustain our operations wi
can achieve profitability and positive cash flowsnfi operating activities, if ever. Our continuecgions will depend on whether we are able teerais
additional funds through various potential soursegh as equity and debt financing. Such additibtmads may not become available on acceptable
terms, if at all, and we cannot assure you thatatdjtional funding we do obtain will be sufficielotmeet our needs in the long term.

From inception to September 30, 2011, Puma incuaredggregate net loss of approximately $392,60@\gpily as a result of expenses incurred
through a combination of legal and travel cost®eissed with negotiating a licensing agreementthedVierger Agreement.

Puma financed its operations from inception to Seyier 30, 2011 primarily through a stockholder lead capital contributions. Total cash
resources as of September 30, 2011 were approXin&#®,500 compared to $0 at December 31, 2010inQuhe nine months ended September 30,
2011, Puma experienced an increase in cash andqashalents of approximately $25,500 from a stattter advance of $150,000.

On October 4, 2011, immediately prior to the Merdrerma entered into a securities purchase agreemithntertain accredited and institutional
investors pursuant to which Puma sold a total g8@8,733 shares of common stock in a private plac¢mffering at a price of $3.75 per share, for
gross proceeds of approximately $55 million befdeducting selling commissions and expenses. Irtiaddbn November 18, 2011, we closed a
private placement with certain accredited invespansuant to which we sold a total of 1,333,26 tehaf common stock at a price of $3.75 per share,
for gross proceeds of approximately $5 million. Bédieve that the net proceeds from these offenmitide sufficient to meet our capital needs for at
least the next 12 months.

We will continue to fund operations from cash ondhand through the similar sources of capital presfly described. We can give no assurance
that such capital will be available to us on faladeaterms or at all. If we are unable to raise toidal funds in the future on acceptable termstall,
we may be forced to curtail our desired developmieraddition we could be forced to delay or digomre product development, and forego attractive
business opportunities. Any additional sourcesradrfcing will likely involve the sale of our equisgcurities, which will have a dilutive effect oaro
stockholders.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of September 30, 2011, Puma did not have anbaléince sheet arrangements.

Plan of Operation

Our plan of operation for the year ending Decen®3dgr2012 is to continue implementing our businésgeyy, including the clinical
development of our three drug candidates, focugiigarily on the development of neratinib for theatment of breast cancer. We also intend to
expand our drug candidate portfolio by acquirindiidnal drug technologies for development. We exmair principal expenditures during the nex
months to include:

* operating expenses, including expanded researclearelopment and general and administrative exgeasel
» product development expenses, including the costsiied with respect to applications to condugticdil trials in the United States for our
three products and the costs of ongoing and plaoli@dal trials.

Puma incurred negative cash flow from operationsesit started its business, and we expect tomoatio spend substantial amounts in
connection with implementing Puma’s business gsgticluding our planned product development a$foour clinical trials, and our research and
discovery efforts. As part of our planned expansiea anticipate hiring up to 21 additional full-enremployees devoted to research and development
activities and up to 3 additional full-time emplegefor general and administrative activities. lditidn, we intend to use clinical research
organizations and third parties to perform ouricihstudies and manufacturing. At our current deslired pace of clinical development of our three
drug candidates, during the remaining months 0220% expect to spend approximately $27 milliorctmical development and research and
development activities, approximately $6.3 milliom general and administrative expenses and appabeiyn$0.5 million on facilities rent.

Additionally, we expect to spend approximately $880 on capital expenditures.

However, the actual amount of funds we will needgerate is subject to many factors, some of whrehbeyond our control. These factors
include the following:

» the progress of our research activit|

» the number and scope of our research progr

» the progress of our g-clinical and clinical development activitie

» the progress of the development efforts of paxigs whom we have entered into research and deweop agreement

* our ability to maintain current research and depelent programs and to establish new research amaogenent and licensing
arrangements

» the cost involved in prosecuting and enforcing padtaims and other intellectual property rightsgl.
» the cost and timing of regulatory approv:

We have based our estimate on assumptions thaproag to be wrong. We may need to obtain additifunadls sooner than planned or in
greater amounts than we currently anticipate. Rialesources of financing include strategic relasibips, public or private sales of equity or detit a
other sources. We may seek to access the pulflicvate equity markets when conditions are favaahle to our long-term capital requirements.
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Our continued operations will depend on whetherveeable to raise additional funds through varjpatential sources, such as equity and debt
financing. We plan to fund operations from casthand and through the similar sources of capitatipusly described. We can give no assurance:
any additional capital that we are able to obtaihbe sufficient to meet our needs.

We do not have any committed sources of financirtbia time, and it is uncertain whether additiohedding will be available when we need it
on terms that will be acceptable to us, or atlflle raise funds by selling additional sharesahenon stock or other securities convertible into
common stock, the ownership interest of our exgstitockholders will be diluted. If we are not atdeobtain financing when needed, we may be ur
to carry out our business plan. As a result, we heae to significantly limit our operations and dwisiness, financial condition and results of
operations would be materially harmed.

Research and Development Proje

Neratinib (oral). We plan to conduct additional clinical trialsradratinib in patients with HER2 positive metastatieast cancer over the next
to 18 months. In one trial, we plan to further istigate the efficacy of neratinib when given in ddnation with chemotherapy in patients with HER2
positive metastatic breast cancer who have preljidieen treated with at least one prior line o&tneent. In another, we plan to investigate thecatiy
of neratinib (oral) in patients with HER2 positireetastatic breast cancer with brain metastasesviValso continue the ongoing trial of neratinib
when given in combination with the anti-cancer dieigsirolimus in patients with HER2 positive megaistbreast cancer. We will also continue the
two ongoing studies investigating the use of neifaths a neoadjuvant (preoperative) therapy for BIRBsitive breast cancer.

We also plan to conduct Phase Il clinical trialsiefatinib (oral) in HER2 positive metastatic gastancer patients and in patients with HER4
mutated melanoma during 2012.

Pfizer had previously been sponsoring two ongaattg $tage clinical trials of neratinib (oral), t(NEfERTT trial and the ExteNET trial. On
October 5, 2011, we announced that enrollmenterExteNET trial is being terminated and that botNEfERTT and the ExteNET trials were going
to be wound down. We are responsible for any dmassociated with winding down these trialsmiy2012 and beyond.

We expect that it will take at least four yearsoonplete development and obtain FDA approval oétieib (oral) for any indication, and we
never obtain such approval. Currently, we antigphtt we will need to expend approximately an @atthl $20 to $25 million in development costs
through fiscal 2012 and at least an aggregate mfopmately $80 to $100 million before we receiM@A~approval for neratinib for treatment of breast
cancer.

Neratinib (intravenous) We also intend to develop neratinib as an intnausly administered agent. In pre-clinical studiesintravenous
version of neratinib resulted in higher exposuxkele of neratinib in pre-clinical models. We bebketat this may result in higher blood levels of
neratinib in patients, which may translate intadreefficacy. We plan to file the IND for the intenous formulation of neratinib in 2012.

We expect that it will take an additional sevemitze years to complete development and obtain FR#&aval of neratinib (intravenous), if ever.
Currently, we anticipate that we will need to exph@pproximately an additional $2 to $7 million ievélopment costs through fiscal 2012 and at least
an aggregate of approximately $80 to $100 milliatilwe receive FDA approval for neratinib (intrancais) should we choose to continue
development.

PB357. PB357 is an orally administered agent that isr@versible TKI that blocks signal transductionaiigh the EGFRs, HER1, HER2 and
HERA4. PB 357 is structurally similar to neratinitdehas completed Phase | single dose pharmacakstatiies. We plan to consider our strategic
options for PB357 during 2012.

License Agreement Obligatio

In August 2011, Puma entered into an agreement®Nier pursuant to which Pfizer granted it a waiitde license for neratinib (oral), neratinib
(intravenous) and PB357. This license became éfeeon October 4, 2011 and, in connection withNtexger, we assumed Puma’s rights and
obligations under the license agreement. As coreide for these rights, the license agreementiregthat we make aggregate milestone
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payments of up to $187.5 million, payable uponableievement of certain milestones. Additionallyowld we commercialize any of the compounds or
any products containing any of these compoundsyiltée obligated to pay to Pfizer incremental aahtoyalties between approximately 10% and
20% of net sales of all such products, subjecettain reductions and offsets in some circumstar@asroyalty obligation continues, on a product by
product and country by country basis, until thedaf (i) the last to expire licensed patent cavgthe applicable licensed product in such coumtry,

(ii) the earlier of generic competition for sucbeihsed product reaching a certain level in suchtcpwr expiration of a certain time period aftestf
commercial sale of such licensed product in suecmtg. In the event that we sublicense any of tleesepounds to a third party, the same milestone
and royalty payments are required.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect repantedints of assets and liabilities as of the dateeobalance sheet and reported amounts of
expenses for the periods presented. Judgmentsaisodte made about the disclosure of contingeiitias. Accordingly, actual results could differ
significantly from those estimates. We believeftiilowing discussion addresses the accounting dlithat are necessary to understand and evaluate
our reported financial results.

Income Taxe

We follow FASB Accounting Standard Codification,A8C. ASC 740lncome Taxesyhich requires recognition of deferred tax assets a
liabilities for the expected future tax consequenaeevents that have been included in the finduisté@ements or tax returns. Under this method,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are based @differences between the financial statement andases of assets and liabilities using enacted ta
rates in effect for the year in which the differes@re expected to reverse. Deferred tax assetsdreed by a valuation allowance to the extent
management concludes it is more likely than nat e asset will not be realized. Deferred tax saed liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in tla@syin which those temporary differences are exgokbtt be recovered or settled.

The standard addresses the determination of whigthdxenefits claimed or expected to be claimed tax return should be recorded in the
financial statements. Under FASB ASC 740, we maggaize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax pasionly if it is more likely than not that the
tax position will be sustained on examination by thx authorities, based on the technical merite@position. The tax benefits recognized in the
financial statements from such a position shouldheasured based on the largest benefit that heeageg than fifty percent likelihood of being real
upon ultimate settlement. FASB ASC 740 also provigieidance on de-recognition, classification, egéand penalties on income taxes, accounting in
interim periods and requires increased disclosuethe date of adoption, and as of September @01 2nd December 31, 2010, Puma did not have a
liability for unrecognized tax uncertainties.

Our policy is to record interest and penalties poautain tax positions as income tax expense. Aeptember 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010,
Puma had no accrued interest or penalties relataddertain tax positions.

Net loss per shar

Basic net loss per common share is computed bylidiyinet loss applicable to common stockholderthbyweighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the periods predes required by FASB ASC 2@arnings Per ShareThere were no dilutive shares
outstanding at September 30, 2011 or December@1D.2

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
FASB issued the following accounting amendments:

In April 2010, the FASB issued amendments relatetthé revenue recognition method for milestone panysiin research and development
agreements. Under these amendments, entities desmanaaccounting policy election to recognize anpayt that is contingent upon the achievement
of a substantive milestone in its entirety in tlegipd in which the milestone is achieved. The ameertts are effective on a prospective basis for
milestones achieved in fiscal years, and interimiopls within those years, beginning on or aftereJuif, 2010, which means such amendments will
take effect beginning with the fiscal year startomgJanuary 1, 2011. The adoption of this stantlasdnot had a material impact on our financial
position, cash flow or results of operations.
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In October 2009, the FASB issued authoritative goa for arrangements with multiple deliveries. §halance will allow companies to
allocate consideration from contractual arrangesaninultiple deliverables arrangements in a matmegrbetter reflects the economics of the
transaction. The new guidance requires expandeéiajivee and quantitative disclosures and is effecfor fiscal years beginning on or after June 15,
2010. The adoption of this standard has not hadtanmal impact on our financial position, cash flomresults of operations.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure

In connection with the closing of the Merger, PKértified Public Accountants, a Professional Coriora or PKF, which was the independent
registered public accounting firm for Puma priothe Merger, became the independent registeredcpatztounting firm for us, and MaloneBailey,
LLP was dismissed as our independent registereticpatrounting firm. The decision to appoint PKFlalismiss MaloneBailey, LLP was
recommended, and subsequently approved, by oud lmbalirectors.

The reports of MaloneBailey, LLP on our financiedtements for the period ended December 31, 2ai aticontain an adverse opinion or a
disclaimer of opinion, and were not qualified ordified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounpngciples.

In connection with the audit of our financial statnts for the years ended December 31, 2009 anenfier 31, 2010 and through
MaloneBailey, LLP’s dismissal, there were no dissgnents with MaloneBailey, LLP on any matters aioaanting principles or practices, financial
statement disclosures, or auditing scope or praesdwhich if not resolved to MaloneBailey, LLPatisfaction would have caused MaloneBailey,
LLP to make reference to the matter in their report

In connection with our audited financial statemdotshe years ended December 31, 2009 and Dece3dib@010 through MaloneBailey, LLP’s
dismissal, there have been no reportable evenitstixt Company as set forth in Item 304(a)(1)(vViReulation S-K.

We requested that MaloneBailey, LLP furnish us witletter addressed to the SEC stating whethgrétes with the above statements. A copy of
the letter, dated December 1, 2011, is filed heteas Exhibit 16.1.
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MANAGEMENT AND DIRECTORS

Each executive officer and each member of our bo&directors shall serve until his successorésteld and qualified.

Name Age Position

Alan H. Auerbact 42 President, Chief Executive Officer and ChairmathefBoarc
Charles R. Eyle 63 Senior Vice President, Finance and Administratiod @reasure
Richard Phillips, Ph.C 57 Senior Vice President, Regulatory Affairs and Quyalssurance
Thomas R. Malle 42 Director

Alan H. Auerbach Mr. Auerbach has served as our Chairman of therdand as our President and Chief Executive Offitee the closing of
the Merger on October 4, 2011 and, prior to thedderserved in such capacity at Puma since itgtiae Prior to joining Puma, Mr. Auerbach
founded Cougar Biotechnology, Inc. in May 2003 aad/ed as its Chief Executive Officer, Presidemt amember of its board of directors until July
2009 when Cougar was acquired by Johnson & Johisom July 2009 until January 2010, Mr. Auerbaalvee as the Co-Chairman of the
Integration Steering Committee at Cougar (as gfaibbnson & Johnson) that provided leadership aredsight for the development and global
commercialization of Cougar’s lead drug candidatetaterone acetate, for the treatment of advapoestate cancer. Prior to founding Cougar, from
June 1998 to April 2003, Mr. Auerbach was a Viceditent, Senior Research Analyst at Wells Fargor8ass, where he was responsible for research
coverage of small- and middle- capitalization bébteology companies, with a focus on companieserfitid of oncology. Mr. Auerbach currently
serves as a director of Radius Health, Inc., aiplykaleporting pharmaceutical company focused ajquaing and developing new therapeutics for the
treatment of osteoporosis and other woredrgalth conditions. Mr. Auerbach received a BEaBiomedical Engineering from Boston University am
M.S. in Biomedical Engineering from the UniversitiySouthern California. Mr. Auerbach was selected airector because of his business and
professional experience, including but not limitedis leadership of Cougar in drug developmeritabe and public financings and a successful sk
the business.

Charles R. Eyler Mr. Eyler has served as our Senior Vice Presjdénance anédministration and Treasurer since the closinghefMerger o
October 4, 2011 and, prior to the Merger, serveslich capacity at Puma since September 1, 201dr. tBrjoining Puma, Mr. Eyler served as Vice
President of Finance at Cougar Biotechnology, firmen August 2004 until July 2009 when Cougar wagueted by Johnson & Johnson. He also se
as the Treasurer of Cougar from April 2006 to 2099. From July 2009 until March 2010, Mr. Eylenssl on the Cougar Integration Committee and
oversaw the integration of Cougar’s finance anfluiictions with those of Johnson & Johnson. Prigoising Cougar, Mr. Eyler served as Chief
Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer of y¢& Medical Inc. from March 1999 to January 2004.. B4ler received his B.S. from Drexel
University and his M.B.A. from Saint Francis Cokeg

Richard Phillips, Ph.DDr. Phillips has served as our Senior Vice Pregjdgegulatory Affairs and Quality Assurance sinaavBmber 1, 2011.
He previously served as a consultant in the Gl8&gjulatory Consultancy Group of PPD, Inc. from Ma2011 to October 2011. From March 2010 to
March 2011, he worked as an independent conswitéimipharmaceutical and biotech companies in tkea af regulatory affairs. From January 200
July 2009, Dr. Phillips served as Senior Vice Riest of Regulatory Affairs and Quality Assuranc€atigar Biotechnology, Inc., and following the
acquisition of Cougar by Johnson & Johnson, frotg 2009 until March 2010, he oversaw the integratid Cougar’s regulatory affairs and quality
assurance function with Johnson & Johnson. FroneBaper 2005 to January 2007, he was employed byefirhge., where he was the Director of
Regulatory Affairs and Global Regulatory LeaderVerctibix™ (panitumumab), which received FDA appabin 2006 for the treatment of metastatic
colorectal cancer. Dr. Phillips has also held ratprly affairs

45



Table of Contents

management positions with Chugai Pharma USA, Pfirer(Parke-Davis), Johnson & Johnson (Jansséh),INovartis A.G., G.D. Searle (Pfizer) and
Structural GenomiX. Dr. Phillips received a B.Snfrthe University of California, Irvine in 1976 aad”h.D. from the University of California,
Berkeley in 1982.

Thomas R. MalleyMr. Malley has been a director since the clogihthe Merger on October 4, 2011. Since May 200%,Malley has served i
President of Mossrock Capital, LLC, a private irtwesnt firm. From April 1991 to May 2007, Mr. Malleerved with Janus Mutual Funds as an
analyst for eight years and as a Vice PresidenPamtfolio Manager for the Janus Global Life Scien&und for eight years. Since October 2006,
Mr. Malley has served as a director of SynagevdBarma Corp., a public clinical stage biopharmacalutompany focused on the discovery,
development and commercialization of therapeutidpcts for patients with life-threatening rare dses and unmet medical needs. Mr. Malley
previously served as a director of Cougar Biotetdmyg Inc. from 2007 to 2009. Mr. Malley receive®&5. in Biology from Stanford University in
1991. Mr. Malley was selected as a director becafibés industry and investment experience.

Executive Compensation
By Us Prior to the Merge

Prior to the Merger, we did not pay any cash oepttompensation to our principal executive offiaed principal financial officer (Robert
Johnson) or our secretary (Faraaz Siddiqi), whaweeir only executive officers.

By Puma Prior to the Merge

Prior to the Merger, Puma did not pay any cashtteerocompensation to its president and chief exesuwaifficer (Alan H. Auerbach) or its senior
vice president, finance and treasurer (Charlesyierk who were its only executive officers. Thenef, Puma did not have any formal policy for
determining the compensation of its executive effic

Pension Benefits and Nonqualified Deferred Compentian

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 201@heeive nor Puma had any plans in place for thengay of retirement benefits or benefits
that will be paid primarily following retirementdfuding, but not limited to, tax qualified deferrbdnefit plans, supplemental executive retirement
plans, tax qualified deferred contribution pland annqualified deferred contribution plans.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

No options were granted by us or Puma during #mafiyear ended December 31, 2010. Upon the conatiomof the Merger, we assumed
Puma’s 2011 Incentive Award Plan, or the Plan. taltof 3,529,412 shares are reserved for issuanderihe Plan. As of December 31, 2011, no
awards had been granted under the Plan; howevdraweentered into an employment agreement witiPoesident and Chief Executive Officer and
letter agreements with certain other employeesyauntsto which we have agreed to grant such emp#ogptons to purchase shares of our common
stock. Any such options will have an exercise pgeeshare of common stock equal to the fair marékte on the date of the grant.
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Number of shares

Number of remaining
shares to be Weighted- available for
issued upon average exercis future issuance
exercise of price of under equity
outstanding outstanding compensation
options, options, plans (excluding
warrants and warrants and shares reflected il
Plan Category rights rights the first column)
Equity compensation plans approved by security drsld
(1) — — 3,529,41:
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders — — —
Total — — 3,529,41.

(1) On September 15, 2011, the board of directors tukisolder of Puma adopted the Plan. On Octob204], we assumed the Plan in connec
with the Merger

Administration

Our board of directors does not currently haveragensation committee and, in the absence of seomanittee, the board will administer the
Plan. Subject to the terms of the Plan, the boaltchewe complete authority and discretion to detiee the terms of awards under the Plan.

Eligible Recipient:

Any officer or other employee of the Company oraitiliates, or an individual that the Company aradfiliate has engaged to become an officer
or employee, or a consultant or advisor who pravigkrvices to the Company or its affiliates, inglgda non-employee director of the board of
directors, is eligible to receive awards underRlan.

Grants

The Plan authorizes the grant to eligible recigiern-qualified stock options, incentive stock ops, restricted stock awards, restricted stock
units, performance grants intended to comply witht®n 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986mended, dividend equivalent awards,
deferred stock awards, stock payment awards ac#l afgpreciation rights.

Duration, Amendment, and Terminati

The Board may amend, suspend or terminate thevidtaout stockholder approval or ratification at aimge or from time to time. No change
may be made that increases the total number oésludicommon stock reserved for issuance pursaanténtive awards, unless such change is
authorized by our stockholders within one year.

Compensation of Directors

None of our current or former directors receivey eampensation of any nature on account of servieedered in such capacity, or in their
capacity as a director of Puma prior to Octobe&?04,1, during the fiscal years ended December 310.20/e have not established a policy to provide
compensation to our directors for their servicesuoh capacity. Our board will consider develoggngh a policy in the future.
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Employment Agreements with Our Executive Officers
President and Chief Executive Offic

On January 19, 2012, we entered into an employagneiement with Alan H. Auerbach, our President@higf Executive Officer. The
employment agreement governs the terms of Mr. Aashts employment with us and Puma since Septemhe2(iL0 and expires on September 1,
2014, unless earlier terminated, with automatic-ypeer renewal terms unless either we or Mr. Audrlzzees written notice of termination 60 days
prior to the end of the term. Pursuant to the egmpknt agreement, Mr. Auerbach will continue to seas our President and Chief Executive Officer
and will have powers and duties customary to thpasitions and that are assigned to him by our Bo&mirectors. The employment agreement also
provides that Mr. Auerbach will be nominated faealon to our Board if the term of his directorskipires during the term of the employment
agreement.

The employment agreement provides that Mr. Auerbégtthieceive an annual base salary of $470,00@0aetively effective to September 1,
2011, and will be eligible to receive an annuatditionary bonus in an amount up to 50% of his Isatery (pro-rated for any partial year service),
each subject to possible increase in connectiom et annual review process. Mr. Auerbach is algibée under the employment agreement to
participate in all benefits offered to our senigeeutives.

The employment agreement further provides thatMerbach is eligible to receive an option to pusehda00,000 shares of our common stock,
which will vest as to 1/3 of the shares underlyting option on January 19, 2013, and as to 1/3B6e$hares underlying the option on each monthly
anniversary thereafter, subject to Mr. Auerbaclstinued employment through the vesting dates.fAkaouary 23, 2012, we had not granted this
option to Mr. Auerbach.

In the event we terminate Mr. Auerbach’s employmeitihout “cause” or by Mr. Auerbach for “good reasgeach as defined in the employm
agreement) 60 days prior to, or 18 months followenghange in control, he will be entitled to reegiin addition to any accrued but unpaid
compensation and benefits:

e Alump sum payment equal to two times the sum stlaise salary and the maximum bonus to which hédvmeueligible to receive for the
year in which the termination occu

» All unvested equity-based incentive awards will igdiately vest on the later of the change in corgtnal the termination date, and will
remain exercisable (as applicable) for a periodpfo 12 months from the date of the terminatiom

* Up to 18 months continuation of healthcare benéditsim and his dependen

In the event Mr. Auerbach’s employment is termidatg us without “cause” or by Mr. Auerbach for “gbreason” (each as defined in the
employment agreement), in each case outside afithiege in control context described above, thenAderbach will be entitled to receive, in addit
to any accrued but unpaid compensation and bengfien amount equal to the sum of his base saadythe maximum bonus to which he would be
eligible to receive for the year in which the temation occurs, payable over a period of one ydiviing such termination in substantially equal
installments and (ii) up to 18 months continuatidmealthcare benefits to him and his dependents.

All severance benefits are contingent upon Mr. Aaeh’s execution and non-revocation of a genelahse of claims in favor of us. In the event
of a change in control of us and an excise tamimised as a result of any payments made to Mr.b&gérin connection with such change in control,
we will pay or reimburse Mr. Auerbach an amountada such excise tax plus any taxes resulting fsoch payments.

Mr. Auerbachs employment agreement contains customary confaiytand assignment of inventions provisions thatvive the termination
the employment agreement for an indefinite peridte employment agreement also contains non-sdl@itand non-disparagement provisions
extending until 18 months following the terminatiofthis employment with us.

Other Executive Officers

As of December 31, 2011, we have entered intorlaieeements with each of the named executivearfitisted in the table below on the date
set forth next to such officer's name below. Suamad executive officers are at-will employees. Hire below also sets forth each of the officer’s
initial base salary.

Name Offer Letter Date Initial Base Salar
Charles R. Eyler October 21, 201 $ 265,00(
Richard Phillips, Ph.C October 21, 201 $ 268,00(

Pursuant to the letter agreements, each of thesedaxecutive officers is eligible to receive anual performance bonus in an amount up to a
fixed percentage of his base salary and to padieip all health, welfare, savings and retirenmans, practices, policies and programs maintagmed
sponsored by us from time to time for the bendfgimilarly situated employees. In addition, punsui@ these letter agreements, we have agreed to
grant each of these named executive officers apropd purchase 90,000 shares of our common stittkam exercise price equal to the fair market
value of our common stock on the date of the gfEime. shares of common stock underlying the optwilisrest over a three-year period from the date
of grant, with 1/3 of the shares of common stoc#fartying the option vesting on the one-year anrsiger of the letter agreement’s effective date and
then 1/36 of the shares of common stock underlthiegoption vesting monthly over the next two yeasof December 31, 2011, we had not granted
these options.

The letter agreements also contain a customarysnbcitation provision and, in connection with thentry into the offer letters, each of the
named executive officers listed in the table abeviered into our standard proprietary informatiod mventions agreement.

Estimated Benefits and Payments Upon Termination dEmployment
At December 31, 2010, neither we nor Puma had antracts, agreements, plans or arrangements, whethten or unwritten, that provided f



payments to our or Punsmafespective named executive officers or any qgikesons following, or in connection with the regigion, retirement
other termination of a named executive officeraa@hange in control of us or them or a changeriaraed executive officeri®sponsibilities followinc
a change in control.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Parttipation

We do not have a compensation committee or a caseniterforming similar functions. All compensatioatters are determined by our boar
directors. We plan to have a compensation committezn we elect additional independent persons tdoard of directors.

Terms of Office

Our directors have been appointed for a one-year 6 until their respective successors are dudgted and qualified or until their earlier
resignation or removal in accordance with our bygaw

Transactions with Related Persons

Policies and Procedures for Review, Approval orifation of Transactions with Related Persc

We do not have any special committee, policy ocedure related to the review, approval or ratifarapf transactions with related persons that
are required to be disclosed pursuant to Iltem 4@f(Regulation S-K, other than as required byDietaware General Corporation Law.
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Certain Relationships and Transactions
Officers

As described above, Alan H. Auerbach, our Presjdenief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Bqawvds the President and Chief Execu
Officer of Puma prior to the Merger, and Mr. Eylear Senior Vice President, Finance and Administraeand Treasurer, served as the Senior Vice
President, Finance and Treasurer of Puma pridredAerger.

Capital Contributions

Puma received $6,531 additional cash capital dautions from Mr. Auerbach during the year endedddelger 31, 2010, and received $68,514
cash capital contributions from Mr. Auerbach froep&mber 15, 2010 (inception) to September 30, 28dladditional shares of common stock were
issued as a result of these capital contributi@msSeptember 2, 2011, Mr. Auerbach advanced Pu®@,@10 to fund its operations until such time as
Puma could complete an equity placement. The aévaas converted to an unsecured, imdarest bearing convertible note on Septembef 91 2hai
would mature in one year. On October 6, 2011, Mrefdach converted the note, in accordance witieiites, into 40,000 shares of our common stock.

Redemption of Common Stc

Pursuant to the Redemption Agreement, the sharesrafommon stock held by our former stockholdegsenrepurchased by us for an aggregate
purchase price of $40,000.

Composition of Board

Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, draivafter the closing of the Merger until the rexmual meeting of our stockholders, our
board of directors may consist of up to a maximdrsewen members. These members will consist ayarurrent directors, (b) at the election of the
investors who purchased a majority of the sharksisdhe Initial Financing, either one of two repentatives designated by such investors (which
designee shall be selected by Mr. Auerbach) ordfsfour representatives designated by such invegtehnich designees shall be selected by
Mr. Auerbach), and (c) such other directors asgiegied by our board.

Lock-Up Agreement

At the closing of the Initial Financing, Mr. Auertfaentered into a lock-up agreement with us puisisewhich he agreed not to sell, dispose of,
contract to sell, sell any option or contract toghase, or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directindirectly, without the written consent ofeth
investors who purchased a majority of the sharkkisdhe Initial Financing, any shares of our coamstock or any securities convertible into or
exercisable or exchangeable for shares of our camstuzk until the later of (a) the date of the tigsf an additional private placement of our
common stock that results in the Company receigirngs proceeds of up to $10 million and (b) the dext which shares of our common stock are first
listed for quotation on an over-the-counter madkdtsted for quotation on any national securiggshange or trading system. We have agreed that we
will not amend or terminate the lock-up agreementf period of 12 months without the prior writsnsent of a majority of the investors that
purchased shares in the Initial Financing.

Warrant

Also at the closing of the Initial Financing, Puimsued a warrant to Mr. Auerbach. We assumed thisamt in connection with the Merger. This
warrant is exercisable only in the event that wedct an additional offering of our securities ftdag in gross cash proceeds to us of at least $15
million, excluding certain types of financings thaicur within a specified time period after thesitg of the Merger. This warrant has a ten-yeaner
an exercise price equal to the price paid per shasach additional offering, and is exercisabletfee number of shares of our common stock as would
be necessary for Mr. Auerbach to maintain, as tatled under the terms of the warrant, ownership08b of our outstanding shares of common stock
after such additional offering.
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Private Placemer

On November 18, 2011, Mr. Malley, one of our dicgst purchased 126,551 shares of our common statieiSubsequent Financing at a price
per share of $3.75. This was the same price pee $lzad by all of the other investors in the Sulbesd Financing.

Family Relationship
There are no family relationships among our dinecty executive officers.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedir

To our knowledge, there have been no events umgelankruptcy act, no criminal proceedings andedefal or state judicial or administrative
orders, judgments or decrees or findings, no \itatof any federal or state securities law, andintations of any federal commodities law material
to the evaluation of the ability and integrity afyadirector (existing or proposed) or executivaagff (existing or proposed) of the Company durimg t
past ten years.

Director Independence

Our securities are not listed on a national seiesrigxchange or on any inter-dealer quotation systhich has a requirement that a majority of
directors be independent. We evaluate independantiee standards for director independence set forthe NASDAQ Marketplace Rules.

Under these rules, a director is not considerdibtmdependent if he or she also is an executiigeofor employee of the corporation. As a
result, only one of our two directors would be ddaeed independent. Mr. Malley would be considenet#pendent under these rules; however,
Mr. Auerbach would not be considered independecaib®e he serves as an executive officer of the @oyap

Board of Directors’ Meetings

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010poard of directors did not meet and we did notlfasi annual meeting. Our board condut
all of its business and approved all corporateoadiiuring the fiscal year ended December 31, 2@1é unanimous written consent of its membel
the absence of formal board meetings.

Committees of the Board of Directors

As our common stock is not presently listed fodimng or quotation on a national securities exchargdASDAQ, we are not presently required
to have board committees.

Our board of directors performs the functions ef #udit committee. We do not have a qualified faialnexpert at this time because we have not
been able to hire a qualified candidate. Furtherpelieve that we have inadequate financial ressuat this time to hire such an expert. We intend t
continue to search for a qualified individual fareh

Due to our small size and limited operations tedate do not presently have a nominating committesypensation committee or other
committee performing similar functions. We have adbpted any procedures by which security holderg racommend nominees to our board, and
we do not have a diversity policy.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires ourctiins and officers, and persons who beneficially omore than ten percent (10%) of our
common stock, who are hereinafter collectively mefe to as the Reporting Persons, to file repoitis the SEC of beneficial ownership and reports of
changes in beneficial ownership of our common stmtlkorms 3, 4 and 5. Reporting Persons are ratjbirepplicable SEC rules to furnish us with
copies of all such forms filed with the SEC purduarSection 16(a) of the Exchange Act. To our klealge, based solely on our review of the copies
of the Forms 3, 4 and 5 received by us during idwaf year ended December 31, 2010 and writteresepitations that no other reports were required,
we believe that all reports
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required to be filed by such persons with respethé Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 216 timely filed.

Code of Ethics

On December 31, 2007, we adopted a formal codéhafsestatement for senior officers and directbet s designed to deter wrongdoing and to
promote ethical conduct and full, fair, accuraiteely and understandable reports that we file dinstito the SEC and others. A form of the Code of
Ethics was filed with our Form 10-KSB filed withetlfSEC on March 31, 2008.

Board Leadership Structure and Role on Risk Oversigt

Alan H. Auerbach currently serves as our Principadcutive Officer, and Charles R. Eyler currengyv@s as our Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer. Our board of directors is cotispd of Mr. Auerbach and Thomas R. Malley, with Muerbach serving as Chairman. At present,
we have determined this leadership structure isoggujate due to our small size and limited operetiand resources.

We have no policy requiring the combination or sapan of the Principal Executive Officer and Clnaén roles and our governing documents
do not mandate a particular structure. Our directecognize that the leadership structure anddh®mation or separation of these leadership rigles
driven by our needs at any point in time.

Our directors are exclusively involved in the gehewersight of risks that could affect our bussiaad they will continue to evaluate our
leadership structure and modify such structureppsagriate based on our size, resources and opesati

Legal Proceedings

We are not aware of any material proceedings irclvany of our directors, executive officers orl&ffes, any owner of record or beneficially of
more than 5% of our common stock, or any assooia@y such director, officer, affiliate or secyritolder is a party adverse to us or any of our
subsidiaries or has a material interest adverses.to

Stockholder Communication with the Board of Directas

Stockholders may send communications to our Bogndriting to the Company, c/o Puma Biotechnology.] 10880 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite
2150, Los Angeles, California 90024, Attention: Bbaf Directors.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth the number of sharesur common stock beneficially owned as of DelbenB1, 2011 by (i) each person known
by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5%hefoutstanding shares of our common stock, githeof our directors and executive officers and
(iii) all officers and directors as a group. Unlegkerwise indicated in the table, the personsemtiies named in the table have sole voting atel so
investment power with respect to the shares s#t fipposite the stockholder’'s name, subject to canity property laws, where applicable. Unless
otherwise noted below, the address of each stodkhdlelow is c/o Puma Biotechnology, Inc., 10880sWiie Boulevard, Suite 2150, Los Angeles,
California 90024.

SHARES OF PERCENTAGE
COMMON OF COMMON
STOCK STOCK
BENEFICIALLY BENEFICIALLY
NAME TITLE OWNED (#) (1) OWNED (%) (1)
Alan H. Auerbact President, Chie 4,040,00! 20.1€%
Executive Officer
and Directol
Charles R. Eyler Senior Vice — —
President, Finance
and Administration
and Treasure
Richard Phillips, Ph.D. Senior Vice — —
President, Regulato
Affairs and Quality
Assurance
Thomas R. Malle Director 126,55 *
Adage Capital Partners L.P. ( — 3,200,00:! 15.9%
Brookside Capital Partners Fund, L.P. — 1,666,66' 8.32%
Entities affiliated with Fidelity Management & Reseh
Company (4. — 1,666,66 8.32%
Foresite Capital -A, LLC (5) — 1,386,661 6.92%
Entities affiliated with Hambrecht & Quist Capitdanagemen
LLC (6) — 1,106,66 5.32%
All executive officers and directors as a groupn@viduals) 4,166,55. 20.7%

* Denotes less than 1.0% of beneficial owners

(1) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordawith SEC rules, and includes any shares as tohathe stockholder has sole or shared voting
power or investment power, and also any shareshathie stockholder has the right to acquire witlbrdéys of the date hereof, whether through
the exercise or conversion of any stock optionyedible security, warrant or other right. The ication herein that shares are beneficially ov
is not an admission on the part of the stockhdlldatr he, she or it is a direct or indirect benafiowner of those share

(2) Adage Capital Partners GP, LLC, or ACPGP, ésgbneral partner of Adage Capital Partners LiRheAdage Fund. Adage Capital Advisors,
LLC, or ACA, is the managing member of ACPGP. EatRobert Atchinson and Phillip Gross is a managimember of ACA. The Adage
Fund, ACPGP, ACA, Robert Atchinson and Phillip Gresich have shared voting power and shared disgogdwer with respect to the shares.
The address for the Adage Fund is 200 ClarendaeStznd, Boston, MA 02116
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®)

(4)

®)

(6)

Brookside Capital Investors, L.P. is the gehpaatner of Brookside Capital Partners Fund, LoPthe Brookside Fund, and as such has
discretion over the portfolio securities benefigiawned by the Brookside Fund. Brookside Capitalidigement, LLC is the general partner of
Brookside Capital Investors, L.P. Brookside Capitanagement, LLC is controlled by an executive catte® whose members include Dewe
Awad, Domenic J. Ferrante, Matthew V. McPherronllid¢n E. Pappendick IV and John M. Toussaint. Thdrass for the Brookside Fund is
John Hancock Tower, 200 Clarendon Street, Bostoh 0RIL16.

Consists of 422,223 shares held of record by Rid€lontrafund: Fidelity Advisor New Insights Furgh5,556 shares held of record by Fide
Select Portfolios: Health Care Portfolio, 522,6688res held of record by Fidelity Select PortfoliB®technology Portfolio, 32,887 shares held
of record by Fidelity Advisor Series VII: Fideli#kdvisor Biotechnology Fund, and 133,333 shares bélécord by Fidelity Select Portfolios:
Pharmaceuticals Portfolio. Fidelity Management &&arch Company, or Fidelity, a wholly-owned sulasigdiof FMR LLC and an investment
adviser registered under the Investment AdvisetoA&940, acts as investment adviser for the belaébwners set forth above, or the Funds.
Edward C. Johnson 3d, the Chairman of FMR LLC, kisdamily members, directly or through trust, pegties to a shareholders’ agreement;
and may be deemed, under the Investment CompangfA&40, to form a controlling group with respecFMR LLC and therefore to be
persons with the indirect control of Fidelity. Flige has the ability to make decisions with respecthe voting and disposition of the shares set
forth above subject to the oversight of the bodrlustees (or similar entity) of each Fund. Thauaoof trustees (or similar entity) of each Fund
has enacted a policy with respect to the votingmyfinvestment property owned thereby and the stemeforth above are voted for the Fund:
Fidelity in accordance with such policies. Undex terms of its management contract with each Feiglity has overall responsibility for
directing the investments of the Fund in accordamitle the Fund’s investment objective, policies dindtations. Each Fund has one or more
portfolio managers appointed by and serving apteasure of Fidelity who make the decisions wittpezt to the disposition of the Shares. The
address for Fidelity is 82 Devonshire Street, BosMA 02109.

Foresite Capital II-A Management, LLC is théesmanaging member of Foresite Capital II-A, LLC Foresite. The sole manager of Foresite
Capital II-A Management, LLC is James B. Tananbaama as such, James B. Tananbaum may be deemadetsdie voting and investment
power of the securities held by Foresite. JameEaBanbaum disclaims beneficial ownership of theseisties except to the extent of his
pecuniary interest therein. The address for Faésit/o Foresite Capital Management, P.O. Box E8parto, CA 9562’

Consists of 763,600 shares held of record bygH&ealthcare Investors and 343,067 shares helelcofd by H&Q Life Sciences Investors.
Hambrecht & Quist Capital Management, LLC is theestment advisor to H&Q Healthcare Investors andHé&fe Sciences Investors. Daniel
R. Omstead, Ph.D., is President of Hambrecht & Qépital Management, LLC and portfolio manager, asdsuch, has voting, dispositive and
investment control over the securities held by HBl€althcare Investors and H&Q Life Sciences Investbr. Omstead disclaims beneficial
ownership of these securities. The address foettiéies affiliated with Hambrecht & Quist Capitdanagement, LLC is 2 Liberty Squareth9
Floor, Boston, MA 0210¢
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MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MA TTERS

There is not currently, and there has never begnpearket for any of our securities. Our securities not eligible for trading on any national
securities exchange, NASDAQ or any over-the-coumigrkets, including the OTC Bulletin Board.

As of December 31, 2011, we had outstanding 2000@0shares of our common stock.

USE OF PROCEEDS

We will not receive any proceeds from the resalarof of the shares offered by this prospectus eys#iling stockholders.

DETERMINATION OF OFFERING PRICE

All shares being offered pursuant to this prospeetill be sold by existing stockholders without @wvolvement. Consequently, the selling
stockholders may sell all or a portion of theirrgsathrough public or private transactions at pifengamarket prices or at privately negotiated psc
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SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

This prospectus covers the resale by the sellimgkbblders identified below of 16,000,000 shareswfCommon Stock. The following table
sets forth the number of shares of our common gbecleficially owned by the selling stockholder&Becember 31, 2011, and after giving effect to
this offering. None of our selling stockholderseiwed any of our securities as compensation foenmdting services. At the time of each purchase by
the selling stockholders of the shares offeredihereach selling stockholder represented thatelimg stockholder’s shares were purchased for the
selling stockholder’s own account, for investmemd aot with a view to the distribution of those s

Number of
Percentage ¢ Outstanding Percentage
Number of Shares of
Shares Owned Ownership Offered by Ownership
Before Offering Before Selling After

Name of Beneficial Owner Offering (1) Stockholder Offering (1)
Adage Capital Partners L.P. (2) 3,200,001 15.97% 3,200,001 0.0(%
Brookside Capital Partners Fund, L.P. 1,666,66 8.32% 1,666,66 0.0(%
Foresite Capital -A, LLC (4) 1,386,66! 6.92% 1,386,66! 0.0(%
Frank Zavrl 1,066,66! 5.32% 1,066,661 0.0(%
OrbiMed Private Investments IV, LP ( 992,00( 4.95% 992,00( 0.0(%
H&Q Healthcare Investors (! 763,60( 3.81% 763,60( 0.0(%
Janus Global Life Sciences Fund 666,66t 3.3%% 666,66¢ 0.0(%
Fidelity Select Portfolios: Health Care Portfol®) 555,55t 2.7% 555,55¢ 0.0(%
T. Rowe Price Health Sciences Fund, Inc. 545,72! 2.72% 545,72¢ 0.0(%

Prudential Sector Funds, Ir- Prudential Health Sciences Fund d/b/a Prude

Jennison Health Sciences Fund ( 533,33 2.6€% 533,33« 0.0(%
Fidelity Select Portfolios: Biotechnology Portfoli8) 522,66 2.61% 522,66¢ 0.0(%
Hawkes Bay Master Investors (Cayman) LP { 453,40( 2.26% 453,40( 0.0(%
Fidelity Contra Fund: Fidelity Advisor New InsighEsind (8) 422,22: 2.11% 422,22; 0.0(%
BBT Fund, L.P. (12 400,00( 2.0(% 400,00( 0.0(%
Fourth Avenue Capital Partners LP (: 382,22 1.91% 382,22: 0.0(%
H&Q Life Sciences Investors (! 343,06 1.71% 343,06° 0.0(%
Bryan K. White 191,11 * 191,11: 0.0(%
Salthill Partners, L.P. (1: 153,90( * 153,90( 0.0(%
Fidelity Select Portfolios: Pharmaceuticals Poitf¢8) 133,33: * 133,33¢ 0.0%

55



Table of Contents

Thomas Robert Malley (1«

Salthill Investors (Bermuda) L.P. (1

Lindsay A. Rosenwald, MI

Valic Company | Health Sciences Fund (

Fidelity Advisor Series VII: Fidelity Advisor Biotdhnology Fund (8

RAQ, LLC (15)

John Hancock Variable Insurance Tr— Health Sciences Trust (

TD Mutual Fund« TD Health Sciences Fund (

James A. Ruffalo and Margaret M. Ruffe

Michael P. Donovai

John O. Dunkir

Jaye S. Venuti, DDS and Michael Yokoyama, DDS, ACPB Defined Benefit
Pension Plan (1€

Jaye Venuti and Michael Yokoyama Family Trust (

John Hancock Funds - Health Sciences Fund (

The Bahr Family Limited Partnership (1

Bos Family Trust (19

Nancy Dubin

William Reed and Evelyn Re

G. Jan van Hee

Robert J. Fors

Kelleher Holdings LP (20

James M. Mace

Borgen GrandC Equity, LLLI

Edward F. Keely

Russell P. Shipma

Nancy Graham Cag|

Donald Dean Graham, .

Margery L. Grahan

Donald D. Grahar

Jor-Erik Borgen

Kevin B. Allodi

KBA Holdings LLC (21)

PENSCO Trust Company fbo James Tananbaum Rott

T. Rowe Price Health Sciences Portfolio

Ennio de Piant:
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126,551
126,100
76,199
38,324
32,887
30,000
28,087
27,500
16,000
15,000
15,000

15,000
15,000
14,156
14,000
13,600
13,600
13,600
13,600
13,600
13,600
13,400
13,340
13,340
13,340
13,340
13,340
13,340
13,340
13,340
13,333
13,333
13,333
12,875
12,000
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126,55!
126,10(
76,19¢
38,324
32,881
30,00(
28,08’
27,50(
16,00(
15,00(
15,00(

15,00(
15,00(
14,15¢
14,00(
13,60(
13,60(
13,60(
13,60(
13,60(
13,60(
13,40(
13,34(
13,34(
13,34(
13,34(
13,34(
13,34(
13,34(
13,34(
13,33t
13,33¢
13,33¢
12,87t
12,00(

0.0%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%

0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0%
0.0(%
0.0%
0.0(%
0.0%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0%
0.0(%
0.0%
0.0(%
0.0%
0.0(%
0.0%
0.0(%
0.0%
0.0(%
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Praful C. Desa

Paresh Sor

Gregory J. Dovolit

Ruff Enterprises, Inc

Melinda B. Pfeffer Trust (22

Melinda Pfeffer Irrevocable Trust #1 (2
Leerink Swann C-Investment Fund LLC (24
Fermo C. Jaeckl

Kevin Mack

Randy L. Burn:

Neel B. Ackermatr

Neel B. Ackerman and Martha N. Ackerm
William Silver and Elinor Silve

William Silver

Nathaniel Z. Marmu

Barbara A. Whiteside Crary Trust (2
Everett W. Boy, Jr. and Mary Beth Lowney B
William C. Brown

Caley McNeill Casteleil

Declan Doogal

David J. Fitzpatricl

Dirk M. Foremar

Andrew Irving Jense

Thomas F. Kearn

Steven K. Luminais and Elizabeth K. Lumin
John F. X. McNally

Kenneth J. Novac

Shelly M. C Neill

William J. Sasiel:

Allan Schwartzmai

James N. Syke

David J. Tananbaum and Elizabeth B. Tananb
Daniel R. Monks

David N. Porter and Linda Port
Decompression LL(

Emanuel J. Di Teresi and Rose N. Di Te
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12,000
10,000
10,000
10,000
8,821
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8,000
8,000
7,500
7,500
7,500
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6,800
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6,800
6,800
6,800
6,800
6,800
6,800
6,800
6,800
6,800

0.0(%
0.0(%
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0.0(%
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0.0(%
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0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
0.0(%
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0.0(%
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Erika Zetty

Frank A. Pap:

George J. Strickle

Gerald A. Tomsic 1995 Trust (2

Gerald E. Gillett TTEE U/A DTL

Grover C. Potts, J

J&C Resources LL(

James and Sarah Shapiro Family Trust
James C. Arnold and Susan M. Arni
James Holme

James J. Rege

James Luce

Jill Carol Cran-Ross Irrevocable Trust (2
John E. Bishoy

John Langdon Crary Trust (2

John M. Gasidlo Cust Elizabeth Shimei UTN
John Roth 111

John F. Ericksol

Keith Kinsey

Lee P. Bearsc

Maryann Logue

Michael Blechman and Barry Lir
Michael W. Currie

MSB Family Trust (30

Nick Nicholas

Pallan Family Trust (31

Paul Sallwasse

Paul Viboch Irrevocable Trust (3
Rakesh Ramd

Richard S. Simm

Richard and Helen Spalding Revocable Trust
Robert C. Russe

Robert Guercic

Shane Ellen Cra-Ross Irrevocable Trust (3
Sharon M. Crowde

Stephen A. Bes

Stephen J. Blast

Steven A. Buxbaur

Steven Schwart

Terry N. Barr and Martha Ba

Timothy Hanng

Tommy Tuan Ly

Vernon Lowrey Simpso

Westville Holdings, LLC

2217 Group LLC

Kevin Beck

Laurence Chan
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Bryan Ritz 6,67( & 6,67 0.0%
John S. Skol 6,67( * 6,67( 0.0(%
Borgen Equity Il G, LLLP (35 6,67( * 6,67( 0.0(%
El Chichon Partners, LL! 6,67( * 6,67( 0.00(%
Fagelson Family Trust (3t 6,67( * 6,67( 0.0(%
Daniel J. Belluche and Regan H. Belluc 6,66 * 6,66 0.0(%
Vincent Formaitc 6,667 k) 6,667 0.0(%
James S. Horvat 6,667 * 6,667 0.0(%
Daniel M. McLaughlin 6,667 & 6,667 0.0(%
Eric Thomas Schmic 6,667 * 6,667 0.0(%
Vincent A. Trantolc 6,667 * 6,667 0.0(%
Robert L. Reynold 6,667 * 6,667 0.0(%
Timothy M. Andersor 6,66¢ * 6,66¢ 0.0(%
Pablo G. Legorret 6,66¢ * 6,66¢ 0.0(%
Hans C. Vitzthum IV 6,66¢ & 6,66¢ 0.0(%
Fred W. Harris 6,50( * 6,50( 0.0(%
James S. Canr 6,50( & 6,50( 0.0(%
Frank Restivc 6,00( * 6,00( 0.0(%
James C. Or 6,00( * 6,00( 0.0(%
NFS/FMTC SEP IRA FBO David Benandt 5,00( * 5,00( 0.0(%
David W. Maehling 5,00( * 5,00( 0.0(%
Edward M. Davisor 5,00(¢ * 5,00(¢ 0.0(%
Hamilton C. Fist 5,00( & 5,00( 0.0(%
James Bucl 5,00(¢ * 5,00(¢ 0.0(%
Mark B. Ginsberg 5,00( & 5,00( 0.0(%
Stephen H. Lebovit 5,00( * 5,00( 0.00(%
Steven A. Water 5,00( * 5,00( 0.0(%
Thomas Gemellar 5,00( * 5,00( 0.00(%
Beacon Capital LL( 4,00( * 4,00( 0.0(%
Totals: 16,000,00 16,000,00

* Denotes less than 1.0% of beneficial owners

Q) Assumes the sale of all shares offe!

(2) Adage Capital Partners GP, LLC, or ACPGP, ésghneral partner of Adage Capital Partners LirheAdage Fund. Adage Capital Advisors,
LLC, or ACA, is the managing member of ACPGP. EatRobert Atchinson and Phillip Gross is a managiregber of ACA. The Adage
Fund, ACPGP, ACA, Robert Atchinson and Phillip Gresich have shared voting power and shared disogdwer with respect to the
shares
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®)

(4)

®)

(6)

@)

®)

©)

(10)

Brookside Capital Investors, L.P. is the gehpaatner of Brookside Capital Partners Fund, LoPthe Brookside Fund, and as such has
discretion over the portfolio securities benefigiawned by the Brookside Fund. Brookside Capitalfdgement, LLC is the general partner of
Brookside Capital Investors, L.P. Brookside Capitahagement, LLC is controlled by an executive catte® whose members include Dewey
J. Awad, Domenic J. Ferrante, Matthew V. McPherkbfiiliam E. Pappendick IV and John M. Toussa

Foresite Capital II-A Management, LLC is théesmanaging member of Foresite Capital II-A, LLE Foresite. The sole manager of Foresite
Capital II-A Management, LLC is James B. Tananbaama as such, James B. Tananbaum may be deemadetsdie voting and investment
power of the securities held by Foresite. JamekaBanbaum disclaims beneficial ownership of theseiisties except to the extent of its
pecuniary interest therei

OrbiMed Capital GP IV LLC is the general partoéOrbiMed Private Investments 1V, LP. OrbiMed\Asbrs LLC, a registered investment
adviser under the Investment Advisers Act of 1&%0amended, is the managing member of OrbiMed &apR IV LLC. Samuel D. Isaly, a
natural person, is the managing member of and owfreicontrolling interest in OrbiMed Advisors LL&hd may be deemed to have voting
investment power over the securities held by OrliNeivate Investments 1V, LP. Each of OrbiMed Calp@P 1V LLC, OrbiMed Advisors
LLC and Samuel D. Isaly disclaims beneficial owhgof these securities except to the extent adiitsis pecuniary interest therein, if al
Hambrecht & Quist Capital Management, LLC is theestment advisor to H&Q Healthcare Investors andHé&fe Sciences Investors. Dan
R. Omstead, Ph.D., is President of Hambrecht & QCépital Management, LLC and portfolio manager,asdsuch, has voting, dispositive
and investment control over the securities heltHB@ Healthcare Investors and H&Q Life Sciences btees. Dr. Omstead disclaims
beneficial ownership of these securiti

Janus Capital Management LLC, or Janus, servas/astiment advisor with the power to direct investta@nd/or sole power to vote t
securities owned by Janus Global Life Sciences FEadpurposes of reporting requirements of thehiarge Act, Janus may be deemed to be
the beneficial owner of all of the shares held &yus Global Life Sciences Fund; however, Janusessiy disclaims that it is, in fact, the
beneficial owner of such securiti¢

Each of Fidelity Contrafund: Fidelity Advisor Newdights Fund, Fidelity Select Portfolios: Healthr€Rortfolio, Fidelity Select Portfolio
Biotechnology Portfolio, Fidelity Advisor Series IVFidelity Advisor Biotechnology Fund and Fideli8elect Portfolios: Pharmaceuticals
Portfolio (each a Fund and, collectively, the Fyrigdsn investment company registered under Seétioithe Investment Company Act of
1940 and advised by Fidelity Management & Rese@ainpany, or Fidelity, a wholly-owned subsidiaryFdfIR LLC and an investment
adviser registered under the Investment AdvisetsoA&940. Edward C. Johnson 3d and FMR LLC, thtoitg control of Fidelity, and the
Fund each has sole power to dispose of the sexaudtined by the Fund. Members of the family of Bdwa Johnson 3d, Chairman of FMR
LLC, are the predominant owners, directly or thiotigists, of Series B voting common shares of FMR Lrepresenting 49% of the voting
power of FMR LLC. The Johnson family group andadlier Series B shareholders have entered intoralsblders’ voting agreement under
which all Series B voting common shares will beexbin accordance with the majority vote of SeriesoBng common shares. Accordingly,
through their ownership of voting common sharestaedexecution of the shareholders voting agreenmesmnbers of the Johnson family may
be deemed, under the Investment Company Act of  1#840rm a controlling group with respect to FMRQ@. Neither FMR LLC nor Edward
C. Johnson 3d, Chairman of FMR LLC, has the solegudo vote or direct the voting of the shares advdieectly by the Fund, which power
resides with the Fund’s Boards of Trustees. Figekirries out the voting of the shares under wrigeaidelines established by the Fund’s
Boards of Trustees. Each Fund is an affiliate bfake-dealer.

T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc., or TRPA, seag@fvestment advisor with power to direct investis and/or sole power to vote the securities
owned by T. Rowe Price Health Sciences Fund, Tria.Mutual Funds — TD Health Sciences Fund, Valienpany | — Health Sciences Fund,
T. Rowe Price Health Sciences Portfolio, John Hakdtariable Insurance Trust — Health Sciences Tarsl John Hancock Funds Il — Health
Sciences Fund, or collectively the “TRPA Advisomynids.”For purposes of reporting requirements of the EnghaAct, TRPA may be deem
to be the beneficial owner of all of the sharesilil the TRPA Advisory Funds; however, TRPA expisedssclaims that it is, in fact, the
beneficial owner of such securities. TRPA is a wholvned subsidiary of T. Rowe Price Group, Inchieh is a publicly traded financial
services holding company. T. Rowe Price InvestnSamvices, Inc. (“TRPIS”), a registered broker-deadkea subsidiary of T. Rowe Price
Associates, Inc., the investment adviser to the ARBvisory Funds. TRPIS was formed primarily foetlimited purpose of acting as the
principal underwriter of shares of the funds in ThdRowe Price fund family. TRPIS does not engageniderwriting or market-making
activities involving individual securities. The Rowe Price Proxy Committee develops positions bmajor corporate issues, creates
guidelines, and oversees the voting process. GrcBrioxy Committee establishes its recommendattbag,are distributed to the firm's
portfolio managers as voting guidelines. The pdidfmanager of each fund (including each TRPA AdwsFund) has ultimate responsibility
for the voting decisions for proxies relating tdimg securities held by the fund (including eachPERAdvisory Fund)

Jennison Associates LLC, or Jennison, is aastment adviser under the Investment AdvisersoA@0®40, as amended, and serves as sub-
adviser with power to direct investments and/or @ote vote the shares owned by Prudential Sectod$;unc. — Prudential Health Sciences
Fund d/b/a Prudential Jennison Health Sciences,Farttie Prudential Fund. Jennison, in such capavidy be deemed to beneficially own
shares held by the Prudential Fund. Jennison esfgrdisclaims beneficial ownership of such shalesnison is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Prudential Financial, Inc., which is a publiclydea financial services firm. The Prudential Fundrisnvestment company registered under the
Investment Company Act of 1940. By virtue of thaisitions with Jennison, the portfolio managerh&®Prudential Fund, have authority to
vote or dispose of the securities held by the RrtidleFund. The Prudential Fund’s principal undetsyris a broker-dealer that is an affiliate of
Jennison
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11)

(12)

(13)

(14)
(15)
(16)

(17)
(18)

(19)
(20
(21)
(22)
(23)
(24)

(25)
(26)
(27)
(28)
(29)
(30)
(31)
(32)
(33)
(34)
(35)

(36)

Wellington Management Company, LLP, or WeltolgManagement, is an investment adviser registemnelér the Investment Advisors Act of
1940, as amended. Wellington, in such capacity, beagieemed to share beneficial ownership overttaees held by its client accounts:
Hawkes Bay Master Investors (Cayman) LP, Salthilelstors (Bermuda) L.P. and Salthill Partners, loPcollectively the Wellington Funds.
Each of the Wellington Funds is an affiliate ofrakel-dealer. Wellington Managem¢'s address is 280 Congress Street, Boston, MA 0:
The managing general partner of BBT Fund, ISBBT Genpar, L.P. The sole general partner of BBnpar, L.P. is BBT-FW, Inc., which is
wholly-owned by BBT Capital Management, Inc. SidBss is the President and sole stockholder of BBpital Management, Inc. and, as
such, may be deemed to be the beneficial owneauaif securities. Mr. Bass disclaims beneficial owhgr of these securitie

Fourth Avenue Capital Partners GP LLC is theegal partner of Fourth Avenue Capital Partnersddé as such, Fourth Avenue Capital
Partners GP LLC may be deemed to beneficially dvenshares held by Fourth Avenue Capital Partner§ h® managing members of Fourth
Avenue Capital Partners GP LLC are Daniel Goldcyriau, Nicholas Brumm and Arthur Chu, each of whitigtlaims beneficial ownership
the shares held by Fourth Avenue Capital PartnBr:

Thomas Robert Malley is a director of the Comp:

The sole member of RAQ, LLC is Lindsay A. Rosenwaid.

The trustees of Jaye S. Venuti, DDS and Michaeloyakna, DDS, A PDC, A Defined Benefit Pension PlenJaye S. Venuti and Miche
Yokoyama.

The trustees of Jaye Venuti and Michael Yokoyanmailyalrust are Jaye S. Venuti and Michael Yokoya

The managing partner of The Bahr Family LimhiRartnership is The Henry H. Bahr Reverse QTIR{TThe trustee of The Henry H. Bahr
Reverse QTIP Trust is Robert L. Ba

The trustee of the Bos Family Trust is John E

The general partner of Kelleher Holdings LP is Kk#r Management. The president of Kelleher Manageiméichard Kelleher, J

The sole member of KBA Holdings LLC is Kevin B. adi.

The trustee of the Melinda B. Pfeffer Trust is Mk B. Pfeffer

The trustee of the Melinda Pfeffer Irrevocable Trks is John R. Pfeffe

The managing members of Leerink Swann Co-Invest Fund LLC are Jeffrey A. Leerink, James P.|BoyDaniel B. Dubin, Joseph R.
Gentile and Donald D. Notman, Jr., and may be ddemshare discretionary voting authority with resipto such share

The trustee of the Barbara A. Whiteside Crary Tiz@arbara A. Whiteside Crar

The trustee of the Gerald A. Tomsic 1995 TrustésgBl A.Tomsic

The trustee of the James and Sarah Shapiro Familt & James Shapir

The trustee of the Jill Carol Cr-Ross Irrevocable Trust is John L. Cre

The trustee of the John Langdon Crary Trust is lot@rary.

The trustee of the MSB Family Trust is Michael Biewan.

The trustee of Pallan Family Trust is Richard Ral

The trustee of the Paul Viboch Irrevocable TruStislla Garlick.

The trustees of the Richard and Helen Spalding Bae Trust are Richard Spalding and Helen Spali

The trustee of the Shane Ellen Ci-Ross Irrevocable Trust is John L. Cre

The general partner of Borgen Equity 11l G,LUR is Bjorn K. Borgen and its limited partners dom-Erik Borgen, Kaia Borgen and Randi
Borgen.

The trustee of the Fagelson Family Trust is Jamésmgelson, M.D
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

The selling stockholders, which as used hereirutgtes donees, pledgees, transferees or other sars@ssnterest selling shares of common
stock or interests in shares of common stock reckafter the date of this prospectus from a sefiiogkholder as a gift, pledge, partnership
distribution or other transfer, may, from time itme, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of anglbof their shares of common stock or interests in
shares of common stock on any stock exchange, markeading facility on which the shares are ticide in private transactions. These dispositions
may be at fixed prices, at prevailing market prigethe time of sale, at prices related to the gitieng market price, at varying prices determinetha
time of sale, or at negotiated prices.

The selling stockholders may use any one or motheofollowing methods when disposing of sharesmtarests therein:

» ordinary brokerage transactions and transactiomghinh the broke-dealer solicits purchasel

» block trades in which the brol-dealer will attempt to sell the shares as agertiriay position and resell a portion of the bloclpéacipal
to facilitate the transactio

* purchases by a brol-dealer as principal and resale by the br-dealer for its accoun

* an exchange distribution in accordance with thesralf the applicable exchang

» privately negotiated transactior

» short sales

» through the writing or settlement of options oresthedging transactions, whether through an optswkange or otherwis
» brokerdealers may agree with the selling stockholdesetiba specified number of such shares at a stigailarice per shar:
* acombination of any such methods of sale;

» any other method permitted pursuant to applicable

The selling stockholders may, from time to timesdge or grant a security interest in some or athefshares of common stock owned by them
and, if they default in the performance of theirwged obligations, the pledgees or secured part@soffer and sell the shares of common stock, from
time to time, under this prospectus, or under aaratment to this prospectus under Rule 424(b)(8}twer applicable provision of the Securities Act
amending the list of selling stockholders to inéube pledgee, transferee or other successorteirest as selling stockholders under this prosgectu
The selling stockholders also may transfer theeshaf common stock in other circumstances, in whade the transferees, pledgees or other
successors in interest will be the selling benaficivners for purposes of this prospectus.

In connection with the sale of our common stockterests therein, the selling stockholders magreinto hedging transactions with broker-
dealers or other financial institutions, which niayurn engage in short sales of the common stotke course of hedging the positions they assume.
The selling stockholders may also sell shares ptommon stock short and deliver these securitiedase out their short positions, or loan or pkedg
the common stock to broker-dealers that in turn sellythese securities. The selling stockholderg atso enter into option or other transactions with
broker-dealers or other financial institutionsog treation of one or more derivative securitiegtvinequire the delivery to such broker-dealertbeo
financial institution of shares offered by this gpectus, which shares such broker-dealer or otendial institution may resell pursuant to this
prospectus (as supplemented or amended to reflelotteansaction).

The aggregate proceeds to the selling stockhofdarsthe sale of the common stock offered by thethbe the purchase price of the common
stock less discounts or commissions, if any. Ed¢henselling stockholders reserves the right weat and, together with their agents from time to
time, to reject, in whole or in part, any propogetichase of common stock to be made directly audin agents. We will not receive any of the
proceeds from this offering.
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The selling stockholders and any underwriters, eralealers or agents that participate in the salaetommon stock or interests therein ma
“underwriters” within the meaning of Section 2(If)the Securities Act. Any discounts, commissiaw)cessions or profit they earn on any resale of
the shares may be underwriting discounts and cosionis under the Securities Act. Selling stockhadeno are “underwriters” within the meaning of
Section 2(11) of the Securities Act will be subjecthe prospectus delivery requirements of theuBSées Act.

To the extent required, the shares of our commaekgb be sold, the names of the selling stockhs|dbe respective purchase prices and public
offering prices, the names of any agents, dealenderwriter, any applicable commissions or dis¢ewrith respect to a particular offer will be set
forth in an accompanying prospectus supplemerif appropriate, a post-effective amendment to #ggstration statement that includes this
prospectus.

In order to comply with the securities laws of sosteges, if applicable, the common stock may bé sothese jurisdictions only through
registered or licensed brokers or dealers. In Engitn some states the common stock may not libisdess it has been registered or qualified fta sa
or an exemption from registration or qualificati@guirements is available and is complied with.

We have advised the selling stockholders that tiieraanipulation rules of Regulation M under thecBange Act may apply to sales of shares in
the market and to the activities of the sellingktmlders and their affiliates. In addition, we lailake copies of this prospectus (as it may be
supplemented or amended from time to time) aval&bkhe selling stockholders for the purpose t§8ang the prospectus delivery requirements of
the Securities Act. The selling stockholders malemnify any broker-dealer that participates in $eations involving the sale of the shares against
certain liabilities, including liabilities arisingnder the Securities Act.

We have agreed to indemnify the selling stockh@degyainst liabilities, including liabilities undére Securities Act and state securities laws,
relating to the registration of the shares offargdhis prospectus.

We have agreed with the selling stockholders t@kbe registration statement of which this prosgecbnstitutes a part effective until the ea
of the second anniversary of the date the registratatement is declared effective by the SECsaruth time as all of the shares covered by this
prospectus have been disposed of pursuant to axtordance with the registration statement or Ra#eof the Securities Act.

Registration Rights

At the closing of the Initial Financing, Puma eetinto a registration rights agreement dated Getdb2011, or the Registration Rights
Agreement, with each of the investors in the IhE@ancing. We assumed the Registration RightseAgrent in connection with the Merger. In
connection with the Subsequent Financing, we edtete Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Rightgséement, pursuant to which each of the
investors in the Subsequent Financing became g fatihe Registration Rights Agreement.

Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreementnanaed, we have prepared and filed, at our expémnisegegistration statement covering the
resale of the shares of our common stock held @ynbestors in the Initial Financing and the Sulbee Financing. Under the Registration Rights
Agreement, as amended, we are further requirede@mur best efforts to qualify the shares includetlis registration statement for listing on a
national securities exchange or comparable trasiistem within 12 months of the date the registrasimtement is declared effective.

If we do not, subject to certain exceptions, maimthe effectiveness of the registration statenuenit the second anniversary of the date the
registration statement is initially declared effeetor if we suspend the use of the registratiateshent in excess of permitted periods, then wiealgid
be required to pay liquidated damages, on a 30bdais, to each investor equal to 1.0% of the aggegourchase price paid by the investor for the
registrable shares of our common stock then heldhéynvestor; provided, however, that the aggeegatount of liquidated damages payable by us to
each investor as a result of our suspension arréatb maintain the effectiveness of the regisiratitatement shall not exceed 10.0% of the aggregat
purchase price paid by the investor in the priydéeement. The Registration Rights Agreement, asnaled, also gives investors the right to partie
as sellers in a firm commitment underwritten offigrof the shares of our common stock held by Mrerach.
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following description of our capital stock kegiregistered herein is a summary only and is gigalifn its entirety by reference to our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation &ylaws, which are included as Exhibits 3.3 arj Bspectively, hereto.

General

We currently have authorized capital stock of 100,000 shares, which are designated as common, gtackalue $0.0001 per share. As of
December 31, 2011, 20,040,000 shares of our constoak were issued and outstanding. As of Decembge2@®L1, there were 167 holders of record
of our common stock.

Common Stock

The holders of our common stock are entitled towte per share on matters on which our stockhsldete. There are no cumulative voting
rights. Subject to any preferential dividend rigbtany outstanding shares of preferred stock,érsldf our common stock are entitled to receive
dividends, if declared by our Board, out of fundattwe may legally use to pay dividends. If we iliftte or dissolve, holders of our common stock are
entitled to share ratably in our assets once obisdend any liquidation preference owed to any-thaistanding preferred stockholders are paid. Our
amended and restated certificate of incorporatmesdhot provide our common stock with any redempiionversion or preemptive rights.

Convertible Note

On September 2, 2011, Mr. Auerbach, the found&urha and our President and Chief Executive Offadgvanced Puma $150,000 to fund its
operations. On September 9, 2011, Puma converigddlance into a non-interest bearing unsecuredertible promissory note due and payable
upon demand on or after the one-year anniversattyeoflate of issuance, if not converted prior ®rttaturity date. On October 6, 2011, Mr. Auerbach
converted the note, in accordance with its termts, 40,000 shares of our common stock.

Warrants

On October 4, 2011, Puma issued 14,666,733 sharsscommon stock to 27 investors in a privatecplaent for aggregate consideration of
approximately $55 million. Puma also issued a werta each investor in the private placement thavigded such investor with anditution protectior
in regard to certain issuances. We assumed thasanigin connection with the Merger. The warrarsexercisable only if we sell securities at a
price below $3.75 per share on or prior to the datevhich shares of our common stock are first gdiait an over-the-counter market or listed for
guotation on any national securities exchangeaaling system. The warrants automatically termitettedays after our common stock is quoted on an
over-the-counter market or listed for quotationsomational securities exchange or trading systemeifiave not previously sold securities for lessth
$3.75 per share. Otherwise, the warrants have-geanterm and an exercise price of $0.01 per sifarggered, each warrant becomes exercisable
for the number of shares of our common stock addvegual the difference between (i) the numberhafres purchased by the warrant holder in
Pumas private placement and (ii) the number of sharasdould have been purchased by such holder iprihate placement at a purchase price e
to the lowest price associated with any subsegasaénce of our common stock.

On October 4, 2011, Puma also issued a warrantrtdMerbach. We assumed this warrant in conneatitimthe Merger. This warrant is
exercisable only in the event that we conduct atitiathal offering of our securities resulting inogs cash proceeds to us of at least $15 million,
excluding certain types of financings that occuthim a specified time period after the closingle Merger. This warrant has a ten-year term, an
exercise price equal to the price paid per shaseieh additional offering, and is exercisable f@ humber of shares of our common stock as would be
necessary for Mr. Auerbach to maintain, as caledlainder the terms of the warrant, ownership of 20%ur outstanding shares of common stock
after such additional offering.

Dividend Policy

In the past, we have not distributed earningsdolkstolders. Any future decisions regarding divicemdl be made by our Board. We currently
intend to retain and use any future earnings ferdévelopment and expansion
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of our business and do not anticipate paying ask davidends in the foreseeable future. Our Boasldomplete discretion on whether to pay
dividends. Even if our Board decides to pay divitlerthe form, frequency and amount will depend upamfuture operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial coomlittontractual restrictions and other factors thatBoard may deem relevant.

Shares Eligible for Future Sale

As of December 31, 2011, we had outstanding 200@@0shares of common stock. Prior to the effectgsrof the registration statement of
which this prospectus is a part, all of these share restricted securities under Rule 144, inttiet were issued in private transactions not vingl a
public offering. Pursuant to the registration staat of which this prospectus forms a part, weregéstering the sale of 16,000,000 shares of our
common stock. The remaining 4,040,000 shares piyshares sold under the registration statememiit@ffiliates will remain restricted securities
subject to the resale restrictions under Rule 144.

Restrictions on the Use of Rule 144 by Shell Coiegar Former Shell Compani

Rule 144 is not available for resale of securiigssied by any shell companies (other than bustmedination-related shell companies) or any
issuer that has been at any time previously a sbeilpany. The SEC has provided an exception tgtloisibition, however, if the following conditiol
are met:

» the issuer of the securities that was formerlyellsfompany has ceased to be a shell comg
» the issuer of the securities is subject to thent@mprequirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of theltange Act

» the issuer of the securities has filed all Exchafigereports and materials required to be filedapglicable, during the preceding 12
months (or such shorter period that the issuerregired to file such reports and materials), othean Form -K reports; anc

» atleast one year has elapsed from the time tkeatguer filed current Form 10 type informationhattie SEC reflecting its status as an
entity that is not a shell compar

As a result, none of our stockholders is curreablie to sell shares of our common stock in reliat®ule 144. Assuming we continue to meet
the requirements set forth above, Rule 144 willdoee available to our stockholders one year afedtte of this report. Our stockholders may
currently resell their shares of our common staaly pursuant to a registration statement that leen lweclared effective under the Securities Act or
pursuant to another exemption from registration.

Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation hattorizes a corporation to grant, and authorzesurt to award, indemnity to officers,
directors and other corporate agents. As permidgjefiection 102(b)(7) of the Delaware General Cafion Law, the Company’s certificate of
incorporation includes a provision that eliminates personal liability of its directors for breashtheir fiduciary duty as directors, except that a
director shall be liable to the extent provideddpyplicable law (i) for breach of the director’s ylof loyalty to the Company or its stockholders), fr
acts or omissions not in good faith or which inwiatentional misconduct or a knowing violationladv, (i) pursuant to Section 174 of the Delaware
General Corporation Law or (iv) for any transactioom which the director derived an improper peeddyenefit. These indemnification provisions
may be sufficiently broad to permit indemnificatiohthe Company'’s officers and directors for liétkgk (including reimbursement of expenses
incurred) arising under the Securities Act.

To the extent that indemnification for liabiliti@sising under the Securities Act may be permitteditectors, officers or persons controlling our
Company pursuant to the foregoing provisions, weehzeen informed that, in the opinion of the SEEhsindemnification is against public policy as
expressed in the Securities Act and is therefoemfanceable. If a claim for indemnification agaissth liabilities (other than the payment by us of
expenses incurred or paid by a director, officecamtrolling person of our company in the succds#éfense of any action, suit or proceeding) is
asserted by any of our directors, officers or aallifig persons in connection with the securitiembeegistered, we will, unless in the opinion af o
counsel the matter has been settled by
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controlling precedent, submit to a court of appiaterjurisdiction the question whether such inddioaiion by us is against public policy as exprésse
in the Securities Act and will be governed by timaff adjudication of that issue.

Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute

We are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware Geé@orporation Law. This statute regulating corp@takeovers prohibits a Delaware
corporation from engaging in any business comtmatiith any interested stockholder for three yéaliswing the date that the stockholder became
an interested stockholder, unless:

» prior to the date of the transaction, the boardictors of the corporation approved either theifess combination or the transaction
which resulted in the stockholder becoming an edted stockholde

* upon completion of the transaction that resulteth&interested stockholder becoming an interesttezkholder, the interested stockholder
owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the coapon outstanding at the time the transaction cemead, excluding for purposes of
determining the number of shares outstanding @eshowned by persons who are directors and dleeis, and (b) shares owned by
employee stock plans in which employee participdotsot have the right to determine confidentiallyether shares held subject to the
plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange péfe

* on or subsequent to the date of the transactierulsiness combination is approved by the boadireftors and authorized at an annu
special meeting of stockholders, and not by writtensent, by the affirmative vote of at least 682/of the outstanding voting stock
which is not owned by the interested stockhol

Generally, a business combination includes a meagset or stock sale, or other transaction resyili a financial benefit to the interested
stockholder. An interested stockholder is any pemsbo, together with such person’s affiliates asslogiates (i) owns 15% or more of a corporation’s
voting securities or (ii) is an affiliate or assatel of a corporation and was the owner of 15% aierbthe corporation’s voting securities at amyeti
within the three year period immediately precedirfgusiness combination of the corporation govelne8ection 203. We expect the existence of this
provision to have an anti-takeover effect with exggo transactions our Board does not approvevarece. We also anticipate that Section 203 may
discourage takeover attempts that might resultpreanium over the market price, once a market gxist the shares of common stock held by our
stockholders.

66



Table of Contents

ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

This prospectus is not an offer or solicitatioméspect to these securities in any jurisdictiowlrich such offer or solicitation would be unlawi
This prospectus is part of a registration statertteattwe filed with the SEC. The registration stag@t that contains this prospectus (including the
exhibits to the registration statement) contairditamhal information about our company and the siéies offered under this prospectus. That
registration statement can be read at the SEC iteebrsat the SEC’s offices mentioned under thedlmeg“Where You Can Find More Information.”
We have not authorized anyone else to provide yitudifferent information or additional informatiol¥ou should not assume that the information in
this prospectus, or any supplement or amendmehts@rospectus, is accurate at any date otherttteadate indicated on the cover page of such
documents.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

Federal securities law requires us to file inforiorawith the SEC concerning our business and ojperatAccordingly, we file annual, quarterly,
and special reports, proxy statements and othernrdtion with the SEC. You can inspect and copy ithfiormation at the Public Reference Facility
maintained by the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Wagbin DC 20549. You can receive additional inforioraabout the operation of the SEC’s Public
Reference Facilities by calling the SEC at 1-80@SE30. The SEC also maintains a web site at htpw.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and
information statements and other information reggydompanies that, like us, file information efedically with the SEC.

VALIDITY OF COMMON STOCK
Legal matters in connection with the validity oétbhares offered by this prospectus idlpassed upon by Latham & Watkins LLP, Costa
California.

EXPERTS

The financial statements of Puma at December 310, 28ppearing in this prospectus and registratiatesment have been audited by PKF
Certified Public Accountants, independent registgreblic accounting firm, as set forth in their oethereon appearing elsewhere herein, and are
included in reliance upon such report, given onahiority of such firm as experts in accountind anditing.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINKRM

To the Stockholder
of Puma Biotechnology, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheetro&mBiotechnology, Inc. (A Development Stage Comgpéiie “Company”) as of December 31,
2010 and the related statements of operations geisain stockholder’s equity (deficit), and castwidor the period September 15, 2010 (date of
inception) through December 31, 2010. Puma Bioteldyy, Inc.’s management is responsible for thesntial statements. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statemersscban our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&nited States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reablenassurance about whether the financial statsnaea free of material misstatements. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we ergjamperform, an audit of its internal controls pfirancial reporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal controls over financigborting as a basis for designing audit procedilnasare appropriate in the circumstance, but oot f
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effentiss of the Company’s internal control over foialhreporting. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit includes examining, on a testifiasvidence supporting the amounts and disclosoréee financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles usédignificant estimates made by management, dsawelvaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit providesagonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referreabove present fairly, in all material respedts, financial position of Puma Biotechnology, In&. (
Development Stage Company) as of December 31, 20d @he results of its operations and its cashdlfaw the period September 15, 2010 (date of
inception) through December 31, 2010, in conformitth accounting principles generally acceptechim nited States of America.

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd assuming that the Company will continue @gsiag concern. As reflected in the
accompanying financial statements, managementaslitnat the Company will continue to incur neskxssand negative net cash flows from operating
activities through the drug development procesgséltonditions raise substantial doubt about thepaay’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The financial statements do not include any adjastsithat might result from the outcome of thisartainty.

San Diego, California /sl PKF
September 6, 2011 Certified Public Accountants
A Professional Corporatic
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)
BALANCE SHEET
DECEMBER 31, 2010

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash

Total Assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER 'S EQUITY (DEFICIT)

CURRENT LIABILITIES
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
STOCKHOLDER 'S EQUITY (DEFICIT):
Common stock, $.0001 par value, 1,200,000 shatber@zed, 1,000,000 shares issued and outstal
Additional paic-in capital
Deficit accumulated during development st.
Total Stockholde' s Equity (Deficit)
Total Liabilities and Stockhold’'s Equity (Deficit)

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
F-3
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

REVENUE

EXPENSES

NET LOSS

NET LOSS PER COMMON SHARE - BASIC

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDIN G

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
F-4

Cumulative
from
September 1£

2010
(Date of
Inception)
To
December 31
2010

$ —
6,931
$_ (6,93)
$ 01)
1,000,00!
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY (DEFIC IT)
FOR THE PERIOD FROM SEPTEMBER 15, 2010 (DATE OF INCEPTION)
TO DECEMBER 31, 2010

(Deficit)
Accumulated Total
Additional During Stockholder¢’
Common Stock Paid-In Developmen Equity
Shares Amount Capital Stage (Deficit)
Balances, beginning — $ — $ — $ — $ o
Common stock issued for cash at $.0001 per ¢ 1,000,001 10C — — 10C
Paic-in capital — — 6,831 — 6,831
Net loss — — — (6,931) (6,931)
Balances, December 31, 20! 1,000,00! $ 10C $ 6,831 $ (6,93)) $ —

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Cumulative
from
September 1£

2010
(Date of

Inception)
To
December 31
2010
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss $  (6,93)
Net Cash Used in Operating Activiti (6,93))
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Common stock issued for ca 10C
Capital contributions by stockhold 6,831
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activiti 6,931
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND ENDING BALANCE $ —

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
F-6
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—Business and Basis of Presentation:
Business:

Puma Biotechnology, Inc. (“Puma” or the “Companig’a development stage biopharmaceutical compasgdbia Los Angeles, California
which incorporated on September 15, 2010. The Cogipatrategy is to license and develop novel theuéics for the treatment of cancer that have
previously been tested in clinical trials, enabling obtain an initial indication of the drugsafety and biological activity in humans befooenmitting
capital to the drug’s development.

Basis of Presentation:

The Company is a development stage enterprise gihas not yet generated any revenue from theafgleoducts and, through December 31,
2010, its efforts have been principally devotedantifying and acquiring, by license or otherwideyg candidates for the treatment of cancer.
Accordingly, the accompanying financial statemdratge been prepared in accordance with Financiabéatiing Standards Board (“FASB”)
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 91Bevelopment Stage Entitie$he Company has reported a net loss of $6,93hagdtive cash flows
from operating activities of $6,931 for the perentled December 31, 2010. The net loss from dateeption, September 15, 2010, to December 31,
2010 amounted to $6,931. Management believeshbatompany will continue to incur net losses arghtige net cash flows from operating activi
through the drug development process. These conditiaise substantial doubt about the Companylgyata continue as a going concern.

The Company’s continued operations will dependtsmlbility to raise funds through various potengialirces such as equity and debt financing.
Through December 31, 2010, the Company’s finanbaggbeen through capital contribution by the foursaiel CEO. The Company will continue to
fund operations through similar sources of cagitaviously described. The Company can give no asses that any additional capital that it is abl
obtain will be sufficient to meet its needs.

The Company’s financial statements have been pred@m the basis that it is a going concern, whihitemplates the realization of assets and
the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal coaisf business.

Note 2—Significant Accounting Policies:
The significant accounting policies followed in thesparation of these financial statements arelésafs:

Use of Estimates:

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfiettraported amounts of assets and liabilities @disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities a
the date of the balance sheet and reported amofieipenses for the period presented. Accordiragjyal results could differ from those estimates.

Income Taxes:

The Company follows FASB ASC 74hcome Taxesyhich requires recognition of deferred tax assetslabilities for the expected future tax
consequences of events that have been includéeé iintancial statements or tax returns. Underrigshod, deferred tax assets and liabilities aredas
on the differences between the financial staterapdttax bases of assets and liabilities using eddek rates in effect for the year in which the
differences are expected to reverse. Deferreddsets are reduced by a valuation allowance toxtememanagement concludes it is more likely than
not that the asset will not be realized. Defereedassets and liabilities are measured using ehéaterates expected to apply to taxable incontken
years in which those temporary differences are ebepeto be recovered or settled.
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 2—Significant Accounting Policies (Continued):
Income Taxes (Continued):

The standard addresses the determination of whigthéxenefits claimed or expected to be claimed tax return should be recorded in the
financial statements. Under FASB ASC 740, the Caomgpaay recognize the tax benefit from an uncertaposition only if it is more likely than not
that the tax position will be sustained on exaniamaby the tax authorities, based on the techmiiits of the position. The tax benefits recognized
the financial statements from such a position ghbel measured based on the largest benefit tha eesater than fifty percent likelihood of being
realized upon ultimate settlement. FASB ASC 740 al®vides guidance on de-recognition, classiftcatinterest and penalties on income taxes,
accounting in interim periods and requires incrdatisclosures. At the date of adoption, and aseafdinber 31, 2010, the Company does not have a
liability for unrecognized tax uncertainties.

The Company'’s policy is to record interest and fi&ggaon uncertain tax positions as income tax agpeAs of December 31, 2010, the
Company has no accrued interest or penalties delatancertain tax positions.

Net Loss per Common Share:

Basic net loss per common share is computed bylidiyinet loss applicable to common stockholderthbyweighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the periods predes required by FASB ASC 2@arnings Per Share

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements:
FASB issued the following accounting amendments:

In April 2010, the FASB issued amendments relatetthé revenue recognition method for milestone panysiin research and development
agreements. Under these amendments, entities desmanaaccounting policy election to recognize anpayt that is contingent upon the achievement
of a substantive milestone in its entirety in tlegipd in which the milestone is achieved. The ameertts are effective on a prospective basis for
milestones achieved in fiscal years, and interimioge within those years, beginning on or aftereJuf, 2010, which means such amendments will
take effect beginning with the fiscal year startomgJanuary 1, 2011. The adoption of this stantkandt expected to have a material impact on the
Company'’s financial position, cash flow or resafoperations.

In October 2009, the FASB issued authoritative goa for arrangements with multiple deliveries. §halance will allow companies to
allocate consideration from contractual arrangesaninultiple deliverables arrangements in a matimegrbetter reflects the economics of the
transaction. The new guidance requires expandditajivee and quantitative disclosures and is effector fiscal years beginning on or after June 15,
2010. Early adoption of the guidance is permitidte Company is currently evaluating the impactduffding the guidance on the Company’s future
financial statements.

Note 3—Common Stock:

The Company issued 1,000,000 shares of common &idtkfounder and CEO during September 2010 i@0%at $.0001 per share.
Additionally, the stockholder contributed capitalaling $6,831 during the period ended DecembeRB10.
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 4—Income Taxes:

Temporary differences between the carrying amooiéssets and liabilities for financial reportingrposes and the amounts used for incomt
purposes (the loss carry-forward described abowe)rise to the Company’s deferred income taxeg ddmponents of the Company’s deferred tax
assets as of December 31, 2010 are as follows:

Federal State Total
Deferred tax asset
Organization cost $ 2,40C $ 40C $ 2,80
Total deferred tax asse $ 2,40( $ 40C $ 2,80(
Valuation allowanc: (2,400 (400) (2,800
Net deferred tax asse $ — $— $ —

As the ultimate realization of the potential betsedif the Company’s deferred tax assets is corsidencertain by management, the Company
has offset the deferred tax assets attributabledse potential benefits through valuation allovesnin 2010. Accordingly, the Company did not
recognize any benefit from income taxes in the aquanying statement of operations to offset itstprelosses. The reason for the difference between
the amount computed by applying the statutory f@ldacome tax rate to losses before income taxfiteare the actual income tax benefit for the year
ended December 31, 2010 is due to capitalizati@rgdnization costs for tax purposes and the vialailowance. The valuation allowance increased
$2,800 during 2010.

Note 5—Subsequent Events:

Management has evaluated subsequent events, asdibfi FASB ASC 855 ubsequent Eventhrough the date that the financial statements
were available to be issued, September 6, 2011.

On February 4, 2011, the Company executed a sevethntease agreement effective March 1, 2011 for office space that requires monthly
payments of $1,657 which expires on September@D].2Concurrent with the execution of the leaseagent, the Company provided the landlord
with a security deposit in the amount of $1,897.

On August 18, 2011 (“Execution Date”), the Companyered into an exclusive license agreement wignge pharmaceutical company for the
worldwide rights to make, use, lease and sell mébatThe license will become effective as of ttaed(“Closing”) on which the conditions set forth i
the agreement are satisfied or waived. If the @lpsioes not occur within sixty calendar days ofEkecution Date of the agreement, the agreement
shall terminate. For the Closing to occur, the Camypwill provide confirmation to the pharmaceuticampany that the Company has issued and sold
equity securities resulting in gross proceeds téadt $25 million and that the net worth of thex®any immediately following such financing shall be
at least $22.5 million. The license agreement meguhe Company to make aggregate milestone pagroprib $187.5 million, payable upon the
achievement of certain regulatory and sales mitestoShould neratinib become commercialized, thegamy will be obligated to pay to the
pharmaceutical company an annual royalty basedebsates of the product.

On September 2, 2011, the stockholder advance@ahgany $150,000 to fund its operations until stircie as the Company can complete an
equity placement. The advance is unsecured, neneistt bearing and due on demand.
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A Private Development Stage Company)
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)
September 3 December 3:
2011 2010

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash $ 25,46 $ —
Total current asse 25,467 —
Property and equipment, r 3,027 —
Deposits 9,891 —
Total Assets $ 38,39 $ =
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER 'S EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 212,04¢ $ —

Stockholder convertible note payal 150,00( —
Total Liabilities 362,04¢ —
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholde’s equity (deficit):
Common stoc—$.0001 par value; 25,000,000 shares authorized; 00Ghares issued and outstanc 40C 40C
Additional paic-in capital 68,51/ 6,531
Deficit accumulated during the development si (392,57 (6,93))
Total Stockholde' s Equity (Deficit) (323,65 —
Total Liabilities and Stockhold’'s Equity (Deficit) $ 38,39 $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheaudited condensed financial statements.
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.

(A Private Development Stage Company)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenue

Operating expenst

Loss from operation

Other income (expens

Net Loss

Net loss applicable to common stc

Net loss per common sh—basic and dilute:

Weighted-average common shares outstanding—badic an
diluted

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
September 3(

Nine Months Ended
September 3(

Period from
September 15, 20

(date of
inception) to
2011 2010 2011 2010 September 30, 20
$ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
333,93 6,631 372,14( 6,631 379,07:
(333,93 (6,637 (372,140 (6,637 (379,07)
(13,500 — (13,500 — (13,500)
$(347,43) $ (663]) $(38564) $ (6,63) $  (392,57)
$(347,43) $ (663]) $(38564) $ (6,63) $  (392,57)
$ (008) $ (0009 $ (0.099 $ (0.009
4,000,00! 4,000,00! 4,000,00! 4,000,00!

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthesaudited condensed financial statements.
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A Private Development Stage Company)
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY (DEFIC IT)
FOR THE PERIOD FROM SEPTEMBER 15, 2010 (INCEPTION)
TO SEPTEMBER 30, 2011

(Unaudited)
Deficit
Common Stock Accumulated
Total
Additional During Stockholder’s
Developmen
Paid-In Equity
Shares Amount Capital Stage (Deficit)
Balances, beginning — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Common stock issued for cash at $.0001 per ¢ 4,000,00! 40C — — 40C
Paic-in capital — — 6,531 — 6,531
Net loss — — — (6,93)) (6,93))
Balances, December 31, 201 4,000,00! 40C 6,531 (6,93)) —
Paic-in capital — — 61,98: — 61,98:
Net loss — — — (385,64() (385,64()
Balances, September 30, 20 4.,000,00! $ 40C $68,51¢ $(392,57) $ (323,65)

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheaudited condensed financial statements.
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A Private Development Stage Company)
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Nine Months Ended
September 3(

(Unaudited)
2011

Operating activities
Net loss $(385,64()
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciatior 33€
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Deposits (9,897
Accounts payabl 212,04¢
Net cash used in operating activit (183,157
Investing activitie—purchase of property and equipm (3,367)
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of stockholder convertibte payable 150,00(
Common stock issued for ca —
Capital contributions by stockhold 61,98!
Net cash provided by financing activiti 211,98
Net increase in cas 25,46
Cash, beginning of peric —
Cash, end of peria $ 25,46

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheaudited condensed financial statements.
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Period from
September 15, 20
(date of
inception) to
September 3(
2011

$  (392,57)
33¢

(9,897
212,04
(190,089
(3.369)

150,00(
40C
68,51«
218,91«
25,461

$ 25,461
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A Private Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO CONDENSED UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2011

Note 1—Business and Basis of Presentation:
Business:

Puma Biotechnology, Inc. (“Puma”) is a developnstage biopharmaceutical company based in Los Aag€lalifornia which incorporated on
September 15, 2010. Puma acquires and developgatime products for the treatment of various fowhsancer. Puma focuses on in-licensing drug
candidates that are undergoing or have already ledetpinitial clinical testing for the treatmentadncer and then seek to further develop those drug
candidates for commercial use.

Basis of Presentation:

Puma is a development stage enterprise since idtaget generated any revenue from the sale afymts and, through September 30, 2011, its
efforts have been principally devoted to identifyisnd acquiring, by license or otherwise, drug @#atds for the treatment of cancer. Accordinglg, th
accompanying financial statements have been prépamccordance with Financial Accounting Stand&dard (“FASB”) Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC") 915,Development Stage Entities

The accompanying unaudited condensed interim fiahstatements have been prepared by Puma pursutrd rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC")hénopinion of management, all adjustments (whiefuide only normal recurring adjustments
except as noted in management’s discussion angisasalf financial condition and results of operatipnecessary to present fairly the financial
position, results of operations and changes in fiasls have been made.

Certain information and footnote disclosures nolyniakcluded in financial statements prepared inoadance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Amer@ae been condensed or omitted. It is suggestédhiise condensed financial statements be read in
conjunction with the 2010 financial statements aatks thereto included in the Current Report omF84K filed with the SEC on October 11, 2011
and elsewhere in this filing. The results of opers for the nine months ended September 30, 2@ hat necessarily indicative of the operating
results for the full year.

Note 2—Significant Accounting Policies:
The significant accounting policies followed in theeparation of these financial statements arelasfs:

Use of Estimates:

The preparation of financial statements in conféymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfiettraported amounts of assets and liabilities disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities a
the date of the balance sheet and reported amofiaipenses for the period presented. Accordiragtiyal results could differ from those estimates.

Income Taxes:

Puma follows FASB ASC 740ncome Taxesyhich requires recognition of deferred tax assatslbilities for the expected future tax
consequences of events that have been includéeé fiimancial statements or tax returns. Underrtiéthod, deferred tax assets and liabilities aredas
on the differences between the financial staterapdttax bases of assets and liabilities using eddek rates in effect for the year in which the
differences are expected to reverse. Deferreddsets are reduced by a valuation allowance toxtememanagement concludes it is more likely than
not that the asset will not be realized. Defereedassets and liabilities are measured using ethtecterates expected to apply to taxable inconteen
years in which those temporary differences are eegeto be recovered or settled.
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A Private Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO CONDENSED UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2011

The standard addresses the determination of whigthdxenefits claimed or expected to be claimed tax return should be recorded in the
financial statements. Under FASB ASC 740, Puma reeggnize the tax benefit from an uncertain taxtfosonly if it is more likely than not that the
tax position will be sustained on examination by thx authorities, based on the technical merita@position. The tax benefits recognized in the
financial statements from such a position shouldheasured based on the largest benefit that hessageg than fifty percent likelihood of being reel
upon ultimate settlement. FASB ASC 740 also pravigigidance on de-recognition, classification, egéand penalties on income taxes, accounting in
interim periods and requires increased disclose®f September 30, 2011, and December 31, 20ifiaRloes not have a liability for unrecognized
tax uncertainties.

Puma’s policy is to record interest and penaltiesiocertain tax positions as income tax expenseafAeptember 30, 2011 and December 31,
2010, Puma has no accrued interest or penaltiaedeto uncertain tax positions.

Net Loss Per Common Share:

Basic net loss per common share is computed bylidiyinet loss applicable to common stockholderthbyweighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the periods ptesges required by FASB ASC 2@arnings Per ShareThere are no dilutive shares outstanding
at September 30, 2011 and 2010.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements:
FASB issued the following accounting amendments:

In April 2010, the FASB issued amendments relatetthé revenue recognition method for milestone panysiin research and development
agreements. Under these amendments, entities desmanaaccounting policy election to recognize anpayt that is contingent upon the achievement
of a substantive milestone in its entirety in tlegipd in which the milestone is achieved. The ameertts are effective on a prospective basis for
milestones achieved in fiscal years, and interimioge within those years, beginning on or aftereJuf, 2010, which means such amendments will
take effect beginning with the fiscal year startolgJanuary 1, 2011. The adoption of this standafehot have a material impact on Puma’s financial
position, cash flow or results of operations.

In October 2009, the FASB issued authoritative goa for arrangements with multiple deliveries. §halance will allow companies to
allocate consideration from contractual arrangesninultiple deliverables arrangements in a matimegrbetter reflects the economics of the
transaction. The new guidance requires expandditajivee and quantitative disclosures and is effector fiscal years beginning on or after June 15,
2010. The adoption of this standard did not haweterial impact on Puma’s financial position, clistv or results of operations.

Note 3—Stockholder’s Equity:
Common Stock:

Puma issued 4,000,000 shares of common stock fiouitgler and CEO in September 2010 for $400 atOf. @@r share. Additionally, the
stockholder contributed capital totaling $61,988 68,514 during the nine months ended Septemhe&t03d and from inception to September 30,
2011, respectively.

Authorized Shares:

On September 15, 2011, the total number of shdre®ok Puma is authorized to issue was increas@8,000,000 shares of common stock.
Immediately following the increase in authorizedrgls, Puma executed a four to one forward stodkfepkach share of common stock outstandir
held in treasury immediately prior to the split.eTshare amounts stated in the financial statenimavis been adjusted to reflect the four to one stock
split.
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A Private Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO CONDENSED UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2011

Incentive Award Plan:

On September 15, 2011, Puma’s Board of Directodssémckholders approved an Incentive Award Plae {(Bian”) reserving 3,529,412
common shares for issuance under the Plan. Awardisrdhe Plan may be in the form of a stock optiorestricted stock award, a restricted stock unit
award, a performance award, a dividend equivaleard, a deferred stock award, a stock payment gveastbck appreciation right and other incentive
award or a performance share award. The exerdise per share subject to each stock option grazdadot be less than 100% of the fair market value
of a share on the date of the stock option graraddition, in the case of incentive stock optigremted to a greater than 10% stockholder, such
exercise price shall not be less than 110% ofafrenfarket value of a share on the date of theoaggrant.

Note 4—Stockholder Convertible Note Payable:

On September 2, 2011, the stockholder advanced BaB&000 to fund its operations until such tim&ama could complete an equity
placement. The advance is unsecured, non-inteeesirly and due on demand. On September 9, 201adtlace was converted to an unsecured
convertible promissory note. The note is a nonr@gebearing note that may be converted into Pwnaron stock at the option of the stockholder.
The note is due and payable upon demand of th&tsttiter on or after the one-year anniversary ofddu, if not converted prior to the maturity date.
The stockholder converted his note into 40,000eshaf the Company'’s (as defined below) common stoc®ctober 6, 2011.

Note 5—Commitments and Contingencies:
Operating Lease:

On February 4, 2011, Puma executed a seven magh &greement effective March 1, 2011 for new @ffjgace that requires monthly paym:
of $1,657 and expires on September 30, 2011. Pamagmewed the lease on a month-to-month basicu@emt with the execution of the lease
agreement, Puma provided the landlord with a sgcdeposit in the amount of $1,897.

License Agreement:

On August 18, 2011, Puma entered into an exclugigase agreement with a large pharmaceutical cosnfia the worldwide rights to make,
use, lease and sell neratinib. The license agreelbeeame effective October 4, 2011 upon the closfragprivate equity placement and notification to
the pharmaceutical company that Puma issued addegoity securities resulting in gross proceedst ¢éast $25 million and that the net worth of
Puma immediately following such financing was aske$22.5 million. The license agreement requiread@to make aggregate milestone payments of
up to $187.5 million, payable upon the achieveneémertain regulatory and sales milestones. Shoetdtinib become commercialized, Puma will be
obligated to pay to the pharmaceutical companyrenual royalty based on net sales of the product.

Note 6—Subsequent Events:
Private Placement:

On October 4, 2011, Puma entered into a secuptieshase agreement with certain accredited ingtitat investors pursuant to which Puma
agreed to sell a total of 14,666,733 shares of comstock in a private placement offering (the “@ifig”) at a price of $3.75 per share, for gross
proceeds of approximately $55 million before dethgetselling commissions and expenses. In additi@rants were issued to each Offering investor
which will allow them to purchase an additional rhenof shares of common stock in the event Pumagsagin certain dilutive issuances following
the Offering. Puma agreed to reimburse an invdetaall of its reasonable fees and expenses agsdoidth this agreement subject to a maximum
aggregate amount of $125,000. The Offering close@ctober 4, 2011.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2011

Pursuant to the registration rights agreement“@agistration Rights Agreement”) provided in thef@ing, Puma intends to file a shelf
registration statement covering the resale of ttaees of Puma’s common stock, including the comstook issuable upon exercise of the outstanding
warrants, held by the investors in the private @taent. Puma is required to file the shelf regigirastatement within 60 days of the closing datéhef
Merger (as defined below); provided, however, theg deadline may be extended by 30 days undeainarircumstances. Puma is also required to use
reasonable best efforts to cause the shelf reg@siratatement to become effective no later thahdays after it is filed with the SEC. Puma is fiert
required to use its best efforts to qualify therebancluded in the shelf registration statementi§ting on a national securities exchange or carable
trading system within 12 months of the date théstegfion statement is declared effective.

If the registration statement is not filed withirettimeframe specified above, then Puma will beldido each investor for liquidated damages, on
a 30-day basis, equal to 1.0% of the aggregatehpaecprice paid by the investor for the registrabkres of Puma common stock then held by the
investor; provided, however, that the aggregateuarnof liquidated damages payable by Puma to eaastor shall not exceed 10.0% of the aggre
purchase price paid by the investor in the priydéeement. The Registration Rights Agreement alswiges for the payment of liquidated damages in
the event Puma suspends the use of the shelfra@ststatement in excess of permitted periods. Régistration Rights Agreement also gives the
investors piggyback registration rights with redgedhe registration for resale of all or any pmntof the shares of common stock held by Psn@EC
in a firm commitment underwritten offering.

In connection with the Offering, on August 3, 20PLyma entered into a letter agreement with LeeBiwknn & Company, Inc. (the “Placement
Agent”) whereby the Placement Agent agreed to sgi@cement agent in connection with the placeroktite shares of common stock. In
consideration for the Placement Agent’s servicesp&agreed to pay the Placement Agent aggregatecoasmissions equal to 6% of the gross cash
proceeds from the Offering, not to exceed $3.6iomllPuma also agreed to pay the Placement Agetat $ip5,000 as a non-accountable
reimbursement allowance. Puma paid the Placemesnt’®2,338,215 for services and $75,000 for reisdiole expenses for the private placement
transaction.

Warrant Issued to the CEO:

At the closing of the private placement, Puma idsugvarrant to the CEO. This warrant is exercisablg in the event that Puma conducts an
additional offering of securities resulting in gsasash proceeds of at least $15 million subsedoeht closing of the Merger and an additional quev
placement. The warrant has an exercise price équlaé price paid per share in such additionalrofég and is exercisable for the number of shares
necessary for the CEO to maintain an ownershiet Bf the outstanding shares of Puma common stiteksauch additional offering.

Agreement and Plan of Merger:

On September 29, 2011, Puma entered into an agné@me plan of merger (the “Merger Agreement”) haiitnovative Acquisitions Corp. (the
“Company”) and its wholly-owned subsidiary, IAC Mgr Corporation (“Merger Sub”). On October 4, 20RUma completed a reverse merger in
which Merger Sub merged with and into Puma and Pooecame a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Compalg (Merger”).

At the effective time of the Merger, Puma’s thesuisd and outstanding shares of common stock weteaged for shares of common stock of
the Company, so that Puma’s then existing stocldisldiould have the same percentage of the issukdwstanding shares of the Company’s
common stock as they held in Puma prior to the Miergn a fully diluted basis. At the effective timkthe Merger, each share of Puma common stock
that was outstanding immediately prior to the dffectime was cancelled, with one share of Pumamomstock issued to the Company. Concurre
the Company redeemed all of its shares from itd\peeger stockholders in exchange for an aggregatsideration of $40,000 paid by Puma. Puma
paid $40,000 for the Company’s professional fesseiated with the Merger, directly to the serviceviders.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2011

Upon completion of the Merger, Puma merged with iatalthe Company, and the Company adopted Psilmasiness plan and changed its n
to “Puma Biotechnology, Inc.” Further, upon competof the Merger, the existing officers and dimstof the Company resigned and the existing
officers and directors of Puma were appointed efcand directors of the Company.

The Merger will be accounted for as a reverse aitipn with Puma as the accounting acquirer andCii@pany as the accounting acquiree. The
merger of a private operating company into a noarajing public shell corporation with nominal nesets is considered to be a capital transaction, in
substance, rather than a business combinatioacfmunting purposes. Accordingly, Puma treatedtthissaction as a capital transaction without
recording goodwill or adjusting any of its othesets or liabilities. The consideration in the anmofr$$80,000 paid to the former stockholders of the
Company and their attorney will be recorded asthrreexpense item and included in Puma’s net lmsthe year ending December 31, 2011. The
Company is subject to the public reporting requizata of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, aswded and has not had significant operations
since its inception.
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PART Il
INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distributio

The following table indicates the expenses to learired in connection with the offering describedhis registration statement, all of which will
be borne by us. All amounts are estimates, otleBH#C registration fee.

SEC Registration Fe $ 6,87¢
Accounting Fee 8,00(
Legal Fee: 50,00(
Miscellaneous 15,12«
Total $80,00(

Item 14. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Reference is made to Section 102(b)(7) of the Datawseneral Corporation Law, or DGCL, which enablesrporation in its original certifice
of incorporation or an amendment thereto to elingra limit the personal liability of a directorrfaiolations of the director’s fiduciary duty, exie
(1) for any breach of the director’s duty of loyatib the corporation or its stockholders, (2) fotseor omissions not in good faith or which involve
intentional misconduct or a knowing violation oiMa(3) pursuant to Section 174 of the DGCL, whicbvides for liability of directors for unlawful
payments of dividends of unlawful stock purchasesdemptions or (4) for any transaction from whactlirector derived an improper personal benefit.

Reference is also made to Section 145 of the D@@Iich provides that a corporation may indemnify @aeyson, including an officer or direct
who is, or is threatened to be made, party to hrsatened, pending or completed legal action,@troceeding, whether civil, criminal, adminisive
or investigative, other than an action by or intiight of such corporation, by reason of the faett tsuch person was an officer, director, emplayee
agent of such corporation or is or was servingpatrequest of such corporation as a director, effiemployee or agent of another corporation or
enterprise. The indemnity may include expensedudicg attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and an®paid in settlement actually and reasonably
incurred by such person in connection with sucfoacsuit or proceeding, provided such officeredior, employee or agent acted in good faith and in
a manner he reasonably believed to be in, or novsgd to, the company’s best interest and, foriodhproceedings, had no reasonable cause to
believe that his conduct was unlawful. A Delawawgporation may indemnify any officer or directoran action by or in the right of the corporation
under the same conditions, except that no indecatifin is permitted without judicial approval ifetlfficer or director is adjudged to be liablehe t
corporation. Where an officer or director is suefglson the merits or otherwise in the defensengfaction referred to above, the corporation must
indemnify him against the expenses that such afficalirector actually and reasonably incurred.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpamgtrovides for indemnification of the officers adidectors to the full extent permitted by
applicable law.

Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

The following summarizes all sales of unregistesedurities by us and Puma within the past threesyea

On September 15, 2010, in connection with Pumasriporation, Puma issued an aggregate of 4,00&08@s of its common stock to Alan H.
Auerbach, our President and Chief Executive offitmraggregate consideration of $400.

On October 4, 2011, Puma issued 14,666,733 sh&isscommon stock and anti-dilutive warrants toi@vestors, each of whom is a selling
stockholder in the offering to which the prospedhet forms a part of this registration statemeldtes, in a private placement for aggregate
consideration of approximately $55 million. Pumscalssued an anti-dilutive warrant to its foungeconnection with such private placement. For a
description of the warrants, please see “DescrptioCapital Stock—Warrants.”
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On October 4, 2011, in connection with our acquisibf Puma, we issued 18,666,733 shares of ounummstock to Puma’s stockholders and
assumed Puma’s outstanding warrants in exchangdl fof the outstanding shares of Puma’s commocksto

On October 6, 2011, we issued 40,000 shares af@uamon stock to Mr. Auerbach upon his conversioarofinsecured convertible promissory
note issued to him in connection with his advarfc®1®0,000 to Puma prior to the Merger.

On November 18, 2011, we issued 1,333,267 sharesrafommon stock to 139 investors, each of whoedslling stockholder in the offering
to which the prospectus that forms a part of tegistration statement relates, in a private placerioe aggregate consideration of approximately $5
million.

The sales of the securities identified above weaidarpursuant to privately negotiated transactibasdid not involve a public offering of
securities and, accordingly, were exempt from gggstration requirements of the Securities Act pand to Section 4(2) thereof and the rules
promulgated thereunder. Each of the above-refeteimuestors represented to us or Puma, as appicabtonnection with their investment that they
were “accredited investors” (as defined by Rule 66der the Securities Act) and were acquiring tiees for investment and not for distribution, that
they could bear the risks of the investment anddcbald the securities for an indefinite periodiofe. The investors received written disclosures th
the securities had not been registered under tberfies Act and that any resale must be made puatdo a registration or an available exemptiom
such registration. The sales of the foregoing seéeswere made without any form of general sddigitn or advertising and all of the foregoing
securities are deemed restricted securities fqpquas of the Securities Act.

Item 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Exhibits.
Exhibit Incorporation by Reference
No. Description Form Exhibit Filing Date
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September®9,,by and among Innovative Acquisitions Corp., 8-K 2.1 10/4/2011

IAC Merger Corporation, a Delaware corporation arblly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Puma Biotechnology, Inc., a Delaware corpora

3.1  Certificate of Merger relating to the merger of IAM&rger Corporation with and into Puma 8-K 3.1 10/11/201:
Biotechnology, Inc., filed with the Secretary o&f&t of the State of Delaware on October 4, 2

3.2  Certificate of Ownership and Merger relating to therger of Puma Biotechnology, Inc. with and i 8-K 3.2 10/11/201:
Innovative Acquisitions Corp., filed with the Setengy of State of the State of Delaware on October 4
2011

3.3 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatéaijled with the Secretary of State of the Stdte o DEF 14C Appendix | 10/24/201:
Delaware on November 14, 20

3.4 Bylaws of Puma Biotechnology, In 1C-SB 3.2 9/14/2007

4.1+ Form of Common Stock Certifica

4.2 Form of Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common SibBkima Biotechnology, Inc., dated October 4, 8-K 4.1 10/11/201:
2011, issued to investors in private placen

4.3  Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock of Riatachnology, Inc., dated October 4, 2011, ist  8-K 4.2 10/11/201:

to Alan H. Auerbacl
5.1 + Opinion of Latham & Watkins LLI
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10.1 * License Agreement, dated August 18, 2011, by ahddsn the Company, as successor to Puma 8-K/A 10.1 12/16/201.
Biotechnology, Inc., and Pfizer In

10.2 Redemption Agreement, dated October 4, 2011, byaamzhg Innovative Acquisitions Corp., Robert 8-K 10.z 10/11/201
Johnson, Faraaz Siddiqi and Kapil Mur

10.3 Indemnity Agreement, dated as of September 29, 204 4nd among Innovative Acquisitions Corp., 8-K  10.1 10/4/2011
Puma Biotechnology, Inc., Robert Johnson, Faraddi§iand Kapil Munja

10.4 Puma Biotechnology, Inc. 2011 Incentive Award Pssumed in the Merg 8K 10.4 10/11/201:

10.5 Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 4128¢ and among Puma, the persons listed on 8-K/A  10.E 12/16/201.
Exhibit A attached thereto and the Comp:

10.6 Amendment No. 1 to Registration Rights Agreen 8K  10.z 11/23/201:

10.7 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated October 4, 2¢1and among Puma, the investors listed on 8-K/A 10.6¢ 12/16/201.
Schedule | attached thereto and the Comj

10.8 Letter Agreement, dated October 21, 2011, betweerCompany and Richard Philli 8K 10.1 10/27/201.

10.9 Letter Agreement, dated October 21, 2011, betweeiCompany and Charles Ey 8K  10.z 10/27/201.

10.10 Form of Subscription Agreeme 8K 10.1 11/23/201:

10.11 Office Lease by and between Puma Biotechnology,dnd CA-10880 Wilshire Limited Partnership, 8-K 10.1 12/13/201
executed on December 7, 2C

10.12 Employment Agreement, dated January 19, 2012, tybatween Puma Biotechnology, Inc. and Alan H. 8-K  10.1  1/24/2012
Auerbach

16.1 ++ Letter from MaloneBailey, LLP, as to the changeéntifying accountant, dated as of December 1, :

23.1+ Consent of PKF Certified Public Accounta

23.2 + Consent of Latham & Watkins LLP (included in ExHibil)

24.1++ Powers of Attorney (included on signature pe

101.INS++ XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH+- XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

101.CAL++ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr
101.DEF++4+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh
101.LAB++ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum
101.PRE+41 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

+ Filed herewitr

++  Filed previously

* Portions of this exhibit (indicated by asterisks)ve been omitted pursuant to a request for cenfidl treatment pursuant to Rule 22lbmnder th
Securities Exchange Act of 19:

**  |n accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation Stfie XBRL-related information in Exhibit 101 sha# eemed to be “furnished” and not “filed”
and shall not be deemed part of this RegistratiateSient or the prospectus contained he
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Item 17. Undertakings

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

(1) To file, during any period in which offers ales are being made, a post-effective amendmehistoegistration statement:

@
(ii)

(iii)

To include any prospectus required by section {BJaf the Securities Act of 193

To reflect in the prospectus any facts or evernissray after the effective date of the registratsdatement (or the most recent |-
effective amendment thereof) which, individuallyioithe aggregate, represent a fundamental chantpe iinformation set forth in
the registration statement. Notwithstanding thedoing, any increase or decrease in volume of gexsuoffered (if the total dollar
value of securities offered would not exceed thiaictv was registered) and any deviation from the dovaigh end of the estimated
maximum offering range may be reflected in the fafrprospectus filed with the Commission pursuarRtile 424(b) (§ 230.424
(b) of this chapter) if, in the aggregate, the demin volume and price represent no more than @@#ge in the maximum
aggregate offering price set forth in *Calculation of Registration F” table in the effective registration statement;

To include any material information with resgt to the plan of distribution not previously dised in the registration statement or
any material change to such information in thestgiion statemen

(2) That, for the purpose of determining any ligpilinder the Securities Act of 1933, each suchi-péfective amendment shall be deemed to be
a new registration statement relating to the séearoffered therein, and the offering of such siéies at that time shall be deemed to be theahiton:
fide offering thereof.

(3) To remove from registration by means of a mifetive amendment any of the securities beingsteged which remain unsold at the
termination of the offering.

(4) That, for the purpose of determining liabildf/the registrant under the Securities Act of 188any purchaser in the initial distribution of the

securities:

The undersigned registrant undertakes that inraguyi offering of securities of the undersigned segnt pursuant to this registrati

statement, regardless of the underwriting methed s sell the securities to the purchaser, istrurities are offered or sold to such
purchaser by means of any of the following commaindns, the undersigned registrant will be a sétiehe purchaser and will be
considered to offer or sell such securities to quaithaser:

0]

(it)
(iii)
(iv)

Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of timelersigned registrant relating to the offeringuieed to be filed pursuant to
Rule 424 (8 230.424 of this chapte

Any free writing prospectus relating to thefexing prepared by or on behalf of the undersigreggistrant or used or referred to by
the undersigned registrai

The portion of any other free writing prosjes relating to the offering containing materidbimation about the undersigned
registrant or its securities provided by or on liebfthe undersigned registrant; a

Any other communication that is an offer in theeoiiig made by the undersigned registrant to thetaser

-4



Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesoA&B33, the registrant has duly caused this Redish Statement to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, ircttyeof Los Angeles, state of California, on Febrgud, 2012.

PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.

By: /s/ Alan H. Auerbach
Alan H. Auerbact
President and Chief Executive Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesoA&B33, this Registration Statement has been diggehe following persons in the capacities
and as of the dates indicated.

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE

/s/ Alan H. Auerbach Chairman of the Board of Directors, President ahtefCExecutive February 1, 2012
Alan H. Auerbact Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

/sl Charles R. Eyler Senior Vice President, Finance and Administratiod @reasurer  February 1, 2012
Charles R. Eyle (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

* Director February 1, 2012

Thomas R. Malle

*By: /s/ Alan H. Auerbach
Alan H. Auerbac
Attorne-in-Fact




Table of Contents

Exhibit
No.

2.1

3.1

3.2

3.3

34
4.1+
4.2

4.3

5.1+
10.1*

10.2

10.3

10.4
10.5

10.6
10.7

10.8
10.9

EXHIBIT INDEX
Description Incorporation by Reference
Form Exhibit Filing Date
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September®4,,by and among Innovative Acquisitions Cc 8-K 2.1 10/4/2011
IAC Merger Corporation, a Delaware corporation amblly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Puma Biotechnology, Inc., a Delaware corpora
Certificate of Merger relating to the merger of IAM&rger Corporation with and into Puma 8-K 3.1 10/11/2011
Biotechnology, Inc., filed with the Secretary o&f of the State of Delaware on October 4, z
Certificate of Ownership and Merger relating to therger of Puma Biotechnology, Inc. with and i 8-K 3.2 10/11/2011
Innovative Acquisitions Corp., filed with the Setangy of State of the State of Delaware on October 4
2011
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatsfiled with the Secretary of State of the Stdte o DEF 14C Appendix | 10/24/2011
Delaware on November 14, 20
Bylaws of Puma Biotechnology, In 1C-SB 3.2 9/14/2007
Form of Common Stock Certifica
Form of Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common StbBkima Biotechnology, Inc., dated October 4, 8-K 4.1 10/11/2011
2011, issued to investors in private placen
Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock of Rigiechnology, Inc., dated October 4, 2011, 8-K 4.2 10/11/2011
issued to Alan H. Auerbac
Opinion of Latham & Watkins LLI
License Agreement, dated August 18, 2011, by ahddsn the Company, as successor to P 8-K/A 10.1 12/16/2011
Biotechnology, Inc., and Pfizer In
Redemption Agreement, dated October 4, 2011, byaamahg Innovative Acquisitions Corp., Robert 8-K 10.2 10/11/2011
Johnson, Faraaz Siddigi and Kapil Mur
Indemnity Agreement, dated as of September 29, 204 4nd among Innovative Acquisitions Corp., 8-K 10.1 10/4/2011
Puma Biotechnology, Inc., Robert Johnson, Faraddi@iand Kapil Munja
Puma Biotechnology, Inc. 2011 Incentive Award PeEssumed in the Merg 8-K 104 10/11/2011
Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 4128¢ and among Puma, the persons listed on 8-K/A 10.5 12/16/2011
Exhibit A attached thereto and the Comp:
Amendment No. 1 to Registration Rights Agreen 8-K
Securities Purchase Agreement, dated October 4, 2y1land among Puma, the investors listed on 8-K/A 10.6 12/16/2011
Schedule | attached thereto and the Comj
Letter Agreement, dated October 21, 2011, betweeiCompany and Richard Philli 8-K 10.1 10/27/2011
Letter Agreement, dated October 21, 2011, betweeiCompany and Charles Ey 8-K 10.2 10/27/2011
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10.10
10.11

10.12

16.1++
23.1+
23.2+
24.1++
101.INS++
101.SCH++
101.CAL++
101.DEF++
101.LAB++
101.PRE++

Form of Subscription Agreeme 8-K 10.1 11/23/201:

Office Lease by and between Puma Biotechnology,dnd C/-10880 Wilshire Limited Partnershi 8-K 10.1 12/13/201:
executed on December 7, 2C

Employment Agreement, dated January 19, 2012, bybatween Puma Biotechnology, Inc. and Alan H. 8-K 10.1  1/24/2012
Auerbach

Letter from MaloneBailey, LLP, as to the changeéntifying accountant, dated as of December 1, :
Consent of PKF Certified Public Accounta

Consent of Latham & Watkins LLP (included in Exhibil)

Powers of Attorney (included on signature pe

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

+ Filed herewitr

++  Filed previously

* Portions of this exhibit (indicated by asterisks)ve been omitted pursuant to a request for cenfidl treatment pursuant to Rule 22lbmnder th
Securities Exchange Act of 19¢

** |n accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation Stiie¢ XBRL-related information in Exhibit 101 sha# beemed to be “furnished” and not “filed”
and shall not be deemed part of this RegistratiateSient or the prospectus contained he
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Exhibit 4.1

SEE RESTRICTIVE LEGENDS ON REVERSE SIDE HEREOQF

PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC *XXXXXXXX* Shares
A Delaware Corporation Common Stock

THIS CERTIFIES THAT XXX XXXXXXXXXXXXY is the record holder afmxxﬁmmm
fully paid and non-assessable shares of COMMON STOCK, par value $0.0001. per share, of PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY,
INC. (the “Corporation™), transferable only on the share register of the Cnrpmmn by the I-u;-lder :n persun ‘or by such holder's
duly authorized attorney, upon surrender of this Certificate pmpr.rly enﬂnrsed o ﬁ‘szlglmd

This Certificate and the shares represented: hu‘eby shall be h:ld w-'illhjﬁ:l o all ‘of the provmuns of the Certificate of
Incorporation and the Bylaws of said Corporation and any amsndmsmﬁerﬂo a copy- -of each of which is on file at the office of
the Corporation and made a part hereof as fully w‘thaugh the pr@nmm of said Centificate of Incorporation and Bylaws were
imprinted in full on this Lartlﬁx:-atﬂ 1o all.of whmh ﬂu: holder ‘of this Certificate, by acceptance hereof, assents and agrees to be
bﬂl.ll'ld =

IN WITNESS' WH.‘EREGF the Corporatmn has caused this Certificate to be signed by its duly authorized officers this
_ dayof 21}

%@M (o

President and Chief Executive Officer

5 00E3 T UTHE, N UEA



FOR VALUE RECEIVED, HEREBY SELLS, ASSIGNS AND TRANSFERS UNTO

, SHARES REPRESENTED THE WITHIN CERTIFICATE, AND DOES HEREBY IRREVOGBLY CONSTITUTE AND
APPOINT ADRNEY TO TRANSFER THE SAID SHARES ON THE BOOKS OHE WITHIN-NAMED
CORPORATION WITH FULL POWER OF SUBSTITUTION IN THEREMISES.

DATED ,

IN PRESENCE Of IN PRESENCE Of

(Witness) (Witness)

(Shareholder (Shareholder

NO TRANSFER, SALE, ASSIGNMENT, PLEDGE, HYPOTHECATNDOR OTHER DISPOSITION OF THE SECURITIES REPRESENTEY
THIS CERTIFICATE MAY BE MADE EXCEPT (A) PURSUANT TN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, AND THE RULES\W®W REGULATIONS IN EFFECT THEREUNDER AND ALL APPLICBLE
STATE SECURITIES OR “BLUE SKY” LAWS (SUCH FEDERAL KD STATE LAWS, THE “ SECURITIES LAWS) OR (B) IF THE
CORPORATION HAS BEEN FURNISHED WITH AN OPINION OF@UNSEL FOR THE HOLDER, WHICH OPINION AND COUNSEL ML
BE REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE CORPORATION, TOHE EFFECT THAT SUCH TRANSFER, SALE, ASSIGNMENT, PDGE,
HYPOTHECATION OR OTHER DISPOSITION IS EXEMPT FROMHE PROVISIONS OF THE SECURITIES LAWS.




Exhibit 5.1

650 Town Center Drive, 20th Flo
Costa Mesa, California 92626-1925
Tel: +1.714.540.1235 Fax: +1.714.755.8290

www.lw.com
FIRM / AFFILIATE OFFICES
LATHAM&WATKINSue AN Moscow
Barcelone Munich
Beijing New Jerse!
Boston New York
Brussels Orange Count
Chicago Paris
Doha Riyadh
Dubai Rome
Frankfurt San Diegc
Hamburg San Francisc
Hong Kong Shangha
Houston Silicon Valley
London Singapore
February 1, 201 Los Angeles Tokyo
Madrid Washington, D.C
Puma Biotechnology, Inc. Milan
10880 Wilshire Blvd, Suite 2150
Los Angeles, CA 9002 File No. 04862-0001

Re: Puma Biotechnology, Inc. Registration Statement383-178308; 16,000,000 Shares of Common Stock, PareV&M0001 Pe
Share

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as special counsel to Puma Biotemimalinc., a Delaware corporation (the “ Comp&nyn connection with the proposed sal
up to 16,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.000¢ghae per share (the “ Shar@sby certain selling stockholders named in thelfiag
Stockholders” table included in the Registratioat&mnent (as defined below). The Shares are issukdwtstanding as of the date hereof. The Shares
are included in a registration statement on Forth Bider the Securities Act of 1933, as amended'(#ta "), filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “ Commissidi on December 2, 2011 (Registration No. 333-178388 amended, the “ Registration Statenfienthis opinion is
being furnished in connection with the requiremeritéem 601(b)(5) of Regulation S-K under the Aatd no opinion is expressed herein as to any
matter pertaining to the contents of the Regigima8tatement or related Prospectus, other tharpaiessly stated herein with respect to the issubeof
Shares.

As such counsel, we have examined such matteexcbfhd questions of law as we have consideredppate for purposes of this letter. With
your consent, we have relied upon certificates@hdr assurances of officers of the Company anerstas to factual matters without having
independently verified such factual matters. Weagniaing herein as to the General Corporation Lathe State of Delaware, and we express no
opinion with respect to any other laws.

Subject to the foregoing and the other matteréostt herein, it is our opinion that, as of thealhereof, the Shares have been duly authorized by
all necessary corporate action of the Company, baea validly issued and are fully paid and noressge



February 1, 2012
Page 2

LATHAMsWATKINSus

This opinion is for your benefit in connection withe Registration Statement and may be relied ilagyoyou and by persons entitled to rely upon
it pursuant to the applicable provisions of the.Alde consent to your filing this opinion as an éxhio the Registration Statement and to the refeze
to our firm in the Prospectus under the headingdithtst of Common Stock.” In giving such consent, de not thereby admit that we are in the
category of persons whose consent is required udeletion 7 of the Act or the rules and regulatiohthe Commission thereunder.

Very truly yours,
/s/ Latham & Watkins LLP



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Puma Biotechnology, Inc.
Los Angeles, California

We consent to the use in this Amendment No. 1édRegistration Statement on Form S-1 of our regiated September 6, 2011 relating to the
financial statements of Puma Biotechnology, Incfa3ecember 31, 2010 and for the period from Septr 15, 2010 (date of inception) through
December 31, 2010. We further consent to the reéeréo our firm in the section on Experts.

San Diego, California s/ PKF

February 1, 201 PKF
Certified Public Accountants
A Professional Corporatic




